
8850 SW State Hwy 3, Bremerton, WA 98312 | 360.674.2381 | www.portofbremerton.org 
 
 

 
BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

REGULAR BUSINESS MEETING 
 

R E V I S E D  A G E N D A 
July 11, 2023  Bill Mahan Conference Room 
10:00 AM Port Administration Offices 
 Bremerton Nat’l Airport Terminal Bldg 
 8850 SW State Hwy 3, Bremerton 
 
The Port of Bremerton Board of Commissioners have resumed in-person meetings but are 
maintaining the option for the public to participate remotely as well. The public is invited to view 
and/or participate in the hybrid meeting by attending in person or through one of the following 
options: 

• To stream online only (via BKAT feed, with no interaction possible): 
https://bremerton.vod.castus.tv/vod/?nav=live%2Fch2 

• To join the online Zoom meeting: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/3359030010  
• For audio only; dial 1.253.215.8782; Meeting ID: 335 903 0010  

 

Call to Order  

Pledge of Allegiance 

Approval of Agenda 

Consent Items 

All matters listed under Consent Items have been distributed to each member of the 
Commission for reading and study, are considered to be routine, and will be enacted by one 
motion of the Commission with no separate discussion.  If separate discussion is desired, that 
item may be removed from the Consent Items and placed under Action Items by request. 
 

A. Minutes of the regular business meeting of June 27, 2023. 

B. Payment of checks #901862 and #901863 through #901866 and #901867 through 
#901869 and #85020 through #85032 and #E01548 through #E01553 from the General 
Fund for $143,142.59. 

Payment of checks #901870 and #901871 through #901872 and #901873 through 
#901876 and #901877 and #85033 through #85044 and #E01554 through #E01565 and 
#901878 through #901880 from the General Fund for $93,747.62. 

Citizen Comments: Open to the public for comment. Speakers are asked to keep their comments to less 
than 3 minutes. Please feel free to submit further comments in writing to the Clerk of 
the Board (gingerw@portofbremerton.org). 

https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fbremerton.vod.castus.tv%2fvod%2f%3fnav%3dlive%252Fch2&c=E,1,-N0oxq31PVHd1dqgQXW8wUsA4sB484Je6hKd_GSrO-OHUpOrUPW4OYr03UlzLp-ZOXaUaU-AoC2sk2HQKRyZh7wNPRF0TUkT1alVo8KVWHtYtF6hIc2ys7kbhAQ,&typo=1
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/3359030010


Agenda for July 11, 2023 
Page 2 

** The Commission may add and take action on other items not listed on the Agenda ** 

Action Items 

1. Department of Natural Resources (DNR) Sub-Lease Agreement with the City of Port 
Orchard 

2. Memorandum of Agreement with City of Port Orchard for Marina Waterfront Parking 

3. Final Acceptance of Hangar 7 Stormwater Repair Project with Henderson Partners, LLC 

4. Final Acceptance of Multi-Purpose Facility Project with Henderson Partners, LLC 

5. Seabeck Community Center 

Staff Reports 

Commission Reports / New Business 

Executive Session (if necessary) 

Adjournment 
 
 

Regular business and other meetings that may be attended by members of the Board 
Date Time Meeting 
07/11 10:00 am *Commission Regular Business Meeting 
07/20 10:00 am Kitsap Regional Coordinating Council Executive Committee 
07/24-26  Washington Public Ports Association Commissioner Seminar 

 
Meetings are subject to change or cancellation 

*Denotes events in which two (2) or more Commissioners may attend 



8850 SW State Hwy 3, Bremerton, WA 98312 | 360.674.2381 | www.portofbremerton.org 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
REGULAR BUSINESS MEETING 

M I N U T E S 
June 27, 2023 Bill Mahan Conference Room 
6:00 PM Port Administration Offices 

Bremerton Nat’l Airport Terminal Bldg 
8850 SW State Hwy 3, Bremerton 

Remote Option via Zoom 

Commissioners and Staff Present 

Commissioners 
Axel Strakeljahn 
Gary Anderson 
Cary Bozeman 

Staff Members 
Jim Rothlin 
Arne Bakker 
Jeremiah Wiley 
James Weaver 
James Goodman 

Monroe Whitman IV 
Ginger Waye 
Stephanie Frame 
Anne Montgomery, Atty 

Call to Order  

President Strakeljahn called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. and led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

Approval of Agenda 

It was moved by BOZEMAN, seconded by ANDERSON to: 

Approve the Agenda as presented. 

MOTION CARRIES, 3-0 

Consent Items 

A. Minutes of the regular business meeting of June 13, 2023.

B. Payment of checks #901840 through #901843 and #901844 through #901845 and
#901846 through #901851 and #901852 and #84972 through #84994 and #E01519
through #E01532 and #901853 and #E01533 and #E01534 through #E01535 and
#84995 through #85019 and #E01536 through #E01547 and #901854 through #901856
and #901858 through #901861 from the General Fund for $350,216.18. Void Ck #83124.



Regular Business Meeting Minutes 
June 27, 2023 

Page 2 of 4 

It was moved by STRAKELJAHN, seconded by BOZEMAN to: 

Approve the Consent Items as presented. 

MOTION CARRIES, 3-0 

Information Items 

1. Seabeck Community Update – Paul Reimer, Seabeck Community Center

Dr. Reimer thanked the Port for its previous funding support of the state-of-the-art 

pickleball facility (Phase I) and expressed hope that the Port will remain in support.

He provided a PowerPoint presentation detailing the following:

• Recap of Phase I and the results
• Phase II plan
• Long-term vision of the Center and how Phase II fits in
• Phase II budget and funding plan

o $100,000 shelter and seating
o $40,000 for natural playground
o $10,000 for landscaping, donor signage, and education signage

• Request for funding support

The Board requested a formal proposal be provided to CEO Rothlin so it can be presented 
at a future meeting. 

2. Quarterly Financial Review – Jeremiah Wiley, Chief Financial Officer

CFO Wiley provided detail on the following:

• 2023 theme of maintaining world class facilities

• Budget-to-Actual for the three months ending March 31, 2023

• Reserves / Rainy Day Fund

• 2023 Capital Projects

Questions and comments from the Board were addressed and CEO Jim Rothlin provided 
closing comments. 

Citizen Comments - None 



Regular Business Meeting Minutes 
June 27, 2023 

Page 3 of 4 

 
Action Items 
 

1. Hangar 7 Stormwater Repair Project Change Order 5 
Presented by Arne Bakker, Chief Operations Officer  

Following presentation and after questions were addressed; 

It was moved by BOZEMAN, seconded by ANDERSON to: 

Approve Change Order 5 for the Hangar 7 Stormwater Repair Project in the amount of 
$48,832.53 with Henderson Partners LLC and authorize the CEO to execute the change 
order. 

MOTION CARRIES, 3-0 
 

Staff Reports 
 
Jim Rothlin, Chief Executive Officer 

• Employee milestones reached in June: 
o Chris Johnson, Port Maintenance II, celebrated 34 years with the Port 
o Ian Stensrud, Port Attendant, 2-year anniversary 
o Mick Shultz, Port Attendant, 1-year anniversary 
o Erica Filler, Marketing & Communications Coordinator, 1-year anniversary 

• Northwest Formation Flying Clinic was held at Bremerton National Airport over the past 
weekend. 

• Port received $9.4 million from US Department of Transportation for the Port Orchard 
Marina breakwater replacement project. Senator Patty Murray and Congressman Derek 
Kilmer personally delivered the extraordinary news noting the Port would not have 
received those funds without their support. 

• Received $800,000 from Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) for cleanup of the Bay 
Street properties. Met with Congressman Kilmer and EPA Regional Director Casey 
Sixkiller at those properties yesterday. 

• Developers of the Marina Square project are honoring Commissioner Cary Bozeman and 
dedicating the Marina Square Plaza area to him. It is being named Cary Bozeman Place.  

 
Commission Reports / New Business 
 
Commissioner Anderson 

• Attended a Washington Autonomous Vehicle Cluster (WAV-C) meeting and reported that 
the Port would probably not use it by itself but maybe in combination with other area 
Ports. 

• Reported on recent Peninsula Regional Transportation Planning Organization (PRTPO) 
board meeting. 



Regular Business Meeting Minutes 
June 27, 2023 

Page 4 of 4 

Commissioner Bozeman 
• In response to Commissioner Bozeman’s query about the condition of the Lone Sailor 

statue on the Bremerton breakwater, Marina Operations Manager, Kathy Garcia, 
explained the tiles around the statue are beginning to fall away but it is on the maintenance 
schedule to repair as soon as possible. 

• At Commissioner Bozeman’s request, Ms. Garcia reported on the American Cruise Line 
visits to Bremerton Marina and outlined their shore excursions. 

• Remarked that the funding received for the breakwater and the Bay Street properties is 
really a big deal as it is a very competitive process. He thanked staff and lobbyist for doing 
an exceptional job. 

Commissioner Strakeljahn 
• Reported on the following meetings: 

o Puget Sound Regional Council (PSRC) General Assembly which was in person for 
the first time since the pandemic. 

o PSRC Executive Board 

Executive Session - None 
 
Adjournment 
 

There being no further business before the Board, the meeting was adjourned at 7:20 p.m. 
 

Submitted,      Approved, 
 
 
 
Jim Rothlin      Cary Bozeman 
Chief Executive Officer    Commission Secretary 
July 6, 2023      July 11, 2023 
 



 
AGENDA SUMMARY 

 

Agenda Item No: Action Item #1  

Subject: Dept of Natural Resources (DNR) Sublease with City of Port Orchard 

Exhibits: City of Port Orchard Pump Station DNR Sublease  

Prepared By: James Weaver, Director of Marine Facilities 

Meeting Date: July 11, 2023 

 
Summary: 
This Sublease before the Commission is with the City of Port Orchard to provide a Sublease 
agreement for Department of Natural Resources land that would be needed for the 
construction of the new City Wastewater Pump Station project. 

The City’s owns and operates an existing sewerage pump station located within the Port 
Orchard Harbor Area in Sinclair Inlet, subject to an Aquatics Land Lease from the 
Department of Natural Resources (DNR) (Lease No. 22-A02582). The Port of Bremerton 
owns and operates the Port Orchard Marina adjacent to the City’s sewerage pump station, 
subject to both a Port Management Agreement and an Aquatics Land Lease both with DNR 
(PMA No. 22-080016 and Lease No. 22-B02235).  

The City has designed the Marina Pump Station project to replace the existing sewerage pump 
station (the “Project”), and the Project will necessitate the use of the Port’s property for 
construction and associated staging, and the construction will result in an encroachment into 
the Port of Bremerton’s leased area, which triggers a required modification to the DNR-issued 
Aquatics Land Lease for both the City and the Port.  

In December 2022, the City and Port executed a Memorandum of Understanding to govern 
the relationship between the two agencies during the pendency of the Project’s construction 
as well as communications/submissions to DNR for the parties’ lease agreements. The City 
and the Port have worked with DNR to prepare a sublease agreement to govern the City’s 
construction work and encroachment, consistent with the terms of the MOU. This Sublease 
will be replaced in 2024 when the parties execute lease amendments to reflect the long-term 
encroachment, consistent with the MOU.  

Fiscal Impact: 

The sub-lease agreement includes a provision for the City of Port Orchard to reimburse the 
Port of Bremerton for the proportional share of DNR lease payments each year. 



Strategic Purpose: 

This action conforms with the Port’s strategic plan in Goal 6. Develop and fund a 20-year 
asset replacement/major maintenance schedule. 

Recommendation: 
Recommendation is to approve the Sublease Agreement with the City of Port Orchard 

Motion for Consideration: 
Approve the Department of Natural Resources Sublease Agreement with the 
City of Port Orchard and authorize the CEO to execute the agreement.   



10684970.1 - 366922 - 0001 

When recorded, return to: 
City of Port Orchard 
216 Prospect Street 
Port Orchard, WA 98366 
Attn: Brandy Wallace, City Clerk/Assistant to the Mayor 
bwallace@portorchardwa.gov  
 
 
 

SUBLEASE FOR AQUATIC LANDS 
 
DNR Lease No.:   22-B02235     Region: South Puget Sound 
Sublessor:    Port of Bremerton 
Sublessee:   City of Port Orchard 
Assessor’s Tax Parcel for Upland parcel used in conjunction with this Sublease:   
    262401-1-007-2008 
Legal Description of Subleased Area: See Exhibit A 
 
City of Port Orchard  
Contract No.:   050-23 
Date Filed:   ______________ 
 

Description of Sublease: To address a City-owned public structure that currently 
encroaches on the area leased by the Port of Bremerton from the State of Washington, Department 
of Natural Resources (DNR) pursuant to DNR Aquatic Lands Lease No. 22-B02235, located in 
the filled Sidney Harbor Area (now Port Orchard), as well as to address associated construction to 
improve and expand encroaching public structure.  Consistent with the terms of that Lease, this 
Sublease is subject to review and approval by DNR.  
 

*** 
 

THIS SUBLEASE is between the PORT OF BREMERTON, a government entity (“Port”) 
and the CITY OF PORT ORCHARD, a Washington municipal corporation (“City”), with the 
approval of the STATE OF WASHINGTON, acting through the Department of Natural Resources 
(“State”).  

 
BACKGROUND 

 
 The Port leases the aquatic lands commonly known as the west end of the Port Orchard 
waterfront, which are tidelands and a harbor area located in Kitsap County, Washington, from the 
State pursuant to DNR Aquatic Lands Lease No. 22-B02235 (“Port’s DNR Lease”). The Port 
utilizes the area covered by the Port’s DNR Lease for equipment and water dependent uses 
associated with the Port’s ownership and operation of the Port Orchard Marina subject to DNR 
Port Management Agreement (PMA) No. 22-080016.  

The City leases adjacent aquatic lands for a parking lot, public access, and a City-owned 
and operated public sewage pump station, pursuant to DNR Aquatic Lands Lease no. 22-A02582 



10684970.1 - 366922 - 0001 

(“City’s DNR Lease”). As constructed, the City’s sewage pump station impacts and encroaches 
into the Port’s DNR Lease area. The City’s project includes construction staging, construction, and 
operation/use for the following:  

 
Demolition and replacement of an existing above-grade bathroom and entrance to a below-

grade pump station with a new above-grade multi-use facility housing odor control, electrical 
equipment, a bathroom, and a diesel-engine driven emergency pump that would prevent sewer 
overflows into Puget Sound; and 

 
Replacement of existing pumps and piping in the below-grade pump station and the 

addition of larger access hatches for wet well and dry well access; and 
 
Improvements would include the excavation of 30-foot by 60-foot by 40-foot space to 

house a below-grade emergency storage structure that would be used to capture wastewater 
overflows in the event of an equipment failure; installation of a diesel-engine generator set to 
power the pump station and a second force main connection and valve vault; upsizing the diameter 
of approximately 340 linear feet of water main from six inches to eight inches; and 

 
Removal of the top portion of an existing control building to bring it down to grade for use 

as a viewing or picnic area; and converting approximately 0.11 acres of existing impervious 
parking lot to lawn and driveway. (the “Work”). The time-sensitive Work will expand the City’s 
encroachment on the Port’s DNR Lease area.  

 
This Sublease authorizes the encroachment and is subject to a future amendment to the 

Port’s DNR Lease and the City’s DNR Lease as set forth herein.  
 
Both parties to this Sublease agree that the intent is for the City to work in good faith with 

DNR to assume that portion of the Port’s DNR lease which is the subject of this Sublease as set 
forth in Exhibit B.  

 
THEREFORE, the Parties agree as follows:  

 

SECTION 1 – SUBLEASE AREA 

1. The City subleases from the Port, with the approval of DNR, the real property described in 
Exhibit A and depicted on Exhibit B (“Sublease Area”).  

2. The City prepared Exhibits A and B and warrant that these Exhibits are true and accurate 
descriptions of the Sublease Area, including its boundaries and improvements to be 
constructed or already existing in the Sublease Area. The City’s obligation to provide a true 
and accurate description of the Sublease Area is a material term of this Sublease.  

3. This Sublease shall be subject to all terms and conditions of the Lease. The City has 
received a copy of the Lease and acknowledges receipt of same by executing this Sublease.   

4. In the event any terms of this Sublease conflict with the terms of the Lease, the terms of 
the Lease shall control.  

SECTION 2 – PERMITTED USES 



10684970.1 - 366922 - 0001 

1. The City shall use the Sublease Area for uses that are authorized by DNR, including a 
parking lot, public use and access, and public sewage pump station, including a multi-use 
facility housing odor control, electrical equipment, a public bathroom, and a diesel-engine 
driven emergency pump (the “Permitted Use”), and for no other purpose.  

2. This Sublease shall permit construction, alteration and addition to existing improvements 
within the Sublease Area as an authorized “Permitted Use”, subject to the terms of the 
Memorandum of Understanding between the Port and Bremerton, Contract No. 133-22, a 
copy of which is attached to this Sublease as Exhibit C and incorporated herein by this 
reference, provided all construction, alteration and addition(s) shall be authorized by DNR 
pursuant to the terms of the Lease. In addition to fixed encroachments depicted on Exhibits 
A and B, the Parties have negotiated the terms of Temporary Construction Easements for 
the purpose of construction and associated staging, which shall be temporary 
encroachments into the Port’s DNR Lease Area as depicted on Exhibit B hereto and further 
described in Exhibit C.   

SECTION 3 – TERM 

1. The term of this Sublease shall be for eighteen years, beginning on mutual execution (the 
“Commencement Date”), and ending on the thirty-first day of March 2041 (the 
“Termination Date”), unless terminated sooner under the terms of this Lease.  

2. The parties acknowledge that the MOA attached here as Exhibit C and incorporated by 
reference, indicates a much shorter term.  The parties intend to be bound by the term as set 
forth in this paragraph as to the obligations and entitlements set forth in this Sublease. 

3. There shall be no option to renew this Sublease.  
4. This Sublease shall automatically terminate if the City, Port, and DNR execute 

amendments to the City’s DNR Lease and Port’s DNR Lease that: (1) expands the City’s 
DNR Lease area to encompass the Sublease Area; and (2) reduces the Port’s DNR Lease 
area to remove the Sublease Area.  

5. This Sublease shall automatically terminate if the Lease terminates for any reason.  
6. Upon termination of the Sublease, the City shall remove all improvements and personal 

property within the Sublease Area at the City’s sole expense, unless otherwise approved in 
writing by the DNR.  

SECTION 4 – RENT 

1. The City shall provide the Port of Bremerton annual financial compensation for the 
proportion share of the annual DNR lease rate for the Port’s DNR Lease based upon square 
footage of 1,524.25 square feet, as identified on Exhibits A and B to this Sublease. For the 
duration of this Agreement, the City shall financially compensate the Port each year for the 
proportional share of the DNR annual lease rate in the proportional amount of 5.85% of 
the total amount. 

2. The City shall provide compensation and payment to the Port each year for the proportional 
share to be provided on or before December 31 of each year, with the initial annual, 
proportional sub-lease payment due to the Port by December 31, 2023. 



10684970.1 - 366922 - 0001 

3. The terms of the Memorandum of Understanding, Exhibit C hereto, at Section 7, shall 
apply to the terms of this Sublease.  

4. This Sublease prohibits the prepayment to the Port by the City of more than the annual 
rent.  

SECTION 5 – GENERAL TERMS 

1. By this Sublease the parties confirm there is no privity of contract between the City and 
the State of Washington and DNR.  

2. The City shall meet all obligations set out in the Lease, including but not limited to the 
requirements set out in Section 10, Indemnification, Financial Security, and Insurance.  

3. All referenced exhibits are incorporated into the Sublease unless expressly identified as 
unincorporated, including but not limited to the following:  

a. Exhibit A – Legal Description of Sublease Area 
b. Exhibit B – Depiction of Sublease Area 
c. Exhibit C – Memorandum of Understanding between City of Port Orchard and Port 

of Bremerton for Use of DNR Aquatics Land Area (Contract No. 133-22) 
d. Exhibit D – Port’s DNR Lease Agreement 

4. Notices and submittals required or permitted under this Sublease and the Lease shall be 
supplied to the following:  
 
State: Department of Natural Resources 
 Aquatic Resources Division, Ports Program 
 111 Washington Street SE MS 47027 
 Olympia, WA 98504-7027  
 
Port: Port of Bremerton 
 8850 SW State Highway 3 
 Port Orchard, WA 98367-7487 
 
City: City of Port Orchard 
 Mayor 
 216 Prospect Street 
 Port Orchard, WA 98366 
 

5. Authority. City and the person or persons executing this Sublease on behalf of the City 
represent that the City is qualified to do business in the State of Washington, that the City 
has full right and authority to enter into this Sublease, and that each and every person 
signing on behalf of the City is authorized to do so. Upon the Port or DNR’s request, the 
City shall provide evidence satisfactory to the Port or DNR confirming these 
representations.  

THIS AGREEMENT requires the signature of all Parties and is effective on the date of the last 
signature below.  



10684970.1 - 366922 - 0001 

LESSOR/PORT OF BREMERTON: 
 
By:  
  
Title:  
Address: 
Phone: 
 
DATE:  
  
 
 

LESSEE/CITY OF PORT ORCHARD: 
 
By:  
  
Title:   Mayor 
Address:  216 Prospect Street 
 Port Orchard, WA 98366 
Phone: (360) 876-4407 
 
DATE:  
  
 
 

REPRESENTATIVE/LESSOR ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 
 
STATE OF WASHINGTON ) 
 ) SS 
COUNTY OF KITSAP ) 

On this ___________ day of __________________________, 2023, before me, the undersigned, 
a Notary Public in and for the State of Washington, duly commissioned and sworn, personally 
appeared ________________, and who executed the foregoing instrument and acknowledged to 
me that HE/SHE was authorized to execute said instrument on behalf of the Port of Bremerton for 
the uses and purposes therein mentioned. 

WITNESS my hand and official seal hereto affixed the day and year in this certificate above 
written. 
 

Dated: ________________________  Signature:________________________ 

  (seal) 

 
 

REPRESENTATIVE/LESSEE ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 
 
STATE OF WASHINGTON ) 
 ) SS 
COUNTY OF KITSAP ) 

On this ___________ day of __________________________, 2023, before me, the undersigned, 
a Notary Public in and for the State of Washington, duly commissioned and sworn, personally 
appeared Robert Putaansuu, and who executed the foregoing instrument and acknowledged to me 
that he was authorized to execute said instrument on behalf of the City of Port Orchard for the uses 
and purposes therein mentioned. 



10684970.1 - 366922 - 0001 

WITNESS my hand and official seal hereto affixed the day and year in this certificate above 
written. 
 

Dated: ________________________  Signature:________________________ 

_______________ (seal) 

 

 

 

 



AES
CONSULTANTS, INC. PROFESSIONAL LAND SURVEYORS

P.O.BOX930 • 3472 N.W. LOWELL"OLD TOWNE"· SILVERDALE,WA 98383 • 360·692.6400 • FAX 360·692·8927

TEMPORARY CONSTRUCTION EASEMENT

THAT PORTION OF THE HARBOR AREA SITUATE WITHIN GOVERNMENT LOT 3,
SECTION 26, TOWNSHIP 24 NORTH, RANGE 1EAST, W.M., IN KITSAP COUNTY,
WASHINGTON, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

BEGINNING AT THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF AMENDED HARBOR LEASE
NUMBER 22-002582 TO THE CITY OF PORT ORCHARD AS DEPICTED AND
DESCRIBED ON A RECORD-OF-SURVEY RECORDED IN VOLUME 74 OF SURVEYS,
PAGES 50 THROUGH 52, INCLUSIVE, UNDER AUDITOR'S FILE NO. 201005260101;
THENCENORTH 84°36'30" WEST ALONG THE INNER HARBOR LINE 50.03 FEET;
THENCE LEAVING SAID INNER HARBOR LINE NORTH 8°07'19" EAST 79.20 FEET;
THENCE NORTH 65°14'13" EAST 72.67 FEET; THENCENORTH 30°02'28" WEST 53.03
FEET; THENCENORTH 12°17'17" EAST 18.84 FEET; THENCE NORTH 57°16'23" EAST
20.96 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 77°42'43" EAST 18.84FEET; THENCE SOUTH 30°48'29"
EAST 63.91 FEET TO THE NORTHERLY LINE OF SAIDAMENDED HARBOR LEASE
NUMBER 22-002583; THENCE WESTERLY, NORTHERLY, AND SOUTHERLYALONG
SAID LINE TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.

_5,lfZO?3



SUBLEASE FOR AQUATIC

LANDS - EXHIBIT B

/
TEMPORARY / :y

CONSTRUCTIONEASEMENT ~

/ ~/~
// J:,/~

.: ~'I
LONG-TERMCITY OF PORT

ORCHARDENCROACHMENT

\

,/
/

UNKNOWNPOINT
N:203342.68
E:1194662.86
Z:15.18

MAG NAIL
N:203303.21

E:1194596.24
Z:13.68

FUELTRUCK PATH POST
COMMUNITYCENTER

CONSTRUCTION
/

f)Ol'7,

5W CORA/lEI!
A 11Ef.t.P~/) /I /JR81)f~LC4;-£
~, 22 • t)t>25&J. 7'o r.)j£
C~1f C);::- PtJR, (JI?C#/lRo

!
\
\

Max Freimund
Polygon



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Memorandum of Understanding 
 

for 
 

Use of Department of Natural Resources (DNR) 

Aquatics Land Area in Port of Bremerton 

Port Management Agreement (PMA) 22-080016 
 

Between 
 

City of Port Orchard 
 

and 
 

Port of Bremerton 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
2022 



 
 
 
 
 

Contents 
1. RECITALS ............................................................................................................................................... 1 
2. PURPOSE ............................................................................................................................................... 2 

3. PREMISES .............................................................................................................................................. 3 

4. EFFECTIVE DATE .................................................................................................................................... 3 

5. TERM ..................................................................................................................................................... 3 

6. PERMITTED USE .................................................................................................................................... 4 

7. COMPENSATION ................................................................................................................................... 4 

8. RESTRICTIONS ON USE; COMPLIANCE WITH LAW ................................................................................ 5 

9. INSURANCE ........................................................................................................................................... 6 

10. RECIPROCAL INDEMNIFICATION ........................................................................................................... 7 

11. PRESENCE OF HAZARDOUS MATERIALS ................................................................................................ 8 

12. DEFAULT BY CITY OF PORT ORCHARD ................................................................................................... 8 

13. NOTICE .................................................................................................................................................. 8 

14. ENTIRE AGREEMENT ............................................................................................................................. 9 
 



Page | 1  
 

 

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 
 

THIS MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING (“MOU”) is dated on the day of the last signature on this 
MOU,  by and between the Port of Bremerton (“Port”), a public port district, and the City of Port 
Orchard (“City”), a Washington State municipal corporation. 

 
RECITALS 

 

A. The Port Orchard Marina is owned and operated by the Port of Bremerton, which has a Port 
Management Agreement (PMA) no. 22-080016 with Department of Natural Resources 
(“DNR”) for use of State-owned aquatics lands for port purposes. It is located within the 
Port Orchard Harbor Area in Sinclair Inlet, in Kitsap County, Washington. 

B. The Port of Bremerton has a lease no. 22-B02235 with DNR for use of State-owned aquatic 
lands commonly known as the Port of Bremerton Port Orchard Waterfront, for the Port use 
with the Port Orchard equipment and water dependent uses serving the Port Orchard 
Marina. The present termination date for lease no. 22-B02235   is August 31, 2041. 
Throughout this Agreement, this lease is referred to as the “Port’s DNR Lease”.   

C. The City of Port Orchard has a lease no. 22-A02582 with DNR for use of State-owned 
aquatics lands for parking lot, public access, and City public sewage pump station. The lease 
area is located within the Port Orchard harbor area of Sinclair Inlet, in the City of Port 
Orchard, Kitsap County, Washington. The present termination date for lease no. 22-0A2582 
is June 3, 2024. Throughout this Agreement, this lease is referred to as the “City’s DNR 
Lease”.   

D. The State-owned aquatics lands under the Port’s DNR lease and the City’s DNR Lease for 
the City Pump Station are adjacent parcels. 

E. The City of Port Orchard existing City sewage pump station impacts and encroaches into the 
Port of Bremerton lease area within the Port’s DNR Lease, and the City proposes to 
demolish the existing station and to construct a new sewage pump station, holding tanks, 
conveyance pipes, and power generation improvements with an increased impact and 
encroachment into the Port of Bremerton lease area subject to the Port’s DNR Lease. An 
Exhibit of those proposed, expanded encroachments are depicted in Exhibit A. 

F. The Port is willing to allow City use of the portion of upland state-owned lands area that 
overlaps the Port’s DNR Lease of the Port’s PMA no. 22-0800016 shown in Exhibit A. 

G. The Port is willing to allow the City temporary use of the upland state-owned lands for 
temporary project construction access and staging and that overlaps the Port’s DNR 
lease shown in Exhibit B. 



Page | 2  
 

H. The City commits that the Port shall have use and public access to Port Marina Buildings, 
Marina Access Gates, and to the Port facilities for uninterrupted operations throughout the 
construction period for the City Marina Sewage Pump Construction project. 

I. The City commits that the Port shall have use and access for semi fuel truck delivery to the 
Port Orchard Marina fuel tanks for uninterrupted fuel dock operations throughout the 
construction period and after completion of the proposed Sewage Pump Station, 
subsequent Port Orchard Community Center, and proposed Bay Street Elevation 
improvement projects.  The Port commits to provide the City with 72-hour advanced notice 
of deliveries, consistent with the terms of this agreement. 

J. The City agrees to coordinate with the Port for any modifications and/or updates to the 
aforementioned existing DNR leases, as may be required by DNR. The Port authorizes the 
City to communicate with DNR regarding these specific lease modifications, provided the 
Port is included on these communications. The City commits that it will provide all needed 
language and exhibits for lease modifications (if any) for the City encroachments. 

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS AGREED AS FOLLOWS: 

AGREEMENT 

1. RECITALS 

The foregoing recitals are true and correct and are incorporated herein by this reference. 
 

2. PURPOSE 

2.1 The purpose of this Memorandum of Understanding is to set forth the terms and 
conditions by which the Port will sublet to the City that portion of property described below 
as the “Premises” for a time certain, conditioned upon and pending DNR approval, as well as 
the terms and conditions of seeking and obtaining necessary modifications to the City lease 
referenced above and the Port lease referenced above, conditioned upon DNR approval, 
which will remove the area described as the “Premises” from the Port lease and add it to the 
City lease. The parties acknowledge this process may be lengthy, and provide for the time 
frame below. 

2.2 The purpose of this MOU is to also replace and rescind the existing 1987 MOU 
between the City of Port Orchard and the Port of Bremerton regarding the existing 
wastewater pump station. 

3. PREMISES 

The "Premises" consists approximately of 1,524.25 square feet of DNR aquatic lease area 
shown in Exhibit A, attached hereto, and as depicted and legally described in Exhibit A. By 
this Agreement and subject to DNR approval, the parties intend for the Premises to be 
removed from the Port’s DNR Lease and added to the City’s DNR Lease. 



Page | 3  
 

The City of Port Orchard acknowledges and agrees that it is familiar with the Premises, 
accepts the Premises in its "as is" condition, without any improvements or alterations by 
Port, without representation or warranty of any kind, and subject to all applicable laws 
governing its use, occupancy, and possession. City acknowledges and agrees that it has 
investigated and inspected the condition of the Premises and the suitability of the Premises 
for City’s intended use. City acknowledges and agrees that Port has not made, and Port 
hereby disclaims, any representations or warranties, express or implied, concerning the 
rentable area of the Premises, the physical or environmental condition of the Premises, the 
present or future suitability of the Premises for City’s intended use, accessibility of the 
Premises or any other matter whatsoever relating to the Premises, including, without 
limitation, any implied warranties of merchantability or fitness for a particular purpose. 

4. EFFECTIVE DATE 

The "Effective Date" of this MOU shall be the date this MOU has been fully executed. 

5. TERM 

5.1 The "Term" of this MOU shall begin on the Effective Date and continue for a period 
of 24 months, unless earlier terminated as provided herein; provided, the City may exercise 
one (1) two- year extension without further action by the Port if DNR has not completed the 
transfer of the Premises from the Port’s DNR Lease to the City’s DNR Lease. It is the intention 
of the parties to continue this agreement until the lease “transfer” is completed, provided if 
the MOU terminate prior to that occurring, the parties will negotiate the terms of a MOU to 
govern the conditions that exist at that time. 

5.2 The City may exercise their option to extend by written notice at least 30 days prior 
to the expiration of this MOU. 

5.3 In the event a modification to the City’s DNR Lease to encompass Premises within 
the City lease is completed, defined as executed by DNR and by the City, prior to the 
expiration of this MOU, the parties agree this MOU would terminate automatically upon 
such completion. 

5.4 Either the City or the Port shall have the right to terminate this MOU with respect to 
the Premises by delivering 90 days of written notice to the other party. 

6. PERMITTED USE 

6.1 The City shall have the right to use the Premises for the provision of public access to 
City public facilities, for City pump station facilities, public parks, and similar allowed uses, 
and for incidental directly related uses identified within Port’s DNR Lease and for no other 
purpose for the duration of this Agreement (collectively, the “Permitted Use”). 



Page | 4  
 

6.2 Use of the Premises by City will allow for continued public use of the Port Orchard 
public plaza, park and its benefits and amenities at no cost to Port. Given the existing City 
DNR Lease, all uses proposed for the parcel shall be compliant with DNR use requirements. 

6.3 Written notification shall be provided by the City to the Port within 90 days prior to 
any proposed use of the premises for a non-water-dependent use, commercial use, or 
similar use that results in a higher calculation rate for the Port’s DNR lease, annual lease 
amount for either the Premises or the whole of the Port’s DNR lease. 

6.4 The City shall ensure that the Port and public shall have use and access to Port 
Marina Buildings, Marina Access Gates, and to the fuel dock (see below) for uninterrupted 
operations throughout the construction period for the City Marina Sewage Pump 
Construction project, subject to any closures that are unavoidable due to conditions outside 
of the City’s control. 

6.5 The City shall ensure that the Port shall have use and access for semi fuel truck 
delivery to the Port Orchard Marina fuel tanks for uninterrupted fuel dock operations 
throughout the construction period and after completion of the proposed Sewage Pump 
Station, subsequent Port Orchard Community Center, and proposed Bay Street Elevation 
improvement projects. 

7. COMPENSATION 

7.1 The City shall provide the Port of Bremerton annual financial compensation for the 
proportion share of the annual DNR lease rate for the Port’s DNR Lease based upon square 
footage of 1,524.25 square feet, as identified within Exhibit A . The Port’s Lease has a total 
square footage of 26,051.6 square feet, as identified in Exhibit B. For the duration of this 
Agreement, the City shall financially compensate the Port each year for the proportional 
share of the DNR annual lease rate in the proportional amount of 5.85% of the total 
amount. 

7.2 The Port shall provide notification to the City of the annual DNR lease rate amount 
for the Port’s DNR Lease upon payment and acceptance by DNR for each year’s payment. 
Notification and an invoice of the annual DNR proportional share amount shall be provided 
to the City within 90 days after the annual payment and acceptance to DNR. 

7.3 The City shall provide compensation and payment to the Port each year for 
the proportional share to be provided on or before December 31 of each year, with 
the initial annual, proportional sub-lease payment due to the Port by December 31, 
2023. 

7.4 In the event that any City activity, projects, use, or installation results in a non-water- 
dependent use or commercial use that results in a higher calculation rate for the Port’s DNR 
Lease annual lease amount for either the portion or the whole of the Port’s DNR Lease, then 



Page | 5  
 

the City shall compensate the Port for the differential lease costs for that City directed non-
water dependent or commercial use calculation. 

7.5 The City shall compensate the Port for the actual cost of any surveys, legal 
descriptions, or required reports borne by the Port in furtherance of the purposes of this 
MOU. The City further agrees to compensate the Port for the actual legal costs incurred by 
the Port in preparing this MOU, not to exceed $5,000. Reimbursement shall be due 30 days 
after presentation of billing to City. 

7.6 In the event that any City activity, projects, construction or use shall disrupt the Port 
Orchard Marina fuel dock operations or disrupt access for semi fuel truck delivery to the 
Port Orchard Marina fuel tanks for uninterrupted fuel dock operations throughout the 
construction period and after completion of the proposed Sewage Pump Station, 
subsequent Port Orchard Community Center, and proposed Bay Street Elevation 
improvement projects, then the City will be liable for $ 1,350.00 per day as liquidated 
damages, payable to the Port for each day of operations disruption, beginning the 3rd day of 
disruption until the resumption of fuel dock operations and/or access. Payments to the Port 
shall be made monthly to the Port each month after a disruption occurs. 

8. RESTRICTIONS ON USE; COMPLIANCE WITH LAW 

8.1 City shall not use or permit the Premises, or any part thereof, to be used for any 
purposes other than the purposes set forth in Paragraph 6 of this MOU. City agrees not to 
make any material improvements or significant alterations to the Premises or the Overlap 
Area without the prior written consent of Port as well as obtaining any necessary regulatory 
permits. 

8.2 City shall not perform any act which will cause a cancellation of any insurance policy 
covering the Premises. City, at City's expense, shall comply with all laws, regulations and 
requirements of any federal, state, and local government authority (including Port and City), 
now in force or which may hereafter be in force, which shall impose any duty upon Port or 
City necessitated solely by use, occupation or alteration of the Premises under this MOU, 
except for any such laws that impose a duty upon Port arising from the condition of the 
Premises prior to City's use of the Premises. City shall comply, and cause approved agents to 
comply, with all laws, regulations and requirements of any federal, state, and local 
government authority (including Port and City), now in force or which may hereafter be in 
force, in using the Overlap Area for access purposes. 

8.3 City shall not sublet described property without written authorization from the 
Port of Bremerton. 

8.4 City shall be responsible for all maintenance, landscape, repairs, janitorial duties, 
and operations of facilities or improvements located within the area identified within 
Exhibit A, and areas within the City’s DNR Lease. 



Page | 6  
 

8.5 City shall comply with all provisions identified and required by the Washington 
State Department of Natural Requirements indicated and identified within the Port’s DNR 
Lease  

9. INSURANCE 

9.1 The City shall procure and maintain the following insurance policies to apply to the 
Premises for the duration of the MOU: 

The City will maintain the following levels of insurance while this agreement is in effect 

 
 
Additionally, the City will require its Contractor for the Marina Lift Station project to provide the 
following coverages: 

a. Primary and Excess Commercial Marine General Liability. Primary and Excess 
Commercial General Liability insurance with limits no less than ten million dollars ($10,000,000) 
combined single limit per occurrence for bodily injury, personal injury and property damage. 
General liability coverage must be broad enough to include work on or around sewage pump 
station and electrical equipment, construction activities, generators, commercial activity, or 
parks, public event issues arising on the upland portion of the Premises. Coverage shall also 
include impacts due to flooding, sewage, effluent, or similar spills or public health issues, or 
impacts from a public sewer pump station activity. 

b. Primary and Excess Protection and Indemnity. Subject to a minimum coverage of not 
less than ten million dollars ($10,000,000) combined single limit per accident for Crew, 
including Jones Act liability, and passenger’s bodily injury and property damage. 

c. Primary and Excess Pollution Legal Liability Insurance. Coverage for sudden and 
accident damages for facilities, buildings, and infrastructure with limits no less than ten million 
dollars ($10,000,000). 

e. All Risk Property. “all risk” property insurance coverage written on a replacement cost 
basis for the fuel tanks, utilities, and all infrastructure serving the marina buildings, piers, 
ramps, gangways, and floats. City shall be named a sole Loss Payee. 

9.1.1 Additional Insured Status. The foregoing insurance policies (except for the Hull 
& Machinery) shall name the Port of Bremerton and DNR as additional insureds as to 
occurrences arising from the activities of City and its employees. City shall provide 
certificates of insurance and, if requested, copies of any policy to the Port of 
Bremerton. 



Page | 7  
 

9.1.2 Other Policy Provisions. Furthermore, the policies of insurance required herein 
shall: (i) be written as a primary policy; (ii) written on an occurrence basis, (iii) expressly 
provide that such insurance may not be materially changed, amended, or canceled 
except upon thirty (30) days prior written notice; and (iv) shall be written by an insurance 
company licensed to do business in the State of Washington. 

9.1.3 DNR Requested Construction Bond. Pursuant to the direction of DNR, the City 
will procure a construction bond equal to 125% of the Project cost of construction (as 
per Section 7 of the City’s DNR Lease), or will require its contractor to maintain a 
construction bond in the same amount.   

10. RECIPROCAL INDEMNIFICATION 

To the maximum extent permitted by law, each Party shall defend, indemnify, and hold 
harmless the other Party and all of its officials, Board Members, employees, principals, and 
agents from all claims, demands, suits, actions, and liability of any kind, including injuries to 
persons or damages to property (“Claims”), which arise out of, are connected with, or are due 
to the negligent acts or omissions of the indemnifying Party, its contractors, and/or employees, 
agents and representatives in performing its obligations under this Agreement, provided each 
Party’s obligation under this section applies only to the extent of the negligence of that Party 
or its contractors, employees, agents, or representatives. 

Each of the Parties agrees that its obligations under this section extend to any claim, demand, 
cause of action and judgment brought by, or on behalf of, any of its employees or agents. For 
this purpose, both Parties, by mutual negotiation, hereby waive, regarding the other Party only, 
any immunity that would otherwise be available against such claims under the industrial 
insurance provisions of Title 51 RCW. 

11. PRESENCE OF HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 

11.1 Washington State law requires landlords to disclose to tenants the presence or 
potential presence of certain Hazardous Materials. Accordingly, the City of Port Orchard is 
hereby advised that Hazardous Materials (as herein defined) may be present on or near the 
Premises and the Access Area, including, but not limited to vessel fluids and janitorial 
products. By execution of this MOU, City of Port Orchard acknowledges that the NOA Laws 
require that the City of Port Orchard must disclose the information contained in this Section 
11 to any subtenant, licensee, transferee, or assignee of City of Port Orchard's interest in this 
MOU. City of Port Orchard also acknowledges its own obligations pursuant to Washington 
State Code as well as the penalties that apply for failure to meet such obligations. 

11.2 City of Port Orchard shall notify the Port of Bremerton of any Hazardous Materials 

12. DEFAULT BY CITY OF PORT ORCHARD 

The occurrence of any one or more of the following events shall constitute a default by City of 
Port Orchard: Failure to perform any provision of this MOU if the failure to perform is not 
cured within ninety (90) days after Port has given written notice to City of Port Orchard, 



Page | 8  
 

provided any prevention, delay or stoppage due to strikes. lockouts, labor disputes, acts of 
God, inability to obtain labor or materials or reasonable substitutes therefor, governmental 
restrictions, regulations or controls, enemy or hostile governmental action, riot, civil 
commotion, fire or other casualty, and other causes beyond the reasonable control of the 
party obligated to perform, shall excuse the performance. If the default cannot reasonably be 
cured within 90 days, City of Port Orchard shall not be in default of this MOU if City of Port 
Orchard commences to cure the default within such ninety (90) day period and diligently and 
in good faith continues to cure the default. 

13. NOTICE 

Any notice given under this MOU shall be effective only if in writing and given by delivering 
the notice in person or by sending it first-class mail or certified mail with a return receipt 
requested or by overnight courier return receipt requested, with postage prepaid, at the 
following addresses, or at such other addresses as either the Port or City of Port Orchard 
may designate by notice as its new address: 

Address for Port of Bremerton: Chief Executive Officer 
Port of Bremerton 
8850 SW State 
Hwy 3 
Bremerton, WA 98312 

Telephone No: (360) 674-2381 
Fax No: (360) 674-2807 
Email: jimr@portofbremerton.org 

 
Address for City of Port Orchard: Mayor 

City of Port 
Orchard 216 
Prospect Street 
Port Orchard, WA 98366 

Telephone No: (360) 876-4407 
Fax No: (360) 895-9029 
Email: rputaansuu@portorchardwa.gov 

 

Any notice hereunder shall be deemed to have been given two (2) days after the date when 
it is mailed if sent by first-class or certified mail, one day after the date it is mailed, if sent by 
overnight courier, or upon the date personal delivery is made. For convenience of the 
parties, copies of notices may also be given by email, facsimile or telephone to the address 
or numbers set forth above or such other address or number as may be provided from time 
to time; however, neither the Port nor City of Port Orchard may give official or binding notice 
by email, telephone or facsimile. 

mailto:jimr@portofbremerton.org
mailto:rputaansuu@portorchardwa.gov


Page | 9  
 

14. ENTIRE AGREEMENT 

This MOU (including attached exhibits, if any) contains the entire understanding between 
the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof. 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE LEFT BLANK] 

  



124-22



FREDERICK AVE

ORCHARD  AVE

SI
N

C
LA

IR
 IN

LE
T

AB
AD

AN
 H

O
LD

IN
G

S 
LL

C
46

50
-0

13
-0

01
-0

00
7

BL
O

CK
 1

3
PL

AT
 O

F 
SI

D
N

EY
 T

ID
EL

AN
D

S

KI
TS

AP
 B

AN
K

 4
65

0-
01

2-
00

1-
00

09
BL

O
CK

 1
2

PL
AT

 O
F 

SI
D

N
EY

 T
ID

EL
AN

D
S

KI
TS

AP
 B

AN
K

 4
65

0-
01

1-
00

1-
00

01
BL

O
CK

 1
1

PL
AT

 O
F 

SI
D

N
EY

 T
ID

EL
AN

D
S

BA
Y 

ST

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8
9

10

MU
LT

I-U
SE

FA
CI

LIT
Y

PR
OP

ER
TY

 P
OI

NT
 T

AB
LE

PO
IN

T

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

NO
RT

HI
NG

20
32

01
.22

20
32

88
.86

20
32

02
.76

20
32

81
.17

20
33

11
.61

20
33

57
.52

20
33

75
.93

20
33

87
.26

20
33

83
.25

20
33

28
.36

EA
ST

IN
G

11
94

53
7.7

6

11
94

57
3.9

2

11
94

52
1.4

3

11
94

53
2.6

2

11
94

59
8.6

1

11
94

57
2.0

6

11
94

57
6.0

7

11
94

59
3.7

0

11
94

61
2.1

1

11
94

64
4.8

4

DE
SC

RI
PT

IO
N

PR
OP

OS
ED

 P
RO

PE
RT

Y 
BO

UN
DA

RY
 M

OD
IF

IC
AT

IO
N

PR
OP

OS
ED

 P
RO

PE
RT

Y 
BO

UN
DA

RY
 M

OD
IF

IC
AT

IO
N

TE
MP

OR
AR

Y 
CO

NS
TR

UC
TI

ON
 E

AS
EM

EN
T

TE
MP

OR
AR

Y 
CO

NS
TR

UC
TI

ON
 E

AS
EM

EN
T

TE
MP

OR
AR

Y 
CO

NS
TR

UC
TI

ON
 E

AS
EM

EN
T

TE
MP

OR
AR

Y 
CO

NS
TR

UC
TI

ON
 E

AS
EM

EN
T

TE
MP

OR
AR

Y 
CO

NS
TR

UC
TI

ON
 E

AS
EM

EN
T

TE
MP

OR
AR

Y 
CO

NS
TR

UC
TI

ON
 E

AS
EM

EN
T

TE
MP

OR
AR

Y 
CO

NS
TR

UC
TI

ON
 E

AS
EM

EN
T

TE
MP

OR
AR

Y 
CO

NS
TR

UC
TI

ON
 E

AS
EM

EN
T

SU
RV

EY
 E

XH
IB

IT

LO
NG

-T
ER

M 
CI

TY
 O

F 
PO

RT
OR

CH
AR

D 
EN

CR
OA

CH
ME

NT

FU
EL

 T
RU

CK
 P

AT
H 

PO
ST

CO
MM

UN
IT

Y 
CE

NT
ER

CO
NS

TR
UC

TI
ON

TE
MP

OR
AR

Y
CO

NS
TR

UC
TI

ON
 E

AS
EM

EN
T

P
R
E
L
IM
IN
A
R
Y

EXHIBIT A



When recorded,returnto:

Portof Bremerton

8850 SW StateHighway 3

Port Orchard, WA 98367-7487

PORT OF BREMERTON 201109290042
LeaseRecFee:$ 94.00
09/29/201110:00AM Page:1 of 33WalterWashington,KitsapCo Auditor

IlillllllIlllIllillll|||lill||1|1111||Ililllll||lllllllll|lll1||IlillIlllIllillllllill

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF

Natural Resources

PeterGoldmark-CommissionerofPublicLands

AQUATIC LANDS LEASE

Lease No. 22-802235

Grantor: Washington StateDepartment of Natural Resources

Grantee(s): Port of Bremerton

L alDesc tion:Tract 1:That ortionof theharbor area1 landward of theMean Hi

Water line,frontingBlocks 11 and Orchard Streetin SM Stevens Town Platof Sidney,

filedinVolume 1,page 1 of Platsrecordsof Kitsap County, Washington and Block 11

and Orchard Streetlyingwithinthe Shore and Tidelands of Sidney as shown on that

certainmap dated May 30, 1892, being a portionof Government Lot 3,Section26,

Township 24 North, Range 1 East,W.M., more particularlydescribedinExhibitA; and

Tract2:That ortionof theharbor area1 'ng landward of theMean High Water line,

frontingBlocks 12 and 13,Sidney Streetand a portionof Orchard Street,FredrickStreet

and portionof Sidney StreetinSM Stevens Town Platof Sidney,filedinVolume 1,page

1 of Plats,recordsof Kitsap County, Washington, Block 13 and portionof Sidney Street

inFirstAddition to Sidney Kitsap County, Washington, recorded inVolume 1,page 10

of Plats,recordsof Kitsap County, Washington and Block 12 and 13 ,Sidney Street,

FredrickStreetand a portionof Orchard Street,lyingwithintheShore and Tidelands of

Sidney as shown on thatcertainmap dated May 30, 1892, being a portionof Government

Lots 3 and 4, Section26, Township 24 North, Range 1 East W.M., and more particularly

describedinExhibitA.

The complete legaldescriptionison Sheet 1 of 12 of ExhibitA, Current Survey recorded

with Kitsap County, Auditor'sFileNo. 201103010135, datedMarch 01,2011.

Assessor'sPropertyTax Parcelor Account Number: Not Applicable

Assessor'sPropertyTax ParcelforUpland parcelused in conjunctionwith thisLease:

262401-1-007-2008

PortofBremerton Page1of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo. 22-802235

WestEnd PortOrchard

EXHIBIT B



c , 201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 2 of 33

THIS LEASE isbetween the STATE OF WASHINGTON, actingthrough theDepartment of

NaturalResources ("State"),and PORT OF BREMERTON, a government entity("Port").

BACKGROUND

Port desiresto leasethe aquaticlandscommonly known as thewest end of the Port Orchard

waterfront,which aretidelandsand a harbor arealocatedinKitsap County, Washington, from

State,and Statedesiresto leasethepropertytoPortpursuanttothe terms and conditionsof this

Lease. Statehas authorityto enterLease under Chapter 43.12,Chapter 43.30 and Title79 of the

Revised Code of Washington (RCW).

In 1984, the Aquatics Land Act (RCW 79.105.420 revised)authorizeda portdistrictto manage

State-owned aquaticlandsabuttingor used inconjunctionwith and contiguousto uplands

owned, leased,or otherwisemanaged by a portdistrict,forportpurposes. Implementing rules

(WAC 332-30-114) furtherdefined eligibilityformanagement under a PortManagement

Agreement requiringa portcontrolboth thedry uplands and any interveningtidelands.The

State,as a matterof practice,includedfilledtidelandswith upland characteristicsas uplands

controlledby a port.

Along both theBremerton waterfront(a.k.a.SinciairLanding) and along portionsofthe Port

Orchard waterfront,extensivehistoricfillingresultedinthe firstareaswith upland characteristics

being State-owned. In recognitionof the intentof theAquatics Lands Act, the Stateleasedto the

Port of Bremerton areasused forupland uses and accessto Port-owned facilitiesallowing the

abuttingStateHarbor Areas to be eligibleforinclusioninthePort Management Agreement No.

22-080016, as amended (PMA).

This Lease isone of threeareasleasedtothePortby the StatespecificallyforPMA eligibility.

The areaconsistsof two subparcels.ItabutsPMA No. 22-080016, Parcel 1 inPort Orchard.

The historicLease areaconsistedof parking,landscaping,utilities,and publicaccessassociated

with thePort-owned marina structures.This Lease amends thehistoricLease areatoincludethe

stripof filledtidelandsand the bulkhead toMean High Water. This stripwas formerlymanaged

under Aquatic Lands Lease 22-002582 between the City of Port Orchard and the State.That

Lease has been amended to exclude theareanow being added to thisLease,Aquatic Lands

Lease 22-802235.

THEREFORE, thePartiesagree as follows:

PortofBremerton Page2 of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo.22-802235

WestEnd PortOrchard



v < s 201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 3 of 33

SECTION 1 PROPERTY

1.1 Property Defined.

(a) Stateleasesto Port and Port leasesfrom Statethe realpropertydescribedin

ExhibitA togetherwith alltherightsof State,ifany, to improvements on and

easements benefitingtheProperty,but subjectto the exceptionsand restrictions

setforthinthisLease (collectivelythe "Property").

(b) This Lease issubjectto allvalidinterestsof thirdpartiesnoted intherecordsof

Kitsap County, or on fileinthe Officeof the Commissioner of PublicLands,

Olympia, Washington; rightsof thepublicunder the PublicTrustDoctrine or

federalnavigationservitude;and treatyrightsof Indian Tribes.

(c) This Lease does not includea righttoharvest,collector damage natural

resources,includingaquaticlifeor livingplants;water rights;mineralrights;or a

rightto excavate or withdraw sand,gravel,or othervaluablematerials.

(d) Statereservesthe rightto granteasements and otherland uses on theProperty to

otherswhen the easement or otherland uses willnot interfereunreasonably with

thePermittedUse.

1.2 Survey and Property Descriptions.

(a) Portprepared Exhibit A, which describestheProperty. PortwarrantsthatExhibit

A isa trueand accuratedescriptionof the Lease boundaries and the

improvements tobe constructedor alreadyexistingin theLease area.Port's

obligationtoprovide a trueand accuratedescriptionof thePropertyboundaries is

a materialterm of thisLease.

(b) State'sacceptance of ExhibitA does not constituteagreement thatPort'sproperty

descriptionaccuratelyreflectstheactualamount of land used by Port. State

reservestherightto retroactivelyadjustrentifatany time during theterm of the

Lease Statediscoversa discrepancybetween Port'spropertydescriptionand the

areaactuallyused by Port.

1.3 Inspection. Statemakes no representationregardingthe conditionof theProperty,

improvements locatedon the Property,the suitabilityof the Property forPort'sPermittedUse,

compliance with governmental laws and regulations,availabilityof utilityrights,accesstothe

Property,or theexistenceof hazardous substanceson the Property. Port inspectedtheProperty

and acceptsit"AS IS."

SECTION 2 USE

2.1 Permitted Use. Port shalluse thePropertyfor:nonwater-dependent offices,parking,

marina supportservices,and public access(the"PermittedUse"), and forno otherpurpose.

PortofBremerton .Page3 of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo.22-802235

West End PortOrchard



201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 4 of 33

2.2 Restrictionson Permitted Use and Operations. The followinglimitationsapply tothe

Property and adjacentState-owned aquaticland.Port'scompliance with the followingdoes not

limitPort'sliabilityunder any otherprovisionof thisLease.

(a) Port shallnot cause or permit:

(1) Damage tonaturalresources,

(2) Waste, or

(3) Deposit of material,unlessapproved by Stateinwriting,and except tothe

extentexpresslypermittedinExhibitB. This prohibitionincludesdeposit
of fill,rock,earth,ballast,wood waste,refuse,garbage,waste matter,

pollutantsof any type,or othermatter.

(4) Except as expresslypermittedinExhibitB, Fort shallnot constructnew

bulkheads or place hard bank armoring.

(5) Except as expresslypermittedinExhibitB, Port shallnot installfixed

breakwaters.

2.3 Conformance with Laws. Port shall,atalltimes,keep currentand comply with all

conditionsand terms ofpermits,licenses,certificates,regulations,ordinances,statutes,and other

government rulesand regulationsregardingPort'suse or occupancy of the Property.

2.4 Liens and Encumbrances. Unless expresslyauthorizedby Stateinwriting,Port shall

keep the Property freeand clearof liensor encumbrances arisingfrom the PermittedUse or

Port'soccupancy of the Property.

SECTION 3 TERM

3.1 Term Defined. The term of thisLease isthirty(30)years(the"Term"), beginning on the

firstday of September 2011 (the"Commencement Date"),and ending on the thirty-firstday of

August 2041 (the"Termination Date"),unlessterminatedsooner under the terms of thisLease.

3.2 Renewal of the Lease. This Lease does not provide a rightof renewal. Portmay apply
fora new lease,which Statehas discretionto grant.Portmust apply fora new leaseatleastone

(1)year priortoTermination Date. StatewillnotifyPortwithinninety(90) days of itsintentto

approve or deny a new Lease.

3.3 End of Term.

(a) Upon the expirationor terminationof thisLease,Port shallremove Improvements
in accordance with Section 7,Improvements, and surrenderthe Propertyto State

inthesame or betterconditionas on theCommencement Date, reasonablewear

and tearexcepted.

(b) DefinitionofReasonable Wear and Tear.

(1) Reasonable wear and tearisdeteriorationresultingfrom thePermittedUse

thathas occurred without neglect,negligence,carelessness,accident,or

PortofBremerton Page4 of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo.22-802235
WestEnd PortOrchard



201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 5 of 33

abuse of thePropertyby Portor any otherperson on thepremises with the

permission of Port.

(2) Reasonable wear and teardoes not includeunauthorizeddepositof

materialprohibitedunder Paragraph 2.2regardlessof whether the deposit
isincidentalto or thebyproduct of thePermittedUse.

(c) IfPropertyisinworse condition,exceptingforreasonablewear and tear,on the

surrenderdatethan on the Commencement Date,the followingprovisionsapply:

(1) Stateshallprovide Port a reasonabletime to takeallstepsnecessaryto

remedy theconditionof theProperty. Statemay requirePortto enterinto

a right-of-entryor otheruse authorizationpriorto thePort enteringthe

Propertyifthe Lease has terminated.

(2) IfPort failstoremedy the conditionof thePropertyina timelymanner,
Statemay take stepsreasonablynecessarytoremedy Port'sfailure.Upon
demand by State,Port shallpay allcostsof State'sremedy, includingbut

not limitedto thecostsof removing and disposingof materialdeposited

improperly on the Property,lostrevenue resultingfrom theconditionof

theProperty,and administrativecostsassociatedwith the State'sremedy.

3.4 Holdover.

(a) IfPortremains inpossessionof thePropertyaftertheTermination Date,the

occupancy willnot be an extensionor renewal of theTerm. The occupancy will

be a month-to-month tenancy,on terms identicaltotheterms of thisLease,which

eitherPartymay terminateon thirty(30)days' writtennotice.

(1) The monthly rentduring theholdover willbe the same rentthatwould be

due ifthe Lease were stillineffectand alladjustmentsinrentwere made

in accordance with itsterms.

(2) Payment of more than the monthly rentwillnot be construedtocreatea

periodictenancy longerthan month-to-month. IfPortpays more than the

monthly rentand Stateprovidesnoticeto vacatetheproperty,Stateshall

refund the amount of excesspayment remaining afterthePortceases

occupation of theProperty.

(b) IfStatenotifiesPort tovacatethe Propertyand Port failsto do so withinthetime

setforthinthenotice,Portwillbe a trespasserand shallowe the Stateallamounts

due under RCW 79.02.300 or otherapplicablelaw.

SECTION 4 RENT

4.1 Annual Rent.

(a) Untiladjustedas setforthbelow, Portshallpay to Statean annual rentof Thirteen

Thousand Three Hundred Twenty-one and 04/100 Dollars($13,321.04)relatedto

thenonwater-dependent use.

(b) The annual rent,as itcurrentlyexistsor as adjustedor modified (the"Annual

Rent"),isdue and payable infullon or beforethe Commencement Date and on or

PortofBremerton Page5 of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo.22-802235
WestEnd PortOrchard



201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 6 of 33

beforethe same dateof each year thereafter.Any payment not paid by State's

closeof businesson the datedue ispastdue.

4.2 Payment Place. Port shallmake payment to FinancialManagement Division,1111

Washington St SE, MS 47041, Olympia, WA 98504-7041.

4.3 Adjustment Based on Use. Annual Rent isbased on Port'sPermittedUse of the

Property,as describedin Section2 above. IfPort'sPermittedUse changes,the Annual Rent

shallbe adjustedas appropriateforthe changed use.

4.4 Rent Adjustment Procedures.

(a) Notice of Rent Adjustment. Stateshallprovide noticeof adjustmentsto the

Annual Rent allowed under Paragraph 4.5(b)toPort inwritingno laterthan

ninety(90)days aftertheanniversarydate of the Lease.

(b) Procedures on Failuretomake Timely Adjustment. Ifthe Statefailsto provide

thenoticerequiredinParagraph 4.4(a),Stateshallnot collectthe adjustment

amount fortheyear inwhich Statefailedtoprovide notice.Upon providing

noticeof adjustment,Statemay adjustand prospectivelybillAnnual Rent as if

missed or waived adjustmentshad been implemented attheproper interval.This

includesthe implementation of any inflationadjustment.

4.5 Rent Adjustments for Nonwater-Dependent Uses.

(a) InflationAdjustment. Except in thoseyearsinwhich Staterevaluestherentunder

Paragraph 4.5(b)below, Stateshalladjustnonwater-dependent rentannuallyon

the Commencement Date. Adjustment isbased on thepercentagerateof change

inthepreviouscalendaryear'sConsumer PriceIndex published by theBureau of

Labor Statisticsof theUnited StatesDepartment of Commerce, forthe Seattle-

Tacoma-Bremerton Consolidated MetropolitanStatisticalArea, All Urban

Consumers, allitems 1982-84 = 100. Ifpublicationof the Consumer PriceIndex

isdiscontinued,Stateshalluse a reliablegovernmental or othernonpartisan

publicationevaluatingthe informationused indeterminingthe Consumer Price

Index.

(b) Revaluation of Rent.

(1) At the end of the firstfour-yearperiod of the Term, and atthe end of each

subsequent four-yearperiod,Stateshallrevaluethenonwater-dependent

Annual Rent toreflectthethen-currentfairmarket rent.

(2) IfStateand Portcannot reach agreement on the fairmarket rentalvalue,

thePartiesshallsubmit the valuationto a review board of appraisers.The

board must consistof threemembers, one selectedby and atthe costof

Port;a second member selectedby and atthecostof State;and a third

member selectedby the othertwo members with the costshared equally

by Stateand Port. The decisionof themajorityof theboard binds the

Parties.UntilthePartiesagree to,or thereview board establishes,thenew

rent,Port shallpay rentinthe same amount establishedforthepreceding

year. Iftheboard determines additionalrentisrequired,Port shallpay the

PortofBremerton Page6 of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo.22-802235

WestEnd PortOrchard



201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 7 of 33

additionalrentwithin ten (10)days of theboard'sdecision.Iftheboard

determines a refund isrequired,Stateshallpay therefund within ten (10)

days of theboard's decision.

SECTION 5 OTHER EXPENSES

5.1 Utilities.Port shallpay allfeescharged forutilitiesrequiredor needed by thePermitted

Use.

5.2 Taxes and Assessments. Port shallpay alltaxes(includingleaseholdexcisetaxes),

assessments,and othergovernmental charges applicableor attributabletothe Property,Port's

leaseholdinterest,the improvements, or Port'suse and enjoyment of theProperty.

5.3 Right to Contest. Ifingood faith,Port may contestany tax or assessment atitssolecost

and expense. At therequestof State,Port shallfurnishreasonableprotectionin the form of a

bond or othersecurity,satisfactoryto State,againstlossor liabilityresultingfrom such contest.

5.4 Proof of Payment. Ifrequiredby State,Port shallfurnishto Statereceiptsor other

appropriateevidence establishingthepayment of amounts thisLease requiresPorttopay.

5.5 Failure to Pay. IfPort failstopay amounts due under thisLease, Statemay pay the

amount due, and recover itscostin accordance with Section6.

SECTION 6 LATE PAYMENTS AND OTHER CHARGES

6.1 Failure to Pay Rent. Failuretopay rentisa defaultby thePort.Statemay seek remedies

under Section 14 as well as latecharges and interestas provided inthisSection6.

6.2 Late Charge. IfStatedoes not receivefullrentpayment within ten(10)days of the date

due,Port shallpay to Statea latecharge equal to fourpercent(4%) of theunpaid amount or Fifty
Dollars($50),whichever isgreater,todefraythe overhead expenses of Stateincidentto the

delay.

6.3 InterestPenalty for Past Due Rent and Other Sums Owed.

(a) Port shallpay intereston thepastdue rentattherateof one percent(1%) per
month untilpaid,inadditionto paying the latecharges determined under

Paragraph 6.2. Rent not paid by the closeof businesson thedue datewillbegin

accruing interestthe day afterthe due date.

(b) IfStatepays or advances any amounts foror on behalfof Port,Port shall

reimburse Stateforthe amount paid or advanced and shallpay intereston that

amount attherateof one percent(1%) per month from thedate StatenotifiesPort

of the payment or advance. This includes,but isnot limitedto,State'spayment

PortofBremerton Page7 of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo. 22-802235

WestEnd PortOrchard



201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 8 of 33

of taxesof any kind,assessments,insurancepremiums, costsof removal and

disposalof materialsor Improvements under any provisionof thisLease, or other

amounts not paid when due.

6.4 Referral to CollectionAgency and CollectionAgency Fees. IfStatedoes not receive

fullpayment withinthirty(30)days of the due date,Statemay refertheunpaid amount to a

collectionagency as provided by RCW 19.16.500or otherapplicablelaw.Upon referral,Port

shallpay collectionagency feesin additiontotheunpaid amount.

6.5 No Accord and Satisfaction.IfPortpays, or Stateotherwisereceives,an amount less

than the fullamount then due, Statemay apply such payment as itelects.Statemay accept

payment in any amount without prejudiceto State'srighttorecoverthebalance of therentor

pursue any otherrightor remedy. No endorsement or statementon any check, any payment, or

any letteraccompanying any check orpayment constitutesaccord and satisfaction.

6.6 No Counterclaim, Setoff,or Abatement of Rent. Except as expresslysetforth

elsewhere inthisLease, Port shallpay rentand allothersums payable by Portwithout the

requirementthatStateprovide priornoticeor demand. Port'spayment isnot subjectto

counterclaim,setoff,deduction,defenseor abatement.

SECTION 7 IMPROVEMENTS

7.1 Improvements Defined.

(a) "Improvements," consistentwith RCW 79.105 through 79.145,are additions

within,upon, or attachedto the land. This includes,but isnot limitedto,fill,

structures,bulkheads,docks,pilings,and otherfixtures.

(b) "Personal Property"means items thatcan be removed from theProperty without

(1)injurytothePropertyor Improvements or (2)diminishingthevalue or utility

of the Property or Improvements.

(c) "State-Owned Improvements" areImprovements made or owned by State.State-

Owned Improvements includesany construction,alteration,or additionto State-

Owned Improvements made by Port.

(d) "Port-Owned Improvements" areImprovements authorizedby Stateand (1)made

by Port or (2)acquiredby Port from the priortenant.

(e) "Unauthorized Improvements" areImprovements made on theProperty without

State'spriorconsent or Improvements made by Portthatdo not conform to plans

submitted to and approved by the State.

7.2 Existing Improvements. On the Commencement Date,the followingImprovements are

locatedon theProperty:Boardwalk, Bulkhead, Buildings. The Improvements arePort-Owned.

PortofBremerton Page8 of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo. 22-802235

WestEnd PortOrchard



201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 9 of 33

7.3 Construction, Major Repair, Modification, and Demolition.

(a) This Paragraph 7.3 governs construction,alteration,replacement,major repair,

modification,demolition,and deconstructionof Improvements ("Work"). Section

11 governs routinemaintenance and minor repair.

(b) All Work must conform torequirementsunder Paragraph 7.4.Paragraph 11.3,

which appliestoroutinemaintenance and minor repair,alsoappliesto allWork

under thisParagraph 7.3.

(c) Except in an emergency, Portshallnot conduct Work, without State'sprior
writtenconsent,as follows:

(1) Statemay deny consent ifStatedetermines thatdenialisinthebest

interestsof the Stateor ifproposed Work does not comply with Paragraph

7.4 and 11.3.Statemay impose additionalconditionsreasonablyintended

toprotectand preservetheProperty.IfWork isforremoval of

Improvements atEnd of Term, Statemay waive removal of some or all

Improvements.

(2) Except in an emergency, Port shallsubmit to Stateplans and specifications

describingtheproposed Work atleastsixty(60)days before submitting

permit applicationstoregulatoryauthoritiesunlessPort and State

otherwise agree to coordinatepermit applications.At a minimum, or ifno

permits arenecessary,Port shallsubmit plans and specificationsatleast

ninety(90) days before commencement of Work.

(3) Statewaives therequirement forconsent ifStatedoes not notifyPort of its

grantor denialof consentwithin sixty(60) days of submittal.

(d) Port shallnotifyStateof emergency Work within five(5)businessdays of the

startof such Work. Upon State'srequest,Port shallprovide Statewith plans and

specificationsor as-builtsof emergency Work.

(e) Portshallnot commence or authorizeWork untilPorthas:

(1) Obtained a performance and payment bond in an amount equalto zero

percent (0.0%) of the estimatedcostof construction.Portshallmaintain

theperformance and payment bond untilPortpays infullthecostsof the

Work, includingalllaborersand materialpersons.

(2) Obtained allrequiredpermits.

(f) Before completing Work, Port shallremove alldebrisand restoretheProperty,to

an orderlyand safecondition.IfWork isintended forremoval of Improvements at

End of Term, Port shallrestoretheProperty in accordance with Paragraph 3.3,

End of Term.

(g) Upon completing work, Port shallpromptly provide Statewith as-builtplans and

specifications.

(h) Stateshallnot charge rentforauthorizedImprovements installedby Port during
thisTerm of thisLease,but Statemay charge rentforsuch Improvements when

and ifPort or successorobtainsa subsequent use authorizationfortheProperty
and Statehas waived therequirement forImprovements tobe removed as

provided inParagraph 7.5.

PortofBremerton Page9 of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo.22-802235

WestEnd PortOrchard



s * 201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 10 of 33

7.4 Standards for Work. Port shallcomply with State'sStandards forImprovements

currentatthetime Port submits plans and specificationsforState'sapprovalin

accordance with Paragraph 7.3(b).

7.5 Port-Owned Improvements at End of Lease.

(a) Disposition.

(1) Port shallremove Port-Owned Improvements in accordance with

Paragraph 7.3 upon the expiration,termination,or cancellationof the

Lease unless Statewaives therequirement forremoval.

(2) Port-Owned Improvements remaining on the Propertyon the expiration,

terminationor cancellationdateshallbecome State-Owned Improvements

without payment by State,unlessStateelectsotherwise. Statemay refuse

or waive ownership. IfRCW 79.125.300 or 79.130.040 apply atthetime

thisLease expires,Port could be entitledto payment by thenew tenantfor

Port-Owned Improvements.

(3) IfPort-Owned Improvements remain on the Propertyaftertheexpiration,

termination,or cancellationdatewithout State'sconsent,Statemay

remove allImprovements and Port shallpay State'scosts.

(b) ConditionsUnder Which StateMay Waive Removal of Port-Owned

Improvements.

(1) Statemay waive removal of some or allPort-Owned Improvements

whenever Statedeterminesthatitisinthebest interestsof the Stateand

regardlessof whether Portre-leasestheProperty.

(2) IfPortre-leasestheProperty,Statemay waive requirementtoremove

Port-Owned Improvements. Statealsomay consent toPort'scontinued

ownership of Port-Owned Improvements.

(3) IfPortdoes not re-leasetheProperty,Statemay waive requirementto

remove Port-Owned Improvements upon considerationof a timelyrequest

from Port,as follows:

(i) Port must notifyStateatleastone (1)yearbefore theTermination

Date of itsrequestto leavePort-Owned Improvements.

(ii) State,within ninety(90)days of receivingPort'snotification,will

notifyPortwhether Stateconsentsto some or allPort-Owned

Improvements remaining.Statehas no obligationto grantconsent.

(iii) State'sfailuretorespond toPort'srequestto leaveImprovements

within ninety(90)days isa denialof therequest.

(c) Port'sObligationsifStateWaives Removal.

(1) Port shallnot remove Improvements ifStatewaives therequirement for

removal of some or allPort-Owned Improvements.

(2) Port shallmaintain such Improvements in accordance with thisLease until

the expiration,termination,or cancellationdate. Port isliableto Statefor

costof repairifPort causesor allows damage to Improvements Statehas

designatedto remain.

PortofBremerton Page10of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo.22-802235

West End PortOrchard



201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 11 of 33

7.6 Dispositionof Unauthorized Improvements.

(a) Unauthorized Improvements belong to State,unlessStateelectsotherwise.

(b) Statemay either:

(1) Consent to Port ownership of theImprovements, or

(2) Charge rentforuse of theImprovements from thetime of installationor

constructionand

(i) Require Porttoremove the Improvements in accordance with

Paragraph 7.3,inwhich case Port shallpay rentforthe

Improvements untilremoval,

(ii) Consent to Improvements remaining and Port shallpay rentforthe

use of theImprovements, or

(iii) Remove Improvements and Port shallpay forthe costof removal

and disposal,inwhich case Port shallpay rentforuse of the

Improvements untilremoval and disposal.

7.7 Dispositionof Personal Property.

(a) Portretainsownership of PersonalPropertyunlessPort and Stateagree otherwise

inwriting.

(b) Portshallremove Personal Propertyfrom thePropertyby the Termination Date.

Portisliablefordamage to thePropertyand Improvements resultingfrom

removal of Personal Property.

(c) Statemay sellor dispose of allPersonalPropertylefton thePropertyafterthe

Termination Date.

(1) IfStateconducts a saleof PersonalProperty,Stateshallapply proceeds
firsttothe State'sadministrativecostsin conducting the sale,second to

payment of amount thatthen may be due from the Portto the State.State

shallpay the remainder,ifany,tothe Port.

(2) IfStatedisposesof PersonalProperty,Port shallpay forthe costof

removal and disposal.

SECTION 8 ENVIRONMENTAL LIABILITY/RISK ALLOCATION

8.1 Definitions.

(a) "Hazardous Substance" means any substancethatnow or in the futurebecomes

regulatedor definedunder any federal,state,or localstatute,ordinance,rule,

regulation,or otherlaw relatingtohuman health,environmental protection,

contamination,pollution,or cleanup.

(b) "Release or threatenedreleaseof Hazardous Substance" means a releaseor

threatenedreleaseas defined under any law describedin Paragraph 8.1(a).

(c) "Utmost care"means such a degree of careaswould be exercisedby a very

careful,prudent,and competent person under the same or similarcircumstances;
thestandardof careapplicableunder theWashington StateModel Toxics Control

Act ("MTCA"), Chapter 70.105 RCW, as amended.

PortofBremerton Page 11of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo.22-802235
West End PortOrchard



201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 12 of 33

(d) "Port and affiliates"when used inthisSection8 means Port or Port'ssubtenants,

contractors,agents,employees, guests,invitees,licensees,affiliates,or any person

on thePropertywith the Port'spermission.

(e) "Liabilities"as used inthisSection8 means any claims,demands, proceedings,

lawsuits,damages, costs,expenses,fees(includingattorneys'feesand

disbursements),penalties,orjudgments.

8.2 General Conditions.

(a) Port'sobligationsunder thisSection8 extend to the areain,on, under,or above

(1) The Property and

(2) Adjacent State-owned aquaticlandsifaffectedby a releaseof Hazardous

Substances thatoccurs as a resultof thePermittedUse.

(b) Standard of Care.

(1) Portshallexercisethe utmost carewith respectto Hazardous Substances.

(2) Portshallexerciseutmost careforthe foreseeableactsor omissions of

thirdpartieswith respecttoHazardous Substances,and the foreseeable

consequences of those actsor omissions,to the extentrequiredto establish

a viable,third-partydefense under the law.

8.3 Current Conditions and Duty to Investigate.

(a) Statemakes no representationabout theconditionof the Property. Hazardous

Substancesmay existin,on, under,or above theProperty.

(b) This Lease does not impose a duty on Stateto conduct investigationsor supply

informationto Port about Hazardous Substances.

(c) Portisresponsibleforconducting allappropriateinquiryand gatheringsufficient

informationabout the existence,scope,and locationof Hazardous Substances on

or near thePropertynecessary forPorttomeet Port'sobligationsunder thisLease

and utilizetheProperty forthePermittedUse.

8.4 Use of Hazardous Substances.

(a) Port and affiliatesshallnot use,store,generate,process,transport,handle,release,

or disposeof Hazardous Substances,except inaccordance with allapplicable

laws.

(b) Portshallnot undertake,or allow otherstoundertakeby Port'spermission,

acquiescence,or failureto act,activitiesthatresultin a releaseor threatened

releaseof Hazardous Substances.

(c) Ifuse of Hazardous Substances relatedtoPort'suse or occupancy of theProperty

resultsinviolationof law:

(1) Portshallsubmit to Stateany plans forremedying the violations,and

(2) Portshallimplement any remedialmeasures to restorethePropertyor

naturalresourcesthatStatemay requirein additionto remedial measures

requiredby regulatoryauthorities.

(d) Port shallcomply with the provisionsof Chapter 90.56 RCW Oil and Hazardous

Substance SpillPrevention and Response Act. Port shalldevelop,update as

necessaryand operatein accordance with a plan of operationsconsistentwith the

PortofBremerton Page 12of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo.22-802235

West End PortOrchard



201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 13 of 33

requirementsof Chapter 90.56 RCW. Failuretocomply with therequirementsof

Chapter 90.56 isa defaultunder Section 14.

(e) At a minimum, Port and affiliatesshallobserve the followingHazardous

Substances operationalstandards.IftheWashington Department of Ecology, U.S.

Environmental ProtectionAgency or otherregulatoryagency establishesdifferent

standardsapplicabletoPort'sactivitiesunder thePermittedUse, Port shallmeet

the standardthatprovides greaterprotectiontothe environment.

(1) Portshallnot allow work on overwater structuresor vesselswithout

protectivemeasures toprevent dischargeof toxinsto the water,including:

(i) Port shallnot cause or allow underwater hullscrapingand other

underwater removal of paints.

(ii) Port shallnot cause or allow underwater refinishingwork from

boats or temporary floatsunlesspermittedby an industrial

NationalPollutionDischarge EliminationSystem (NPDES)

permit.

(iii) Port shallnot cause or allow above thewaterlineboat repairsor

refinishingin-waterexcept iflimitedto decks and superstructures
and lessthan 25 percentof a boat isrepairedor refinishedin-water

per year.

(iv) Port shalluse and requireotherstouse tarpsand otherdust,drip
and spillcontainment measures when repairingor refinishingboats

m water.

(2) Portshallnot storeor allow othersto storefueltanks,petroleum products,

hydraulicfluid,machinery coolants,lubricantsand chemicals not inuse in

locationsabove the water surface.

(3) Port shallinspectallequipment using petroleum products,hydraulic

fluids,machinery coolants,chemicals,or othertoxicor deleterious

materialson a monthly basisand immediately make allrepairsnecessary
to stopleakage. Port shallsubmit to Statean annual reportdocumenting

inspectionsand repair.

(4) Port shallmaintain a supply of oilspillcontainment materialsadequate to

containa spillfrom the largestvesselinuse on the Property.

(5) Portshallnot use or allow use of a pressurewasher atany locationabove

thewater surfaceto clean any item thatuses petroleum products.

(6) Portshallincorporatebestmanagement practicestoprevent thereleaseof

chemical contaminants,wastewater,garbage and otherpollutants,as

specifiedinResource Manual forPollutionPreventionin Marinas

publishedby theWashington Department of Ecology, publicationnumber

98-11,availableathttp://www.ecy.wa.gov/biblio/9811.html.Ifthe

Department of Ecology or otherregulatoryagency establishesdifferent

standards,Port shallmeet themost protectivestandard.

PortofBremerton Page 13of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo.22-802235
WestEnd PortOrchard



201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 14 of 33

8.5 Management of Contamination, ifany.

(a) Port and affiliatesshallnot undertake activitiesthat:

(1) Damage or interferewith theoperationof remedial or restoration

activities,ifany;

(2) Resultinhuman or environmental exposure to contaminated sediments,if

any;

(3) Resultinthemechanical or chemical disturbanceof on-sitehabitat

mitigation,ifany.

(b) Ifrequested,Port shallallow reasonableaccessto:

(1) Employees and authorizedagentsof theEnvironmental Protection

Agency, the Washington StateDepartment of Ecology, healthdepartment,

or othersimilarenvironmental agencies;and

(2) Potentiallyliableor responsiblepartieswho arethe subjectof an orderor

consentdecreethatrequiresaccessto theProperty. Port may negotiatean

accessagreement with such parties,but Portmay not unreasonably

withhold such agreement.

8.6 Notificationand Reporting.

(a) Port shallimmediately notifyStateifPortbecomes aware of any of the following:

(1) A releaseor threatenedreleaseof Hazardous Substances;

(2) Any new discoveryof or new informationabout a problem or liability

relatedto,or derived from, thepresence of Hazardous Substances;

(3) Any lienor actionarisingfrom Hazardous Substances;

(4) Any actualor allegedviolationof any federal,state,or localstatute,

ordinance,rule,regulation,or otherlaw pertainingtoHazardous

Substances;

(5) Any notificationfrom the US Environmental ProtectionAgency (EPA) or

the Washington StateDepartment of Ecology (DOE) thatremediationor

removal of Hazardous Substances isor may be requiredatthe Property.

(b) Port'sduty to reportunder Paragraph 8.6(a)extendsto landsdescribedin

Paragraph 8.2(a)and to any otherpropertyused by Port inconjunctionwith the

Property ifa releaseof Hazardous Substances on the otherproperty could affect

the Property.

(c) Port shallprovide Statewith copies of alldocuments Port submits to any federal,

stateor localauthoritiesconcerning environmental impacts or proposalsrelative

to the Property.Documents subjectto thisrequirementinclude,but arenot

limitedto,applications,reports,studies,or auditsforNational Pollution

Discharge and EliminationSystem Permits;Army Corps of Engineers permits;

StateHydraulic ProjectApprovals (HPA); StateWater Qualitycertification;

SubstantialDevelopment permit;and any reportingnecessary forthe existence,

location,and storageof Hazardous Substances on the Property.

PortofBremerton Page 14of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo. 22-802235

WestEnd PortOrchard



201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 15 of 33

8.7 Indemnification.

(a) To the extentallowed by law,Port shallfullyindemnify,defend,and hold State

harmless from and againstLiabilitiesthatariseout of,or relateto:

(1) The use,storage,generation,processing,transportation,handling,or

disposalof any Hazardous Substance by Port and affiliatesoccurring

whenever Portoccupies or has occupied theProperty;

(2) The releaseor threatenedreleaseof any Hazardous Substance resulting

from any actor omission of Port and affiliatesoccurringwhenever Port

occupies or has occupied theProperty.

(b) To the extentallowed by law,Port shallfullyindemnify,defend,and hold State

harmless forLiabilitiesthatariseout of or relatetoPort'sbreach of obligations

under Paragraph 8.5.

(c) . Port has no duty to indemnify Stateforactsor omissions of thirdpartiesunless

and only ifan administrativeor legalproceeding arisingfrom a releaseor

threatenedreleaseof Hazardous Substances findsor holds thatPort failedto

exercisecareas describedin Paragraph 8.2(b)(2).In such case,Port shallfully

indemnify, defend,and hold Stateharmless from and againstLiabilitiesarising

from the actsor omissions of thirdpartiesinrelationtothereleaseor threatened

releaseof Hazardous Substances. This includesLiabilitiesarisingbefore the

findingor holding intheproceeding.

8.8 Reservation of Rights.

(a) For Liabilitiesnot covered by the indemnificationprovisionsof Paragraph 8.7,the

Partiesexpresslyreserveand do not waive any rights,claims,immunities, causes

of action,or defensesrelatingto Hazardous Substances thateitherParty may have

againsttheotherunder law.

(b) The Partiesexpresslyreserveallrights,claims,immunities,and defenses either

Party may have againstthirdparties.Nothing inthisSection8 benefitsor creates

rightsforthirdparties.

(c) The allocationsof risks,Liabilities,and responsibilitiessetforthin thisSection8

do not releaseeitherParty from or affectthe liabilityof eitherParty forHazardous

Substances claims or actionsby regulatoryagencies.

8.9 Cleanup.

(a) IfPort'sact,omission,or breach of obligationunder Paragraph 8.4resultsin a

releaseof Hazardous Substances thatexceeds thethresholdlimitsof any

applicableregulatorystandard,Port shall,atPort'ssoleexpense,promptly take all

actionsnecessaryor advisableto cleanup theHazardous Substances in

accordance with applicablelaw.

(b) Port may undertake a cleanup of the Propertypursuanttothe Washington State

Department of Ecology's Voluntary Cleanup Program, provided thatPort

cooperateswith theDepartment of Natural Resources indevelopment of cleanup

plans. Port shallnot proceed with Voluntary Cleanup without the Department of

Natural Resources approval of finalplans. Nothing intheoperationof this

provisionisan agreement by theDepartment of NaturalResources thatthe

PortofBremerton Page15of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo. 22-802235

WestEnd PortOrchard



201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 16 of 33

Voluntary Cleanup complies with any laws or with theprovisionsof thisLease.

Port'scompletion of a Voluntary Cleanup isnot a releasefrom or waiver of any

obligationforHazardous Substances under thisLease.

8.10 Sampling by State,Reimbursement, and SplitSamples.

(a) Statemay enterthe Propertyand conduct sampling,tests,audits,surveys,or

investigations("Tests")of the Propertyatany time to determine the existence,

scope,or effectsof Hazardous Substances.

(b) Ifsuch Tests,along with any otherinformation,demonstrate a breach of Port's

obligationsregardingHazardous Substances under thisLease,Port shallpromptly

reimburse Stateforallcostsassociatedwith theTests,provided Stategave Port

thirty(30)calendardays advance noticein nonemergencies and reasonably

practicalnoticein emergencies.

(c) In nonemergencies, Port isentitledto obtainsplitsamples of Test samples,

provided Port givesStatewrittennoticerequestingsplitsamples atleastten (10)

calendardays before Stateconducts Tests. Upon demand, Port shallpromptly

reimburse Stateforadditionalcost,ifany, of splitsamples.

(d) IfeitherParty conducts Testson theProperty,theconducting Party shallprovide

the otherwith validatedfinaldataand qualityassurance/qualitycontrol/chainof

custody informationabout theTestswithin sixty(60)calendardays of a written

requestby the otherparty,unlessTestsarepartof a submittalunder Paragraph

8.6(c)inwhich case Port shallsubmit data and informationto Statewithout

writtenrequestby State.Neitherpartyisobligatedtoprovide any analytical

summaries or thework product of experts.

8.11 Closeout Assessment.

(a) Statemay requirePortto conduct a Closeout Environmental Assessment

("CloseoutAssessment") priorto Termination of the Lease.

(b) The purpose of the Closeout Assessment isto determine the existence,scope, or

effectsof Hazardous Substances on the Property and associatednaturalresources.

The Closeout Assessment may includesediment sampling.

(c) No laterthan one hundred eighty(180) calendardays priortotheTermination

Date, or withinninety(90)days of validnoticeto earlytermination,Stateshall

provide Port with writtennoticethatStaterequiresa Closeout Assessment.

(d) Within sixty(60)days of State'snoticethatCloseout Assessment isrequiredand

before commencing assessment activities,Port shallsubmit a proposed plan for

conducting the Closeout Assessment inwritingforState'sapproval.

(e) IfStatefailsto approve or disapprove of the plan inwritingwithin sixty(60) days

of itsreceipt,Statewaives requirement forapproval.

(f) Port shallbe responsibleforallcostsrequiredto complete planning,sampling,

analyzing,and reportingassociatedwith the Closeout Assessment.

(g) Ifthe initialresultsof the Closeout Assessment disclosethatHazardous

Substances may have migrated tootherproperty,Statemay requireadditional

Closeout Assessment work to determine the existence,scope,and effectof

PortofBremerton Page16of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo. 22-802235

WestEnd PortOrchard



201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 17 of 33

Hazardous Substances on adjacentproperty,any otherpropertysubjecttouse by

Port inconjunctionwith itsuse of theProperty,or on associatednaturalresources.

(h) Port shallsubmit Closeout Assessment to Stateupon completion.

(i) As requiredby law,Port shallreportto the appropriateregulatoryauthoritiesif

theCloseout Assessment disclosesa releaseor threatenedreleaseof Hazardous

Substances.

SECTION 9 ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING

9.1 State Consent Required. Port shallnot convey, transfer,or encumber any partof Port's

interestinthisLease or the Propertywithout State'spriorwrittenconsent,which Stateshallnot

unreasonably conditionor withhold.

(a) In determining whether to consent,Statemay consider,among otheritems,the

proposed transferee'sfinancialcondition,businessreputationand experience,the

natureof theproposed transferee'sbusiness,the then-currentvalue of the

Property,and such otherfactorsasmay reasonablybear upon the suitabilityof the

transfereeas a tenantof theProperty. Statemay refuseitsconsent to any

conveyance, transfer,or encumbrance ifitwillresultin a subdivisionof the

leasehold.Port shallsubmit informationregardingany proposed transfereeto

Stateatleastthirty(30)days priortothe dateof theproposed transfer.

(b) Statereservestherightto conditionitsconsent upon:

(1) Changes in theterms and conditionsof thisLease,including,but not

limitedto,theAnnual Rent; and/or

(2) The agreement of Port or transfereeto conduct Tests forHazardous

Substances on thePropertyor on otherpropertyowned or occupied by

Port or the transferee.

(c) Each permittedtransfereeshallassume allobligationsunder thisLease,including

thepayment of rent.No assignment,sublet,or transfershallrelease,discharge,or

otherwiseaffectthe liabilityof Port.

(d) State'sconsent under thisParagraph 9.1 does not constitutea waiver of any

claims againstPort fortheviolationof any term of thisLease.

9.2 Rent Payments Following Assignment. The acceptance by Stateof thepayment of rent

followingan assignment or othertransferdoes not constituteconsent to any assignment or

transfer.

9.3 Terms of Subleases.

(a) Port shallsubmit the terms of allsubleasesto Stateforapproval.

(b) Port shallincorporatethe followingrequirements in allsubleases:

(1) The subleasemust be consistentwith and subjectto alltheterms and

conditionsof thisLease;

(2) The subleasemust provide thatthisLease controlsiftheterms of the

subleaseconflictwith theterms of thisLease;

PortofBremerton Page17of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo.22-802235

WestEnd PortOrchard



201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 18 of 33

(3) The term of the sublease(includingany period oftime covered by a

renewal option)must end beforethe Termination Date of theinitialTerm

or any renewal term;

(4) The subleasemust terminateifthisLease terminatesforany reason;

(5) The subtenantmust receiveand acknowledge receiptof a copy of this

Lease;

(6) The subleasemust prohibittheprepayment toPortby the subtenantof

more than the annual rent;

(7) The subleasemust identifytherentalamount subtenantistopay toPort;

(8) The subleasemust provide thatthereisno privityof contractbetween the

subtenantand State;

(9) The subleasemust requireremoval of the subtenant'sImprovements and

PersonalProperty upon terminationof the sublease;

(10) The subtenant'spermitteduse must be within the scope of thePermitted

Use; and

(11) The subleasemust requirethe subtenantto meet allobligationsof Port

under Section 10,Indemnification,FinancialSecurity,and Insurance.

9.4 Short-Term Subleases of Moorage Slips.Short-termsubleasingof moorage slipsfora

term of lessthan one (1)year does not requireState'swrittenconsent or approvalpursuantto

Paragraphs 9.1or 9.3. Portshallconform moorage subleaseagreements tothe sublease

requirements inParagraph 9.3.

SECTION 10 INDEMNITY, FINANCIAL SECURITY, INSURANCE

10.1 Indemnity. Each Party shallbe responsibleforthe actionsand inactionsof itselfand its

own officers,employees, and agentsactingwithinthe scope of theirauthority.

10.2 Insurance Terms.

(a) InsuranceRequired.

(1) At itsown expense, Portshallprocure and maintain duringtheTerm of

thisLease, the insurancecoverages and limitsdescribedinthisParagraph

10.2and in Paragraph 10.3,InsuranceTypes and Limits. Statemay
terminatethisLease ifPort failsto maintain requiredinsurance.

(2) Unless Stateagrees to an exception,Port shallprovide insuranceissuedby

an insurancecompany or companies admitted to do businessinthe State

of Washington and have a ratingof A- or betterby themost recently

published editionof Best'sReports. Portmay submit a requesttotherisk

manager forthe Department of NaturalResources to approve an exception
tothisrequirement. Ifan insurerisnot admitted,the insurancepolicies
and procedures forissuingtheinsurancepoliciesshallcomply with

Chapter 48.15 RCW and 284-15 WAC.

(3) All generalliability,excess,umbrella,property,builder'srisk,and

pollutionlegalliabilityinsurancepoliciesmust name the Stateof

PortofBremerton Page 18of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo.22-802235

West End PortOrchard



201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 19 of 33

Washington, theDepartment of NaturalResources, itselectedand

appointedofficials,agents,and employees as an additionalinsured.

(4) All insuranceprovided in compliance with thisLease must be primary as

to any otherinsuranceor self-insuranceprograms affordedtoor

maintained by State.

(b) Waiver.

(1) Portwaives allrightsagainstStateforrecovery of damages tothe extent

insurancemaintained pursuanttothisLease covers thesedamages.

(2) Except asprohibitedby law, Portwaives allrightsof subrogationagainst

Stateforrecovery of damages to theextentthatthey are covered by

insurancemaintained pursuant tothisLease.

(c) Proofoflnsurance.

(1) Port shallprovide Statewith a certificate(s)of insuranceexecuted by a

duly authorizedrepresentativeof each insurer,showing compliance with

insurancerequirements specifiedinthisLease and, ifrequested,copiesof

policiesto State.

(2) The certificate(s)of insurancemust referenceadditionalinsuredsand the

Lease number.

(3) Receipt of such certificatesor policiesby Statedoes not constitute

approvalby Stateof the terms of such policies.

(d) Statemust receivewrittennoticebefore cancellationor non-renewal of any
insurancerequiredby thisLease, as follows:

(1) Insurerssubjectto RCW 48.18 (admittedand regulatedby the Insurance

Commissioner): Ifcancellationisdue tonon-payment of premium,

provide Stateten(10) days' advance noticeof cancellation;otherwise,

provide Stateforty-five(45)days' advance noticeof cancellationor non-

renewal.

(2) Insurerssubjectto RCW 48.15 (surpluslines):Ifcancellationisdue to

non-payment ofpremium, provide Stateten (10)days' advance noticeof

cancellation;otherwise,provide Statethirty(30)days' advance noticeof

cancellationor non-renewal.

(e) Adjustments inInsuranceCoverage.

(1) Statemay impose changes inthe limitsof liabilityforalltypes of

insuranceas Statedeems necessary.

(2) Port shallsecurenew or modified insurancecoverage within thirty(30)

days afterStaterequireschanges inthelimitsof liability.

(f) IfPort failstoprocure and maintain theinsurancedescribedabove withinfifteen

(15)days afterPortreceivesa noticeto comply from State,Statemay either:

(1) Deem the failurean Event of Defaultunder Section 14,or

(2) Procure and maintain comparable substituteinsuranceand pay the

premiums. Upon demand, Port shallpay to Statethe fullamount paid by

State,togetherwith interestattherateprovided in Paragraph 6.2 from the

dateof State'snoticeof the expenditureuntilPort'srepayment.

PortofBremerton Page 19of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo.22-802235

WestEnd PortOrchard



201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 20 of 33

(g) General Terms.

(1) Statedoes not representthatcoverage and limitsrequiredunder thisLease

areadequate toprotectPort.

(2) Coverage and limitsdo not limitPort'sliabilityforindemnificationand

reimbursements grantedto Stateunder thisLease.

(3) The Partiesshalluse any insuranceproceeds payable by reason of damage
or destructiontopropertyfirsttorestoretherealpropertycovered by this

Lease,then to pay the costof thereconstruction,then topay the Stateany
sums in arrears,and then toPort.

10.3 Insurance Types and Limits.

(a) General LiabilityInsurance.

(1) Port shallmaintain commercial generalliabilityinsurance(CGL) or

marine generalliability(MGL) covering claims forbodily injury,personal

injury,or propertydamage arisingon thePropertyand/or arisingout of

Port'suse,occupation,or controlof thePropertyand, ifnecessary,
commercial umbrella insurancewith a limitof not lessthan One Million

Dollars($1,000.000)per each occurrence. Ifsuch CGL or MGL insurance

containsaggregatelimits,the generalaggregatelimitmust be atleast

twice the "each occurrence" limit.CGL or MGL insurancemust have

products-completedoperationsaggregatelimitof atleasttwo times the

"each occurrence" limit.

(2) CGL insurancemust be writtenon InsuranceServicesOffice (ISO)
Occurrence Form CG 00 01 (ora substituteform providing equivalent

coverage). All insurancemust cover liabilityarisingout of premises,

operations,independent contractors,productscompleted operations,

personalinjuryand advertisinginjury,and liabilityassumed under an

insuredcontract(includingthe tortliabilityof anotherpartyassumed in a

businesscontract)and containseparationof insured(cross-liability)
condition.

(3) MGL insurancemust have no exclusionsfornon-owned watercraft.

(b) Workers' Compensation.

(1) Stateof Washington Workers' Compensation.

(i) Port shallcomply with allStateof Washington workers'

compensation statutesand regulations.Portshallprovide workers'

compensation coverage forallemployees of Port. Coverage must

includebodily injury(includingdeath)by accidentor disease,
which arisesout of or in connectionwith Port'suse,occupation,
and controlof the Property.

(ii) IfPort failsto comply with allStateof Washington workers'

compensation statutesand regulationsand Stateincursfinesor is

requiredby law toprovide benefitsto or obtaincoverage forsuch

employees, Port shallindemnify State.Indemnity shallincludeall

fines;payment of benefitsto Port,employees, or theirheirsor

PortofBremerton Page20 of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo. 22-802235
WestEnd PortOrchard



201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 21 of 33

legalrepresentatives;and the costof effectingcoverage on behalf

of such employees.

(2) Longshore and Harbor Workers' and Jones Acts. Longshore and Harbor

Workers' Act (33 U.S.C. Section901 etseq.)and/ortheJones Act (46

U.S.C. Section688) may requirePorttoprovide insurancecoverage in

some circumstances. Port shallascertainifsuch insuranceisrequired

and,ifrequired,shallmaintain insuranceincompliance with law. Port is

responsibleforallciviland criminalliabilityarisingfrom failureto

maintain such coverage.

(c) Employers' LiabilityInsurance.Port shallprocure employers' liabilityinsurance,

and, ifnecessary,commercial umbrella liabilityinsurancewith limitsnot lessthan

One MillionDollars($1,000,000)each accidentforbodilyinjuryby accidentor

One Million Dollars($1,000,000)each employee forbodilyinjuryby disease.

(d) Property Insurance.

(1) Port shallbuy and maintain propertyinsurancecovering allrealproperty
and fixtures,equipment, Port Improvements and betterments(regardlessof

whether owned by Portor State).Such insurancemust be writtenon an all

risksbasisand, atminimum, cover theperilsinsuredunder ISO Special
Causes of Loss Form CP 10 30, and cover the fullreplacement cost of the

propertyinsured.Such insurancemay have commercially reasonable

deductibles.Any coinsurancerequirement inthepolicymust be waived.

The policymust includeStateas an insuredand a losspayee.

(2) In the event of any loss,damage, or casualtywhich iscovered by one or

more of thetypesof insurancedescribedabove, thePartiesto thisLease

shallproceed cooperativelyto settlethe lossand collecttheproceeds of

such insurance,which Stateshallhold intrust,includinginterestearned by
Stateon such proceeds,foruse according totheterms of thisLease. The

Partiesshalluse insuranceproceeds in accordance with

Paragraph 10.2(g)(3).

(3) When sufficientfunds areavailable,using insuranceproceeds described

above, thePartiesshallcontinuewith reasonablediligenceto prepare

plans and specificationsfor,and thereaftercarryout,allwork necessary
to:

(i) Repair and restoredamaged building(s)and/orImprovements to

theirformer condition,or

(ii) Replace and restoredamaged building(s)and/orImprovements
with a new building(s)and/or Improvements on theProperty of a

qualityand usefulnessatleastequivalentto or more suitablethan,

damaged building(s)and/or Improvements.

10.4 Financial Security.

(a) At itsown expense,Portshallprocure and maintain duringtheTerm of thisLease

a corporatesecuritybond or provide otherfinancialsecuritythatState,atits

option,may approve ("Security").Port shallprovide Securityin an amount equal
to Zero Dollars($0.00),which isconsistentwith RCW 79.105.330,and secures

PortofBremerton Page21 of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo. 22-802235
WestEnd PortOrchard



201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 22 of 33

Port'sperformance of itsobligationsunder thisLease,with the exceptionof the

obligationsunder Section8,Environmental Liability/RiskAllocation.Port's

failuretomaintain the Securityintherequiredamount duringtheTerm

constitutesa breach of thisLease.

(b) All Securitymust be ina form acceptableto the State.

(1) Bonds must be issuedby companies admitted to do businesswithinthe

Stateof Washington and have a ratingof A-, Class VII or better,inthe

most recentlypublishededitionof Best'sReports,unlessStateapproves

an exception. Portmay submit a requesttotheriskmanager forthe

Department of NaturalResources foran exceptiontothisrequirement.

(2) Lettersof credit,ifapproved by State,must be irrevocable,allow Stateto

draw funds atwill,provide forautomatic renewal,and comply with

RCW 62A.5-101, et.seq.

(3) Savings account assignments,ifapproved by State,must allow Stateto

draw funds atwill.

(c) Adjustment in Amount of Security.

(1) Statemay requirean adjustment inthe Securityamount:

(i) At the same time as revaluationof the Annual Rent,

(ii) As a conditionof approvalof assignment or subleaseof thisLease,

(iii) Upon a materialchange inthe conditionor dispositionof any

Improvements, or

(iv) Upon a change inthePermittedUse.

(2) Port shalldelivera new or modified form of Securityto Statewithin thirty

(30)days afterStatehas requiredadjustment of theamount of the

Security.

(d) Upon any defaultby Port initsobligationsunder thisLease, Statemay collecton

the Securityto offsetthe liabilityof Portto State.Collectionon the Securitydoes

not:

(1) Relieve Port of liability,

(2) Limit any of State'sotherremedies,

(3) Reinstateor cure thedefault,or

(4) Prevent terminationof theLease because of the default.

SECTION 11 ROUTINE MAINTENANCE AND REPAIR

11.1 State'sRepairs. This Lease does not obligateStatetomake any alterations,

maintenance, replacements,or repairsin,on, or about theProperty,or any partthereof,during

the Term.

11.2 Port'sRepairs and Maintenance

(a) Routine maintenance and repairareactsintendedto preventa decline,lapseor,

cessationof the Permitted Use and associatedImprovements. Routine

maintenance or repairisthetype of work thatdoes not requireregulatorypermits.

PortofBremerton Page22 of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo.22-802235

West End PortOrchard



* 201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 23 of 33

(b) At Port'sown expense,Port shallkeep and maintain the Property and all

Improvements in good order and repairand in a safecondition.State'sconsent is

not requiredforroutinemaintenance or repair.

(c) At Port'sown expense,Port shallmake any additions,repairs,alterations,

maintenance, replacements,or changes totheProperty or to any Improvements on

thePropertythatany publicauthoritymay require.Ifa publicauthorityrequires
work beyond the scope of routinemaintenance and repair,Port shallcomply with

Section7 of thisLease.

11.3 Limitations. The followinglimitationsapply whenever Port conducts maintenance,

repairor replacement.The followinglimitationsalsoapply whenever Port conducts

maintenance, repair,or replacement on theexteriorsurfaces,features,or fixturesof a

floatinghouse.

(a) Port shallnot use or installtreatedwood atany locationabove or below water,

exceptthatPortmay use treatedwood forabove water structuralframing.

(b) Port shallnot use or installtires(forexample, floatationor fenders)atany
locationabove or below water.

SECTION 12 DAMAGE OR DESTRUCTION

12.1 Notice and Repair.

(a) In the eventof damage to or destructionof theProperty or Improvements, Port

shallpromptly give writtennoticeto State.Statedoes not have actualknowledge
of the damage or destructionwithout Port'swrittennotice.

(b) Unless otherwiseagreed inwriting,Portshallpromptly reconstruct,repair,or

replacetheProperty and Improvements asnearlyas possibleto itscondition

immediately priortothe damage or destructionin accordance with Paragraph 7.3,

Construction,Major Repair,Modification,and Demolition and Port'sadditional

obligationsinExhibitB, ifany.

12.2 State'sWaiver of Claim. Statedoes not waive any claims fordamage or destructionof

theProperty unlessStateprovideswrittennoticetoPortof each specificclaim waived.

12.3 Insurance Proceeds. Port'sduty to reconstruct,repair,or replaceany damage or

destructionof thePropertyor any Improvements on thePropertyisnot conditionedupon the

availabilityof any insuranceproceeds to Port from which thecostof repairsmay be paid.The

Partiesshalluse insuranceproceeds in accordance with Paragraph 10.2(g)(3).

12.4 Rent in the Event of Damage or Destruction. Unless thePartiesagree to terminatethis

Lease, thereisno abatement or reductioninrentduringsuch reconstruction,repair,and

replacement.

12.5 Default at the Time of Damage or Destruction. IfPort isin defaultunder theterms of

thisLease atthetime damage or destructionoccurs,Statemay electto terminatetheLease and

PortofBremerton Page23 of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo.22-802235
WestEnd PortOrchard



201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 24 of 33

Statethen shallhave the righttoretainany insuranceproceeds payable as a resultof the damage

or destruction.

SECTION 13 CONDEMNATION

13.1 Definitions.

(a) "Taking" means thatan entityauthorizedby law exercisesthepower of eminent

domain, eitherby judgment, settlementin lieuofjudgment, or voluntary

conveyance inlieuof formal courtproceedings,over allor any portionof the

Propertyand Improvements. This includesany exerciseof eminent domain on

any portionof theProperty and Improvements that,inthejudgment of the State,

preventsor rendersimpracticalthePermittedUse.

(b) "Date of Taking" means the dateupon which titletotheProperty or a portionof

thePropertypassesto and vestsinthe condemner or the effectivedateof any

order forpossessionifissuedpriorto thedatetitlevestsinthe condemner.

13.2 Effect of Taking. Ifthereisa taking,the Lease terminatesproportionatetothe extentof

thetaking. IfthisLease terminatesinwhole or inpart,Port shallmake allpayments due and

attributabletothe taken Propertyup to the date of taking.IfPorthas pre-paidrentand Portis

not in defaultof the Lease, Stateshallrefund Portthepro ratashareof thepre-paidrent

attributableto theperiod afterthedateof taking.

13.3 Allocation of Award.

(a) The Partiesshallallocatethe condemnation award based upon the ratioof the fair

market value of (1)Port'sleaseholdestateand Port-Owned Improvements and

(2)State'sinterestintheProperty;thereversionaryinterestin Port-Owned

Improvements, ifany; and State-Owned Improvements, ifany.

(b) IfPort and Stateareunable to agree on the allocation,thePartiesshallsubmit the

disputetobinding arbitrationin accordance with therulesof the American

ArbitrationAssociation.

SECTION 14 DEFAULT AND REMEDIES

14.1 Default Defined. Portisindefaultof thisLease on theoccurrence of any of the

following:

(a) Failuretopay rentor otherexpenses when due;

(b) Failureto comply with any law, regulation,policy,or orderof any lawful

governmental authority;

(c) Failuretocomply with any otherprovisionof thisLease;

(d) Commencement of bankruptcy proceedingsby or againstPort or the appointment

of a trusteeor receiverof Port'sproperty.

PortofBremerton Page24 of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo.22-802235

WestEnd PortOrchard



201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 25 of 33

14.2 Port's Right to Cure.

(a) A defaultbecomes an "Event of Default"ifPort failsto curethe defaultwithin

the applicablecure followingState'swrittennoticeof default.Upon an Event of

Default,Statemay seek remedies under Paragraph 14.3.

(b) Unless expresslyprovided elsewhere inthisLease,thecureperiod issixty(60)

days.

(c) For nonmonetary defaultsnot capable of cure within sixty(60)days, Statewill

not unreasonably withhold approval of a reasonablealternativecure schedule.

Port must submit a cure schedule withinthirty(30)days of a noticeof default.

The defaultisnot an Event of DefaultifStateapproves the schedule and Port

works diligentlyand in good faithto execute thecure.The defaultisan Event of

Default ifPort failstotimely submit a schedule or failsto cure in accordance with

an approved schedule.

(d) Statemay electto deem a defaultby Port as an Event of Defaultifthe default

occurs within six(6)months aftera defaultby Port forwhich Statehas provided

noticeand opportunityto cure and regardlessof whether the firstand subsequent
defaultsareof the same nature.

14.3 Remedies.

(a) Upon an Event of Default,Statemay terminatethisLease and remove Port by

summary proceedings or otherwise.

(b) Ifthe Event of Default(1)arisesfrom Port'sfailureto comply with restrictionson

Permitted Use and operationsunder Paragraph 2.2 or (2)resultsin damage to

naturalresourcesor theProperty,Statemay enterthePropertywithout

terminatingthisLease to (1)restorethenaturalresourcesor Property and charge
Port restorationcostsand/or(2)charge Port fordamages. On demand by State,
Port shallpay allcostsand/ordamages.

(c) Without terminatingthisLease, Statemay reletthePropertyon any terms and

conditionsas Statemay decide areappropriate.

(1) Stateshallapply rentreceivedby reletting:(1)tothepayment of any
indebtednessotherthan rentdue from Portto State;(2)to thepayment of

any costof such reletting;(3)to thepayment of the costof any alterations

and repairstotheProperty;and (4)tothepayment of rentand leasehold

excisetax due and unpaid under thisLease. Stateshallhold and apply any
balance toPort'sfuturerentas itbecomes due.

(2) Port isresponsibleforany deficiencycreatedby therelettingduring any
month and shallpay the deficiencymonthly.

(3) At any time afterreletting,Statemay electto terminatethisLease forthe

previousEvent of Default.

(d) State'sreentryor repossessionof the Propertyunder Paragraph 14.3 isnot an

electiontoterminatethisLease or cause a forfeitureof rentsor othercharges Port

isobligatedtopay during thebalance of the Term, unless(1)Stategives Port

writtennoticeof terminationor (2)a legalproceeding decreestermination.

PortofBremerton Page25 of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo. 22-802235
WestEnd PortOrchard



201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 26 of 33

(e) The remedies specifiedunder thisParagraph 14.3arenot exclusiveof any other

remedies or means of redresstowhich the StateislawfullyentitledforPort's

breach or threatenedbreach of any provisionof thisLease.

SECTION 15 ENTRY BY STATE

Statemay entertheProperty atany reasonablehour to inspectforcompliance with theterms of

thisLease,to monitor impacts tohabitat,or survey habitatand species.State'sfailureto inspect

thePropertydoes not constitutea waiver of any rightsor remedies under thisLease.

SECTION 16 DISCLAIMER OF QUIET ENJOYMENT

16.1 No Guaranty or Warranty.

(a) StatebelievesthatthisLease isconsistentwith thePublicTrustDoctrine and that

none of thethird-partyinterestsidentifiedinParagraph 1.1(b)willmateriallyor

adverselyaffectPort'srightofpossessionand use of theProperty,but State

makes no guaranty or warranty tothateffect.

(b) Statedisclaimsand PortreleasesStatefrom any claim forbreach of any implied

covenant of quietenjoyment. This disclaimerand releaseincludes,but isnot

limitedto,interferencearisingfrom exerciseof rightsunder thePublicTrust

Doctrine;Treaty rightsheld by IndianTribes;and the generalpower and authority

of Stateand theUnited Stateswith respectto aquaticlandsand navigablewaters.

(c) Portisresponsiblefordeterminingthe extentof Port'srighttopossessionand for

defending Port'sleaseholdinterest.

16.2 Eviction by Third-Party. Ifa third-partyevictsPort,thisLease terminatesas of the date

of the eviction.In the event of a partialeviction,Port'srentobligationsabateas of the date of

thepartialeviction,in directproportionto the extentof the eviction;thisLease shallremain in

fullforceand effectin allotherrespects.

SECTION 17 NOTICE AND SUBMITTALS

Following arethe locationsfordeliveryof noticeand submittalsrequiredor permittedunder this

Lease. Any Partymay change theplaceof deliveryupon ten (10)days writtennoticeto the

other.

State: DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES

Aquatic Resources Division,PortsProgram

1111 Washington StreetSE MS 47027

Olympia, WA 98504-7027

PortofBremerton Page26 of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo. 22-802235

WestEnd PortOrchard



* * 201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 27 of 33

Port: PORT OF BREMERTON

8850 SW StateHighway 3

Port Orchard, WA 98367-7487

The Partiesmay deliverany noticeinperson,by facsimilemachine, or by certifiedmail.

Depending on themethod of delivery,noticeiseffectiveupon personaldelivery,upon receiptof

a confirmationreportifdeliveredby facsimilemachine, or three(3)days aftermailing. All

noticesmust identifythe Lease number. On noticestransmittedby facsimilemachine, the

Partiesshallstatethenumber of pages containedinthenotice,includingthetransmittalpage, if

any.

SECTION 18 MISCELLANEOUS

18.1 Authority. Port and theperson or persons executingthisLease on behalfof Port

representthatPortisqualifiedto do businessinthe Stateof Washington, thatPorthas fullright

and authorityto enterintothisLease, and thateach and every person signingon behalfof Port is

authorizedto do so. Upon State'srequest,Port shallprovide evidence satisfactoryto State

confirming theserepresentations.

18.2 Successors and Assigns. This Lease binds and inuresto thebenefitof the Parties,their

successors,and assigns.

18.3 Headings. The headings used inthisLease are forconvenience only and inno way
define,limit,or extend thescope of thisLease or the intentof any provision.

18.4 Entire Agreement. This Lease,includingthe exhibitsand addenda, ifany,containsthe

entireagreement of the Parties.This Lease merges allpriorand contemporaneous agreements,

promises,representations,and statementsrelatingtothistransactionor totheProperty.

18.5 Waiver.

(a) The waiver of any breach or defaultof any term, covenant,or conditionof this

Lease isnot a waiver of such term,covenant,or condition;of any subsequent
breach or defaultof the same; or of any otherterm, covenant,or conditionof this

Lease. State'sacceptance of a rentalpayment isnot a waiver of any preceding or

existingbreach otherthan the failuretopay theparticularrentalpayment thatwas

accepted.

(b) The renewal of the Lease, extensionof the Lease, or the issuanceof a new leaseto

Port,does not waive State'sabilitytopursue any rightsor remedies under the

Lease.

18.6 Cumulative Remedies. The rightsand remedies under thisLease arecumulative and in

additionto allotherrightsand remedies affordedby law or equityor otherwise.

PortofBremerton Page27 of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo.22-802235

West End PortOrchard



201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 28 of 33

18.7 Time isof the Essence. TIME IS OF THE ESSENCE as to each and every provisionof

thisLease.

18.8 Language. The word "Port" as used inthisLease appliesto one or more persons and

regardlessof gender,as thecase may be. Ifthereismore than one Port,theirobligationsare

jointand several.The word "persons,"whenever used,shallincludeindividuals,firms,

associations,and corporations.The word "Parties"means Stateand Port inthe collective.The

word "Party"means eitheror both Stateand Port,depending on the context.

18.9 Invalidity.The invalidity,voidness,or illegalityof any provisionof thisLease does not

affect,impair,or invalidateany otherprovisionof thisLease.

18.10 Applicable Law and Venue. This Lease istobe interpretedand construedin

accordance with the laws of the Stateof Washington. Venue forany actionarisingout of or in

connection with thisLease isinthe SuperiorCourt forThurston County, Washington.

18.11 Statutory Reference. Any referenceto a statutemeans thatstatuteas presentlyenacted

or hereafteramended or superseded.

18.12 Recordation. At Port'sexpense and no laterthan thirty(30)days afterreceivingthe

fully-executedLease,Port shallrecord thisLease inthe county inwhich the Propertyislocated.

Port shallincludetheparcelnumber of the upland propertyused in conjunctionwith the

Property,ifany.Port shallprovide Statewith recordinginformation,includingthedateof

recordationand filenumber. IfPort failsto recordthisLease,Statemay record itand Port shall

pay the costsof recordingupon State'sdemand.

18.13 Modification. No modificationof thisLease iseffectiveunlessinwritingand signed by
both Parties.Oral representationsor statementsdo not bind eitherParty.

18.14 Survival. Any obligationsof Port not fullyperformed upon terminationof thisLease do

not cease,but continueas obligationsof the PortuntilAlly performed.

PortofBremerton Page28 of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo.22-802235

West End PortOrchard



201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 29 of 33

18.15 Exhibits. All referencedexhibitsareincorporatedinthe Lease unlessexpresslyidentified

as unincorporated.

THIS AGREEMENT requiresthe signatureof allPartiesand iseffectiveon the dateof the last

signaturebelow.

PORT REMERTON

Dated: Sy! ,2011

By: CAR BOZEMAN

Title: Chief Executive Officer

Address: 8850 SW StateHighway 3

-PortOrchard, WA 98367-7487

Phone: 360-674-2381 ext.12

STATE OF WASHINGTON

DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES

Dated: ,2011

By: PETE OL MARK

Title: Co issionr of Public Lands

Address: 1111 mgton StreetSE M/S 47027

Olympia, WA 98504-7027

Approved as to form this

29 day of June 2011

JanisSnoey, AssistantAttorney General

PortofBremerton Page29 of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo.22-802235

West End PortOrchard



201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 30 of 33

REPRESENTATIVE ACKNOWLEDGMENT

STATE OF WASHINGTON )

) ss

County of Kitsap )

IcertifythatIknow or have satisfactoryevidence thatCARY BOZEMAN istheperson who

appeared beforeme, and saidperson acknowledged thathe signedthisinstrument,on oath stated

thathe was authorizedto executetheinstrumentand acknowledged itasthe Chief Executive

Directorof thePort of Bremerton tobe the freeand voluntaryactof such partyfortheuses and

purposes mentioned intheinstrument.

Dated: d '-II( .JM M

(Sealor stamp)

(PrintName)

4 0; . . Notary Publicinand forthe Stateof

a .*$+,son Washington, residingat
iti.'SOTAR

My appointment expires I LA

PortofBremerton Page30 of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo. 22-802235
WestEnd PortOrchard



201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 31 of 33

STATE ACKNOWLEDGMENT

STATE OF WASHINGTON )

) ss

County of Thurston )

IcertifythatIknow or have satisfactoryevidence thatPETER GOLDMARK istheperson who

appeared beforeme, and saidperson acknowledged thathe signedthisinstrument,6n oath stated

thathe was authorizedto executetheinstrumentand acknowledged itas the Commissioner of

PublicLands and ex officioadministratorof the De artment of NaturalResources of the Stateof

Washington tobe the freeand voluntaryactof such partyforthe uses and purposes mentioned in

theinstrument.

Dated:

(Signature)

(Sealor stamp)

(PrintName)

Notary Publicinand forthe Stateof

Washington, residing

OF

2 My appointment expires

PortofBremerton Page31 of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo. 22-802235
WestEnd PortOrchard



201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 32 of 33

EXHIBIT A

Legal Descriptionof Premises and Encumbrances

Current Survey recordedwith Kitsap County
Auditor'sFileNo. 201101030135

March 01,2011

PortofBremerton Page32 of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo.22-802235
WestEnd PortOrchard



L
e
a
s
e

2
2
-
0
A
2
2
3
4

L
e
a
s
e

2
2
-
0
A
2
2
3
5

L
e
a
s
e

2
2
-
0
A
9
8
9
1

T
h
a
t

p
o
r
t
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

h
a
r
b
o
r

a
r
e
a

l
y
i
n
g

l
a
n
d
w
a
r
d

o
f

t
h
e

M
e
a
n

H
i
g
h

W
a
t
e
r

l
i
n
e
,

f
r
o
n
t
i
n
g

L
o
t
s

T
r
a
c
t

1 T
r
a
c
t

"
A
"

1 t
h
r
o
u
g
h

1
0

o
f

B
l
o
c
k

1
3

o
f

S
h
o
r
e

a
n
d

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y

a
s

s
h
o
w
n

o
n

t
h
a
t

c
e
r
t
a
i
n

m
a
p

T
h
a
t

p
o
r
t
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

h
a
r
b
o
r

a
r
e
a

l
y
i
n
g

l
a
n
d
w
a
r
d

o
f

t
h
e

M
e
a
n

H
i
g
h

W
a
t
e
r

l
i
n
e
,

f
r
o
n
t
i
n
g

T
h
a
t

p
o
r
t
i
o
n

o
f a
n

u
n
n
u
m
b
e
r
e
d

t
r
a
c
t

o
f

S
h
o
r
e

a
n
d

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y

a
s

s
h
o
w
n

o
n

d
a
t
e
d

3
0

M
a
y

1
8
9
2
,

b
e
i
n
g

a p
o
r
t
i
o
n

o
f

G
o
v
e
r
n
m
e
n
t

L
o
t

4
,

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

2
6
,

T
o
w
n
s
h
i
p

2
4

N
o
r
t
h
,

B
l
o
c
k
s

1
1

a
n
d

O
r
c
h
a
r
d

S
t
r
e
e
t

i
n

S
M

S
t
e
v
e
n
s

T
o
w
n

P
l
a
t

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y
,

f
i
l
e
d

i
n

V
o
l
u
m
e

1
, p
a
g
e

1 t
h
a
t

c
e
r
t
a
i
n

m
a
p

d
a
t
e
d

M
a
y

3
0
,

1
8
9
2
,

l
y
i
n
g

l
a
n
d
w
a
r
d

o
f

t
h
e

t
o
e

o
f

t
h
e

r
o
c
k

r
i
p
-
r
a
p

a
s

i
t

R
a
n
g
e

1 E
a
s
t

W
.
M
.

m
o
r
e

p
a
r
t
i
c
u
l
a
r
l
y

d
e
s
c
r
i
b
e
d

a
s

f
o
l
l
o
w
s
:

o
f

P
l
a
t
s

r
e
c
o
r
d
s

o
f

K
i
t
s
a
p

C
o
u
n
t
y
,

W
a
s
h
i
n
g
t
o
n

a
n
d

B
l
o
c
k

1
1

a
n
d

O
r
c
h
a
r
d

S
t
r
e
e
t

l
y
i
n
g

e
x
i
s
t
e
d

o
n

J
a
n
u
a
r
y

1
5
,

2
0
0
4

a
n
d

a
d
j
a
c
e
n
t

t
o

a
n
d

a
b
u
t
t
i
n
g

L
o
t
s

1 t
h
o
u
g
h

5 o
f

B
l
o
c
k

1 of

t
h
ew
i
t
h
i
n

t
h
e

S
h
o
r
e

a
n
d

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y

a
s

s
h
o
w
n

o
n

t
h
a
t

c
e
r
t
a
i
n

m
a
p

d
a
t
e
d

M
a
y

3
0
,

P
l
a
t

o
f

B
a
y

S
t
r
e
e
t

A
d
d
i
t
i
o
n

t
o

P
o
r
t

O
r
c
h
a
r
d

a
s

r
e
c
o
r
d
e
d

u
n
d
e
r

A
u
d
i
t
o
r
'
s

F
i
l
e

N
u
m
b
e
r

C
o
m
m
e
n
c
i
n
g

a
t

t
h
a
t

c
e
r
t
a
i
n

m
o
n
u
m
e
n
t

a
s

d
e
s
c
r
i
b
e
d

i
n

R
e
c
o
r
d

o
f

S
u
r
v
e
y

r
e
c
o
r
d
e
d

u
n
d
e
r

1
8
9
2
,

b
e
i
n
g

a p
o
r
t
i
o
n

o
f

G
o
v
e
r
n
m
e
n
t

L
o
t

3
,

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

2
6
,

T
o
w
n
s
h
i
p

2
4

N
o
r
t
h
,

R
a
n
g
e

1 E
a
s
t

5
1
1
0
4

a
n
d

f
i
l
e
d

i
n

V
o
l
u
m
e

3
, p
a
g
e

1
1
6

o
f

p
l
a
t
s
,

r
e
c
o
r
d
s

o
f

K
i
t
s
a
p

C
o
u
n
t
y
,

W
a
s
h
i
n
g
t
o
n

A
u
d
i
t
o
r
'
s

F
i
l
e

N
u
m
b
e
r

3
0
9
0
2
5
7

a
n
d

f
i
l
e
d

i
n

V
o
l
u
m
e

4
9
,

p
a
g
e

1
3
9

o
f s
u
r
v
e
y
s
,

r
e
c
o
r
d
s

o
f

W
.
M
.

m
o
r
e

p
a
r
t
i
c
u
l
a
r
l
y

d
e
s
c
r
i
b
e
d

a
s

f
o
l
l
o
w
s
:

m
o
r
e

p
a
r
t
i
c
u
l
a
r
l
y

d
e
s
c
r
i
b
e
d

a
s

f
o
l
l
o
w
s
:

K
i
t
s
a
p

C
o
u
n
t
y
,

W
a
s
h
i
n
g
t
o
n

b
e
i
n
g

d
e
s
i
g
n
a
t
e
d

a
s

t
h
e

m
e
a
n
d
e
r

c
o
r
n
e
r

c
o
m
m
o
n

t
o

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

2
5

a
n
d

2
6
,

T
o
w
n
s
h
i
p

2
4

N
o
r
t
h
,

R
a
n
g
e

1 E
a
s
t

W
.
M
.
,

f
r
o
m

w
h
i
c
h

t
h
e

E
a
s
t

o
n
e

q
u
a
r
t
e
r

o
f

s
a
i
d

C
o
m
m
e
n
c
i
n
g

a
t

t
h
a
t

c
e
r
t
a
i
n

m
o
n
u
m
e
n
t

a
s

d
e
s
c
r
i
b
e
d

i
n

R
e
c
o
r
d

o
f

S
u
r
v
e
y

r
e
c
o
r
d
e
d

C
o
m
m
e
n
c
i
n
g

a
t

t
h
a
t

c
e
r
t
a
i
n

m
o
n
u
m
e
n
t

a
s

d
e
s
c
r
i
b
e
d

i
n

R
e
c
o
r
d

o
f

S
u
r
v
e
y

r
e
c
o
r
d
e
d

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

2
6

b
e
a
r
s

S l
o
3
1
'
O
9
"

W 5
8
9
.
2
1

f
e
e
t
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

N l
o
3
1
'
O
9
"

E
,

a
l
o
n
g

t
h
e

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

u
n
d
e
r

A
u
d
i
t
o
r
'
s

F
i
l
e

N
u
m
b
e
r

3
0
9
0
2
5
7

a
n
d

f
i
l
e
d

i
n

V
o
l
u
m
e

4
9
,

p
a
g
e

1
3
9

o
f s
u
r
v
e
y
s
,

u
n
d
e
r

A
u
d
i
t
o
r
'
s

F
i
l
e

N
u
m
b
e
r

3
0
9
0
2
5
7

a
n
d

f
i
l
e
d

i
n

V
o
l
u
m
e

4
9
,

p
a
g
e

1
3
9

o
f s
u
r
v
e
y
s
,

o
f

t
h
e

E
a
s
t

L
i
n
e

o
f

G
o
v
e
r
n
m
e
n
t

L
o
t

4 o
f

s
a
i
d

s
e
c
t
i
o
n
,

9
1
2
.
4
8

f
e
e
t

t
o

i
t
s

i
n
t
e
r
s
e
c
t
i
o
n

w
i
t
h

t
h
e

r
e
c
o
r
d
s

o
f

K
i
t
s
a
p

C
o
u
n
t
y
,

W
a
s
h
i
n
g
t
o
n

b
e
i
n
g

d
e
s
i
g
n
a
t
e
d

a
s

t
h
e

m
e
a
n
d
e
r

c
o
r
n
e
r

c
o
m
m
o
n

r
e
c
o
r
d
s

o
f K
i
t
s
a
p

C
o
u
n
t
y
,

W
a
s
h
i
n
g
t
o
n

b
e
i
n
g

d
e
s
i
g
n
a
t
e
d

a
s

t
h
e

m
e
a
n
d
e
r

c
o
r
n
e
r

c
o
m
m
o
n

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e

f
r
o
n
t
i
n
g

t
h
e

S
h
o
r
e

a
n
d

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

S
o
u
t
h
w
e
s
t
e
r
l
y

a
n
d

t
o

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

2
5

a
n
d

2
6
,

T
o
w
n
s
h
i
p

2
4

N
o
r
t
h
,

R
a
n
g
e

1 E
a
s
t

W
.
M
.
,

f
r
o
m

w
h
i
c
h

t
h
e

E
a
s
t

o
n
e

t
o

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

2
5

a
n
d

2
6
,

T
o
w
n
s
h
i
p

2
4

N
o
r
t
h
,

R
a
n
g
e

1 E
a
s
t

W
.
M
.
,

f
r
o
m

w
h
i
c
h

t
h
e

E
a
s
t

o
n
eN
o
r
t
h
w
e
s
t
e
r
l
y

a
l
o
n
g

s
a
i
d

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e

o
n

t
h
e

f
o
l
l
o
w
i
n
g

c
o
u
r
s
e
s
,

S 4
7
0
0
8
'
5
1
"

W 1
5
6
3
.
4
4

q
u
a
r
t
e
r

o
f

s
a
i
d

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

2
6

b
e
a
r
s

S l
o
3
1
'
O
9
"

W 5
8
9
.
2
1

f
e
e
t
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

N l
o
3
1
'
O
9
"

E
,

a
l
o
n
g

t
h
e

q
u
a
r
t
e
r

o
f

s
a
i
d

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

2
6

b
e
a
r
s

S 1
0
3
1
'
0
9
"

W 5
8
9
.
2
1

f
e
e
t
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

S
o
u
t
h
w
e
s
t
e
r
l
y

a
l
o
n
g

t
h
e

f
e
e
t

a
n
d

N 8
4
o
3
6
'
O
9
"

W 1
3
7
.
3
4

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

l
e
s
s

t
o a po
i
n
t

o
n

s
a
i
d

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e
,

1
1
.
0
0

f
e
e
t

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

E
a
s
t

L
i
n
e

o
f

G
o
v
e
r
n
m
e
n
t

L
o
t

4 o
f

s
a
i
d

s
e
c
t
i
o
n
,

9
1
2
.
4
8

f
e
e
t

t
o

i
t
s

B
a
l
a
n
c
e
d

G
o
v
e
r
n
m
e
n
t

M
e
a
n
d
e
r

L
i
n
e

o
n

t
h
e

f
o
l
l
o
w
i
n
g

c
o
u
r
s
e
s

S 8
7
*
1
0
'

3
3
"

W 3
4
6
.
9
0

a
n
d

E
a
s
t

o
f a
t

r
i
g
h
t

a
n
g
l
e

t
o

t
h
e

i
n
t
e
r
s
e
c
t
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

o
f

E
a
s
t

l
i
n
e

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y

i
n
t
e
r
s
e
c
t
i
o
n

w
i
t
h

t
h
e

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e

f
r
o
n
t
i
n
g

t
h
e

S
h
o
r
e

a
n
d

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y
;

S 5
5
0
2
4
'
3
1
"

W 4
9
4
.
2
6

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o

t
h
e

N
o
r
t
h
w
e
s
t

c
o
r
n
e
r

o
f

L
o
t

5 o
f

t
h
e

P
l
a
t

o
f

B
a
y

A
v
e
n
u
e

a
s

d
e
l
i
n
e
a
t
e
d

o
n

t
h
e

f
a
c
e

o
f

t
h
e

P
l
a
t

o
f

t
h
e

F
i
r
s
t

A
d
d
i
t
i
o
n

t
o

S
i
d
n
e
y

a
s

f
i
l
e
d

i
n

t
h
e
n
c
e

S
o
u
t
h
w
e
s
t
e
r
l
y

a
n
d

N
o
r
t
h
w
e
s
t
e
r
l
y

a
l
o
n
g

s
a
i
d

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e

o
n

t
h
e

f
o
l
l
o
w
i
n
g

S
t
r
e
e
t

A
d
d
i
t
i
o
n

t
o

P
o
r
t

O
r
c
h
a
r
d

a
s

r
e
c
o
r
d
e
d

u
n
d
e
r

A
u
d
i
t
o
r
'
s

F
i
l
e

N
u
m
b
e
r

5
1
1
0
4

a
n
d

f
i
l
e
d

V
o
l
u
m
e

1
, p
a
g
e

1
0

o
f

p
l
a
t
s

a
n
d

a
s

s
h
o
w
n

o
n

s
a
i
d

m
a
p

o
f

S
h
o
r
e

a
n
d

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y
,

a
n
d

c
o
u
r
s
e
s
,

S 4
7
0
0
8
'
5
1
"

W 1
5
6
3
.
4
4

f
e
e
t

a
n
d

N 8
4
0
3
6
'
O
9
"

W 8
6
6
.
0
0

f
e
e
t
,

t
o

t
h
a
t

c
e
r
t
a
i
n

a
n

a
n
g
l
e

i
n

V
o
l
u
m
e

3
, p
a
g
e

1
1
6

o
f

p
l
a
t
s
,

r
e
c
o
r
d
s

o
f

K
i
t
s
a
p

C
o
u
n
t
y
,

W
a
s
h
i
n
g
t
o
n

a
n
d

t
h
e

T
R
U
Et
h
e

T
R
U
E

P
O
I
N
T

O
F

B
E
G
I
N
N
I
N
G
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

l
e
a
v
i
n
g

s
a
i
d

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e

r
u
n

N l
o
4
3
'
2
4
"

E
,

p
o
i
n
t

i
n

t
h
e

s
a
i
d

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e

f
r
o
n
t
i
n
g

B
l
o
c
k

1
1

o
f

S
M

S
t
e
v
e
n
s

T
o
w
n

P
l
a
t

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y

P
O
I
N
T

O
F

B
E
G
I
N
N
I
N
G
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

l
e
a
v
i
n
g

s
a
i
d

B
a
l
a
n
c
e
d

G
o
v
e
r
n
m
e
n
t

M
e
a
n
d
e
r

L
i
n
e
,

r
u
n

N

p
a
r
a
l
l
e
l

w
i
t
h

a
n
d

1
1
.
0
0

f
e
e
t

E
a
s
t

o
f a
t

r
i
g
h
t

a
n
g
l
e

t
o

t
h
e

s
a
i
d

E
a
s
t

m
a
r
g
i
n

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y

A
v
e
n
u
e
,

a
s

f
i
l
e
d

i
n

V
o
l
u
m
e

1
, p
a
g
e

1 of

p
l
a
t
s
,

a
n
d

t
h
e

T
R
U
E

P
O
I
N
T

O
F

B
E
G
I
N
N
I
N
G
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

l
o
4
3
'
2
4
"

E
, o
n

t
h
e

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

W
e
s
t

l
i
n
e

o
f

s
a
i
d

L
o
t

5
, a d
i
s
t
a
n
c
e

o
f

1
4
9
.
3
8

3
5
.
1
1

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o

i
t
s

i
n
t
e
r
s
e
c
t
i
o
n

w
i
t
h

t
h
e

M
e
a
n

H
i
g
h

W
a
t
e
r

L
i
n
e

o
f

S
i
n
c
l
a
i
r

I
n
l
e
t
,

a
s

l
e
a
v
i
n
g

s
a
i
d

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e

r
u
n

N 3
1
.
4
8
'
1
2
"

W
,

p
a
r
a
l
l
e
l

w
i
t
h

t
h
e

l
o
t

l
i
n
e

c
o
m
m
o
n

t
o

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o

t
h
e

t
o
e

o
f

t
h
e

r
o
c
k

r
i
p
-
r
a
p

a
s

i
t

e
x
i
s
t
e
d

o
n

J
a
n
u
a
r
y

1
5
,

2
0
0
4
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

b
a
s
e
d

u
p
o
n

U
.
S
.
C
.

a
n
d

G
.
S
.

T
i
d
a
l

B
e
n
c
h

M
a
r
k

S
t
a
m
p
e
d

N
u
m
b
e
r

9 S
U
B

2 R
E
S
E
T
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

L
o
t
s

3 a
n
d

4
,

B
l
o
c
k

1
1

o
f

s
a
i
d

S
M

S
t
e
v
e
n
s

T
o
w
n

P
l
a
t

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y
,

3
3
.
4
6

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o

i
t
s

S
o
u
t
h
e
a
s
t
e
r
l
y

a
l
o
n
g

t
h
e

t
o
e

o
f

s
a
i
d

r
o
c
k

r
i
p
-
r
a
p

o
n

t
h
e

f
o
l
l
o
w
i
n
g

c
o
u
r
s
e
s
,

S 7
5
0
1
6
'
3
3
"

E

S
o
u
t
h
e
a
s
t
e
r
l
y

a
n
d

N
o
r
t
h
e
a
s
t
e
r
l
y
,

a
l
o
n
g

s
a
i
d

M
e
a
n

H
i
g
h

W
a
t
e
r

L
i
n
e

o
n

t
h
e

f
o
l
l
o
w
i
n
g

i
n
t
e
r
s
e
c
t
i
o
n

w
i
t
h

t
h
e

M
e
a
n

H
i
g
h

W
a
t
e
r

L
i
n
e

o
f

S
i
n
c
l
a
i
r

I
n
l
e
t
,

a
s

b
a
s
e
d

u
p
o
n

U
.
S
.
C
.

& G
.
S
.

1
0
3
.
4
9

a
n
d

S 6
4
0
0
5
'
0
3
"
E

4
8
.
1
2

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o a p
o
i
n
t

o
n

t
h
e

B
a
l
a
n
c
e
d

G
o
v
e
r
n
m
e
n
t

c
o
u
r
s
e
s
,

S 7
5
.
3
0
'
4
6
"

E 2
7
.
3
4
,

N 8
8
*
1
1
'
O
9
"

E 6
7
.
5
8

f
e
e
t
,

S 8
3
*
4
9
'
0
1
"

E 3
0
.
1
8

f
e
e
t

a
n
d

S 8
8

2
5
'
0
5
"

T
i
d
a
l

B
e
n
c
h

M
a
r
k

S
t
a
m
p
e
d

N
u
m
b
e
r

9 S
U
B

2 R
E
S
E
T
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

N
o
r
t
h
e
a
s
t
e
r
l
y

a
l
o
n
g

s
a
i
d

l
i
n
e

M
e
a
n
d
e
r

L
i
n
e

w
h
i
c
h

b
e
a
r

N 5
5
"
2
4
'
3
1
"

E f
r
o
m

t
h
e

T
r
u
e

P
o
i
n
t

o
f

B
e
g
i
n
n
i
n
g
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

S

E 5
3
.
2
6

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o

i
t
s

i
n
t
e
r
s
e
c
t
i
o
n

w
i
t
h

t
h
e

s
a
i
d

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

a
l
o
n
g

s
a
i
d

o
f

M
e
a
n

H
i
g
h

W
a
t
e
r

o
n

t
h
e

f
o
l
l
o
w
i
n
g

c
o
u
r
s
e
s

N 4
6
*
5
3
'
5
0
"

E 3
1
.
7
8

f
e
e
t
,

N 5
0
0
0
8
'
1
3
"

E 5
5
.
2
4
'
3
1
"
W
,

a
l
o
n
g

s
a
i
d

m
e
a
n
d
e
r

l
i
n
e

1
7
9
.
6
2

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o

t
h
e

T
R
U
E

P
O
I
N
T

O
F

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e

o
n

t
h
e

f
o
l
l
o
w
i
n
g

c
o
u
r
s
e
s
,

S 4
7
0
0
8
'
5
1
"

W 5
6
.
7
4

f
e
e
t

a
n
d

N 8
4
0
3
6
'
O
9
"

W 5
3
.
4
7

f
e
e
t
,

N 4
4
*
2
6
'
0
5
"

E 4
1
.
6
5

f
e
e
t
,

N 6
4
.
4
1
'
3
3
"

E 2
2
.
5
4

f
e
e
t

a
n
d

N 5
5
.
2
0
'
2
5
"

E 1
7
.
4
6

f
e
e
t
;

B
E
G
I
N
N
I
N
G
.

1
3
7
.
3
4

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o

t
h
e

T
R
U
E

P
O
I
N
T

O
F

B
E
G
I
N
N
I
N
G
.

t
h
e
n
c
e

l
e
a
v
i
n
g

t
h
e

s
a
i
d

l
i
n
e

o
f

M
e
a
n

H
i
g
h

W
a
t
e
r

r
u
n

S 4
4
o
5
3
'
4
1
"

E 3
7
.
0
8

f
e
e
t

t
o

t
h
eb
e
g
i
n
n
i
n
g

o
f a no
n
-
t
a
n
g
e
n
t

c
u
r
v
e

t
o

t
h
e

S
o
u
t
h
w
e
s
t

f
r
o
m

w
h
i
c
h

t
h
e

r
a
d
i
u
s

p
o
i
n
t

b
e
a
r
s

S

4
4
.
5
3
'
4
1
"

E 4
9
.
6
4

f
e
e
t
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

S
o
u
t
h
w
e
s
t
e
r
l
y

a
l
o
n
g

t
h
e

a
r
e

o
f

s
a
i
d

c
u
r
v
e

3
0
.
6
7

f
e
e
t

t
o a T
r
a
c
t

"
B
"p
o
i
n
t

f
r
o
m

w
h
i
c
h

t
h
e

r
a
d
i
u
s

p
o
i
n
t

b
e
a
r
s

S 8
0
0
1
7
'
2
2
"

E
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

N 8
7
0
0
5
'
2
0
"

W 2
7
.
9
2

f
e
e
t

T
h
a
t

p
o
r
t
i
o
n

o
f a
n

u
n
n
u
m
b
e
r
e
d

t
r
a
c
t

o
f

S
h
o
r
e

a
n
d

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y

a
s

s
h
o
w
n

o
n

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o a po
i
n
t

o
n

t
h
e

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

W
e
s
t

l
i
n
e

o
f

O
r
c
h
a
r
d

S
t
r
e
e
t

i
n

t
h
a
t

c
e
r
t
a
i
n

m
a
p

d
a
t
e
d

M
a
y

3
0
,

1
8
8
2
,

l
y
i
n
g

l
a
n
d
w
a
r
d

o
f

t
h
e

t
o
e

o
f

t
h
e

r
o
c
k

r
i
p
-
r
a
p

a
s

i
t

s
a
i
d

p
l
a
t
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

S 1
0
4
1
'
4
8
"

W
,

a
l
o
n
g

s
a
i
d

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n
,

9
0
.
8
4

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o a e
x
i
s
t
e
d

o
n

J
a
n
u
a
r
y

1
5
,

2
0
0
4

a
n
d

a
d
j
a
c
e
n
t

t
o

a
n
d

a
b
u
t
t
i
n
g

L
o
t
s

8 t
h
r
o
u
g
h

1
0

o
f

B
l
o
c
k

1 o
f

D
a
t
u
m
=

M
e
a
n

L
o
w
e
r

L
o
w

W
a
t
e
r

p
o
i
n
t

o
n

t
h
e

s
a
i
d

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e

w
h
i
c
h

b
e
a
r
s

S 8
4
0
3
6
'
O
9
"

E f
r
o
m

t
h
e

T
r
u
e

P
o
i
n
t

o
f

t
h
e

P
l
a
t

o
f

B
a
y

S
t
r
e
e
t

A
d
d
i
t
i
o
n

t
o

P
o
r
t

O
r
c
h
a
r
d

a
s

r
e
c
o
r
d
e
d

u
n
d
e
r

A
u
d
i
t
o
r
'
s

F
i
l
e

N
u
m
b
e
r

O
r
i
g
i
n
a
t
i
n
g

f
r
o
m

U
.
S
.
C
.
&
G
.
S
.

T
i
d
a
l

B
e
n
c
h

M
a
r
k

- B
e
g
i
n
n
i
n
g
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

t
h
e
n
c
e

N 8
4
.
3
6
'
O
9
"

W
,

a
l
o
n
g

t
h
e

s
a
i
d

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e

9
2
.
6
3

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

5
1
1
0
4

a
n
d

f
i
l
e
d

i
n

V
o
l
u
m
e

3
, p
a
g
e

1
1
6

o
f

p
l
a
t
s
,

r
e
c
o
r
d
s

o
f

K
i
t
s
a
p

C
o
u
n
t
y
,

W
a
s
h
i
n
g
t
o
n

E
l
e
v
a
t
i
o
n
=
7
1
.
4
5

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o

t
h
e

T
R
U
E

P
O
I
N
T

O
F

B
E
G
I
N
N
I
N
G
.

m
o
r
e

p
a
r
t
i
c
u
l
a
r
l
y

d
e
s
c
r
i
b
e
d

a
s

f
o
l
l
o
w
s
:

S
t
a
m
p
e
d

N
o
.

9 S
U
B

2 R
E
S
E
T

L
o
c
a
t
e
d

o
n

t
h
e

f
r
o
n
t

s
t
e
p
s

o
f

t
h
e

B
r
e
m
e
r
t
o
n

P
o
s
t

O
f
f
i
c
e

a
t

T
r
a
c
t

2 C
o
m
m
e
n
c
i
n
g

a
t

t
h
a
t

c
e
r
t
a
i
n

m
o
n
u
m
e
n
t

a
s

d
e
s
c
r
i
b
e
d

i
n

R
e
c
o
r
d

o
f

S
u
r
v
e
y

r
e
c
o
r
d
e
d

6
t
h

a
n
d

P
a
c
i
f
i
c

i
n
B
r
e
m
e
r
t
o
n
,

W
a
s
h
i
n
g
t
o
n

T
h
a
t

p
o
r
t
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

h
a
r
b
o
r

a
r
e
a

l
y
i
n
g

l
a
n
d
w
a
r
d

o
f

t
h
e

M
e
a
n

H
i
g
h

W
a
t
e
r

l
i
n
e
,

f
r
o
n
t
i
n
g

u
n
d
e
r

A
u
d
i
t
o
r
'
s

F
i
l
e

N
u
m
b
e
r

3
0
9
0
2
5
7

a
n
d

f
i
l
e
d

i
n

V
o
l
u
m
e

4
9
,

p
a
g
e

1
3
9

o
f s
u
r
v
e
y
s
,

B
l
o
c
k
s

1
2

a
n
d

1
3
,

S
i
d
n
e
y

S
t
r
e
e
t

a
n
d

a po
r
t
i
o
n

o
f

O
r
c
h
a
r
d

S
t
r
e
e
t
,

F
r
e
d
r
i
c
k

S
t
r
e
e
t

a
n
d

r
e
c
o
r
d
s

o
f

K
i
t
s
a
p

C
o
u
n
t
y
,

W
a
s
h
i
n
g
t
o
n

b
e
i
n
g

d
e
s
i
g
n
a
t
e
d

a
s

t
h
e

m
e
a
n
d
e
r

c
o
r
n
e
r

c
o
m
m
o
n

p
o
r
t
i
o
n

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y

S
t
r
e
e
t

i
n

S
M

S
t
e
v
e
n
s

T
o
w
n

P
l
a
t

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y
,

f
i
l
e
d

i
n

V
o
l
u
m
e

1
, p
a
g
e

1 o
f t
o

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

2
5

a
n
d

2
6
,

T
o
w
n
s
h
i
p

2
4

N
o
r
t
h
,

R
a
n
g
e

1 E
a
s
t

W
.
M
.
,

f
r
o
m

w
h
i
c
h

t
h
e

E
a
s
t

o
n
e

D
a
t
u
m

P
l
a
n
e

M
L
L
W

N
G
V
D

2
9

N
A
V
D

8
8

P
l
a
t
s
,

r
e
c
o
r
d
s

o
f

K
i
t
s
a
p

C
o
u
n
t
y
,

W
a
s
h
i
n
g
t
o
n
,

B
l
o
c
k

1
3

a
n
d

p
o
r
t
i
o
n

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y

S
t
r
e
e
t

i
n

F
i
r
s
t

q
u
a
r
t
e
r

o
f

s
a
i
d

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

2
6

b
e
a
r
s

S l
o
3
1
'
O
9
"

W 5
8
9
.
2
1

f
e
e
t
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

S
o
u
t
h
w
e
s
t
e
r
l
y

a
l
o
n
g

t
h
e

H
i
g
h
e
s
t

E
s
t
i
m
a
t
e
d

T
i
d
e
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
1
4
.
7
0

+
/
-

0
.
5

* . .

A
d
d
i
t
i
o
n

t
o

S
i
d
n
e
y

K
i
t
s
a
p

C
o
u
n
t
y
,

W
a
s
h
i
n
g
t
o
n
,

r
e
c
o
r
d
e
d

i
n

V
o
l
u
m
e

1
, p
a
g
e

1
0

o
f

P
l
a
t
s
,

G
o
v
e
r
n
m
e
n
t

B
a
l
a
n
c
e
d

M
e
a
n
d
e
r

L
i
n
e

o
n

t
h
e

f
o
l
l
o
w
i
n
g

c
o
u
r
s
e
s

S 8
7
0
1
0
'

3
3
"

W 3
4
6
.
9
0

f
e
e
t

.

r
e
c
o
r
d
s

o
f

K
i
t
s
a
p

C
o
u
n
t
y
,

W
a
s
h
i
n
g
t
o
n

a
n
d

B
l
o
c
k

1
2

a
n
d

1
3
,

S
i
d
n
e
y

S
t
r
e
e
t
,

F
r
e
d
r
i
c
k

S
t
r
e
e
t

a
n
d

S 5
5
0
2
4
'
3
1
"

W 5
6
8
.
6
9

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o

t
h
e

N
o
r
t
h
e
a
s
t

c
o
r
n
e
r

o
f

L
o
t

8 o
f

t
h
e

P
l
a
t

o
f

M
e
a
n

H
i
g
h
e
r

H
i
g
h

W
a
t
e
r
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
1
1
.
7
4
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
5
.
5
1
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
8
.
9
9

a
n
d

a po
r
t
i
o
n

o
f

O
r
c
h
a
r
d

S
t
r
e
e
t
,

l
y
i
n
g

w
i
t
h
i
n

t
h
e

S
h
o
r
e

a
n
d

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y

a
s

s
h
o
w
n

B
a
y

S
t
r
e
e
t

A
d
d
i
t
i
o
n

t
o

P
o
r
t

O
r
c
h
a
r
d

a
s

r
e
c
o
r
d
e
d

u
n
d
e
r

A
u
d
i
t
o
r
'
s

F
i
l
e

N
u
m
b
e
r

5
1
1
0
4

a
n
dM
e
a
n

H
i
g
h

W
a
t
e
r
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
1
0
.
8
7
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
4
.
6
4
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
8
.
1
2

'

o
n

t
h
a
t

c
e
r
t
a
i
n

m
a
p

d
a
t
e
d

M
a
y

3
0
,

1
8
9
2
,

b
e
i
n
g

a p
o
r
t
i
o
n

o
f

G
o
v
e
r
n
m
e
n
t

L
o
t
s

3 a
n
d

4
,

f
i
l
e
d

i
n

V
o
l
u
m
e

3
, p
a
g
e

1
1
6

o
f

p
l
a
t
s
,

r
e
c
o
r
d
s

o
f

K
i
t
s
a
p

C
o
u
n
t
y
,

W
a
s
h
i
n
g
t
o
n

a
n
d

t
h
e

T
R
U
EM
e
a
n

(
H
a
l
f
)

T
i
d
e

L
e
v
e
l
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
6
.
8
5
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
0
.
6
2
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
4
.
1
0

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

2
6
,

T
o
w
n
s
h
i
p

2
4

N
o
r
t
h
,

R
a
n
g
e

1 E
a
s
t

W
.
M
.

m
o
r
e

p
a
r
t
i
c
u
l
a
r
l
y

d
e
s
c
r
i
b
e
d

a
s

f
o
l
l
o
w
s
:

P
O
I
N
T

O
F

B
E
G
I
N
N
I
N
G
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

c
o
n
t
i
n
u
e

S 8
7
*
1
0
'

3
3
"

W
,

a
l
o
n
g

s
a
i
d

B
a
l
a
n
c
e
d

M
e
a
n
d
e
r

N
G
V
D
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
6
.
2
3
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
0
.
0
0
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
3
.
4
8

' L
i
n
e

3
7
.
2
1

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s
,
t
o

t
h
e

N
o
r
t
h
w
e
s
t

c
o
r
n
e
r

o
f

L
o
t

8 o
f

s
a
i
d

p
l
a
t
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

N

M
e
a
n

L
o
w

W
a
t
e
r
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
2
.
8
3
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

-
3
.
4
0
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
0
.
0
8

* C
o
m
m
e
n
c
i
n
g

a
t

t
h
a
t

c
e
r
t
a
i
n

m
o
n
u
m
e
n
t

a
s

d
e
s
c
r
i
b
e
d

i
n

R
e
c
o
r
d

o
f

S
u
r
v
e
y

r
e
c
o
r
d
e
d

l
o
4
3
'
2
4
"

E
, o
n

t
h
e

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

W
e
s
t

l
i
n
e

o
f

s
a
i
d

L
o
t

8
, a d
i
s
t
a
n
c
e

o
f

2
9
.
5
9M
e
a
n

L
o
w
e
r

L
o
w

W
a
t
e
r
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
0
.
0
0
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

-
6
.
2
3
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

-
2
.
7
5

* u
n
d
e
r

A
u
d
i
t
o
r
'
s

F
i
l
e

N
u
m
b
e
r

3
0
9
0
2
5
7

a
n
d

f
i
l
e
d

i
n

V
o
l
u
m
e

4
9
,

p
a
g
e

1
3
9

o
f s
u
r
v
e
y
s
,

f
e
e
t
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

N 8
8
0
1
6
'
3
6
"

W
, a
t

r
i
g
h
t

a
n
g
l
e

t
o

t
h
e

W
e
s
t

l
i
n
e

o
f

s
a
i
d

L
o
t

8
, a d
i
s
t
a
n
c
e

o
f

5
9
.
9
7L
o
w
e
s
t

E
s
t
i
m
a
t
e
d

T
i
d
e
-
-
-
-
-

-
4
.
5
0

+
/
-

0
.
5

. . .

r
e
c
o
r
d
s

o
f

K
i
t
s
a
p

C
o
u
n
t
y
,

W
a
s
h
i
n
g
t
o
n

b
e
i
n
g

d
e
s
i
g
n
a
t
e
d

a
s

t
h
e

m
e
a
n
d
e
r

c
o
r
n
e
r

c
o
m
m
o
n

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o

t
h
e

E
a
s
t
e
r
l
y

m
a
r
g
i
n

o
f

H
a
r
r
i
s
o
n

S
t
r
e
e
t

a
s

d
e
f
i
n
e
d

b
y

t
h
e

P
l
a
t

o
f

t
h
et
o

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

2
5

a
n
d

2
6
,

T
o
w
n
s
h
i
p

2
4

N
o
r
t
h
,

R
a
n
g
e

1 E
a
s
t

W
.
M
.
,

f
r
o
m

w
h
i
c
h

t
h
e

E
a
s
t

o
n
e

F
i
r
s
t

A
d
d
i
t
i
o
n

t
o

S
i
d
n
e
y

a
s

f
i
l
e
d

i
n

V
o
l
u
m
e

1
, p
a
g
e

1
0

o
f

p
l
a
t
s
,

r
e
c
o
r
d
s

o
f

K
i
t
s
a
p

C
o
u
n
t
y
,

q
u
a
r
t
e
r

o
f

s
a
i
d

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

2
6

b
e
a
r
s

S l
o
3
1
'
O
9
"

W 5
8
9
.
2
1

f
e
e
t
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

N l
o
3
1
'
O
9
"

E
,

a
l
o
n
g

t
h
e

W
a
s
h
i
n
g
t
o
n
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

N 1
0
4
3
'
2
4
"

E
,

a
l
o
n
g

t
h
e

E
a
s
t
e
r
l
y

m
a
r
g
i
n

o
f

s
a
i
d

H
a
r
r
i
s
o
n

S
t
r
e
e
t

a
n
dN
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

E
a
s
t

L
i
n
e

o
f

G
o
v
e
r
n
m
e
n
t

L
o
t

4 o
f

s
a
i
d

s
e
c
t
i
o
n
,

9
1
2
.
4
8

f
e
e
t

t
o

i
t
s

t
h
e

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

t
h
e
r
e
o
f

2
2
2
.
7
3

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o

t
h
e

t
o
e

o
f

t
h
e

r
o
c
k

r
i
p
-
r
a
p

a
s

i
t

i
n
t
e
r
s
e
c
t
i
o
n

w
i
t
h

t
h
e

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e

f
r
o
n
t
i
n
g

t
h
e

S
h
o
r
e

a
n
d

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y
;

e
x
i
s
t
e
d

o
n

J
a
n
u
a
r
y

1
5
,

2
0
0
4
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

S
o
u
t
h
e
a
s
t
e
r
l
y

a
l
o
n
g

t
h
e

t
o
e

o
f

s
a
i
d

r
o
c
k

r
i
p
-
r
a
p

o
n

t
h
eE
q
u
i
p
m
e
n
t

a
n
d

P
r
o
c
e
d
u
r
e
s

t
h
e
n
c
e

S
o
u
t
h
w
e
s
t
e
r
l
y

a
n
d

N
o
r
t
h
w
e
s
t
e
r
l
y

a
l
o
n
g

s
a
i
d

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e

o
n

t
h
e

f
o
l
l
o
w
i
n
g

f
o
l
l
o
w
i
n
g

c
o
u
r
s
e
s
,

S 7
8
*
5
7
'
0
5
"

E 3
2
.
8
3

f
e
e
t

a
n
d

S
7
1
*
2
5
'
5
1
"

E 6
0
.
1
4

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o a

2
0
"

T
h
e
o
d
o
l
i
t
e
,

E
D
M

a
n
d

2
0
0
.
0
'

s
t
e
e
l

t
a
p
e
.

c
o
u
r
s
e
s
,

S 4
7
0
0
8
'
5
1
"

W 1
5
6
3
.
4
4

f
e
e
t

a
n
d

N 8
4
*
3
6
'
O
9
"

W 1
4
8
.
3
6

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o

t
h
e

p
o
i
n
t

N 1
0
4
3
'
2
4
"

E
,

f
r
o
m

t
h
e

N
o
r
t
h
e
a
s
t

c
o
r
n
e
r

o
f

s
a
i
d

L
o
t

8
,

t
h
e

T
r
u
e

P
o
i
n
t

o
f

B
e
g
i
n
n
i
n
g
;

P
r
o
c
e
d
u
r
e

= T
h
e

c
o
n
t
r
o
l

p
o
r
t
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
i
s

s
u
r
v
e
y

i
s

i
n

i
n
t
e
r
s
e
c
t
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

E
a
s
t
e
r
l
y

m
a
r
g
i
n

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y

A
v
e
n
u
e

a
s

s
h
o
w
n

o
n

s
a
i
d

P
l
a
t

o
f

F
i
r
s
t

t
h
e
n
c
e

S l
o
4
3
'
2
4
"

W
,

a
l
o
n
g

t
h
e

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

E
a
s
t

l
i
n
e

o
f

s
a
i
d

L
o
t

8
, a

c
o
m
p
l
i
a
n
c
e

w
i
t
h

t
h
e

F
e
d
e
r
a
l

G
e
o
d
e
t
i
c

c
o
n
t
r
o
l

c
o
m
m
i
t
t
e
e
'
s

A
d
d
i
t
i
o
n

t
o

S
i
d
n
e
y

a
n
d

t
h
e

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e

a
s

s
h
o
w
n

o
n

t
h
e

M
a
p

o
f

S
h
o
r
e

a
n
d

d
i
s
t
a
n
c
e

o
f

2
0
7
.
5
3

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o

t
h
e

T
R
U
E

P
O
I
N
T

O
F

B
E
G
I
N
N
I
N
G
.

.

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

o
f

E
d
n
e
y
,

K
i
t
s
a
p

C
o
u
n
t
y
,

W
a
s
h
i
n
g
t
o
n
,

d
a
t
e
d

M
a
y

3
0
,

1
8
9
2
,

s
a
i
d

p
o
i
n
t

b
e
i
n
g

'
G
e
o
d
e
t
i
c

A
c
c
u
r
a
c
y

S
t
a
n
d
a
r
d

a
n
d

S
p
e
c
i
f
i
c
a
t
i
o
n

f
o
r

u
s
i
n
8

t
h
e

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

W
e
s
t

l
i
n
e

o
f

L
o
t

1
,

B
l
o
c
k

1
3

o
f

s
a
i
d

P
l
a
t

o
f

F
i
r
s
t

A
d
d
i
t
i
o
n

t
o

G
P
S

R
e
l
a
t
i
v
e

P
o
s
i
t
i
o
n
i
n
g

T
e
c
h
n
i
q
u
e
s
"
,

v
e
r
s
i
o
n

5
.
0

u
p
d
a
t
e
d

S
i
d
n
e
y
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

N l
o
4
3
'
2
4
"

E
,

a
l
o
n
g

t
h
e

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

W
e
s
t

l
i
n
e

o
f

L
o
t

1
,

B
l
o
c
k

A
u
g
u
s
t

1
,

1
9
8
9

f
o
r

G
r
o
u
p

C
,

O
r
d
e
r

1 S
u
r
v
e
y
s
.

C
o
r
n
e
r

T
i
e
s

1
3

o
f

s
a
i
d

P
l
a
t

o
f

F
i
r
s
t

A
d
d
i
t
i
o
n

t
o

S
i
d
n
e
y
,

5
.
2
7

f
e
e
t

t
o

t
h
e

T
R
U
E

P
O
I
N
T

O
F

B
E
G
I
N
N
I
N
G
;

w
e
r
e

m
a
d
e

b
y

F
i
e
l
d

T
r
a
v
e
r
s
e
.

T
r
a
v
e
r
s
e

l
i
n
e
s

w
e
r
e

C
l
o
s
e
d

t
h
e
n
c
e

N 6
5
0
2
4
'
0
1
"

W 3
4
6
.
4
9

f
e
e
t

t
o

t
h
e

b
e
g
i
n
n
i
n
g

o
f a c
u
r
v
e

t
o

t
h
e

l
e
f
t

f
r
o
m

w
h
i
c
h

t
h
e

.

r
a
d
i
u
s

p
o
i
n
t

b
e
a
r
s

S 2
4
*
3
5
'
5
9
"

W 2
6
6
.
5
8

f
e
e
t
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

N
o
r
t
h
w
e
s
t
e
r
l
y

a
n
d

W
e
s
t
e
r
l
y

a
l
o
n
g

t
h
eL
o
o
p

o
r

C
l
o
s
e
d

B
e
t
w
e
e
n

K
n
o
w
n

P
o
i
n
t
s
.

a
r
e

o
f

s
a
i
d

c
u
r
v
e

8
2
.
3
4

f
e
e
t

t
o a p
o
i
n
t

f
r
o
m

w
h
i
c
h

t
h
e

r
a
d
i
u
s

p
o
i
n
t

b
e
a
r
s

S 6
0
5
4
'
O
9
"

W
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

N 8
3
*
0
5
'
5
1
"

W 1
4
3
.
9
9

f
e
e
t

t
o

t
h
e

b
e
g
i
n
n
i
n
g

o
f a c
u
r
v
e

t
o

t
h
e

l
e
f
t

f
r
o
m

w
h
i
c
h

t
h
er
a
d
i
u
s

p
o
i
n
t

b
e
a
r
s

S 6
*
5
4
'
O
9
"

W 4
9
.
6
4

f
e
e
t
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

S
o
u
t
h
w
e
s
t
e
r
l
y

a
l
o
n
g

t
h
e

a
r
e

o
f

s
a
i
dV
e
r
t
i
c
a
l

D
a
t
u
m

b
a
s
e
d

u
p
o
n

H
A
R
N

(
G
P
S

2
2
2
)

S
t
a
t
i
o
n
s

B
r
e
m
e
r
t
o
n

c
u
r
v
e

2
3
.
7
6

f
e
e
t

t
o a p
o
i
n
t

f
r
o
m

w
h
i
c
h

t
h
e

r
a
d
i
u
s

p
o
i
n
t

b
e
a
r
s

S 2
0
0
3
1
'
1
6
"

E
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

N

A
i
r
,

K
i
n
g

O
l
a
f
a
n
d

S
i
t
a
r

R
M
1

a
n
d

N
O
A
A

V
e
r
t
i
c
a
l

C
o
n
t
r
o
l

N
G
V
D

2
0
0
3
1
7
1
6
"

W
,

a
l
o
n
g

t
h
e

r
a
d
i
a
l

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

o
f

e
n
d

o
f

s
a
i
d

c
u
r
v
e
,

3
1
.
9
0

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o

i
t
s1
9
2
9
,

A
d
j
u
s
t
m
e
n
t

o
f

1
9
4
7

m
o
n
u
m
e
n
t
s

P
E
A
T

1
9
3
4
,

P
2
5
5

a
n
d

N
o
.

9 i
n
t
e
r
s
e
c
t
i
o
n

w
i
t
h

t
h
e

M
e
a
n

H
i
g
h

W
a
t
e
r

L
i
n
e

o
f

S
i
n
c
l
a
i
r

I
n
l
e
t
,

a
s

b
a
s
e
d

u
p
o
n

U
.
S
.
C
.

& G
.
S
.

D
a
t
u
m

S
U
B

2 R
E
S
E
T

T
i
d
a
l

B
e
n
c
h

M
a
r
k

S
t
a
m
p
e
d

N
u
m
b
e
r

9 S
U
B

2 R
E
S
E
T
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

S
o
u
t
h
e
a
s
t
e
r
l
y

a
l
o
n
g

t
h
e

s
a
i
dM
e
a
n

H
i
g
h

W
a
t
e
r
l
i
n
e

o
n

t
h
e

f
o
l
l
o
w
i
n
g

c
o
u
r
s
e
s
,

S 8
6
0
1
8
'
O
9
"

E 1
3
4
.
2
7

f
e
e
t
,

S 7
8
0
0
9
'
0
3
"

E

H
o
r
i
z
o
n
t
a
l

D
a
t
u
m

N
A
D

8
3
/
9
1

G
e
o
i
d

1
9
9
3

e
x
p
r
e
s
s
e
d

i
n

U
S

S
u
r
v
e
y

9
3
.
7
9

f
e
e
t
,

S 6
9
0
0
4
'
1
7
"

E 9
7
.
5
0

f
e
e
t
,

S 6
0
0
1
5
'
5
0
"

E 6
9
.
1
7

f
e
e
t
,

S 7
0
0
1
5
'
3
4
"

E 4
5
.
3
8

f
e
e
t
,

S

f
e
e
t

6
3
0
3
6
'
4
7
"

E 1
1
9
.
1
8

f
e
e
t

a
n
d

S 7
3
0
3
5
'
5
9
"

E 4
8
.
0
0

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o a p
o
i
n
t

o
n

t
h
e

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

. .

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

W
e
s
t

l
i
n
e

o
f

L
o
t

1
,

B
l
o
c
k

1
3

o
f

s
a
i
d

P
l
a
t

o
f

F
i
r
s
t

A
d
d
i
t
i
o
n

t
o

S
i
d
n
e
y
,

w
h
i
c
h

E
x
h
t
b
i
t
S
h
o
w
s
u
g

b
e
a
r
s

N l
o
4
3
'
2
4
"

E f
r
o
m

t
h
e

T
r
u
e

P
o
i
n
t

o
f

B
e
g
i
n
n
i
n
g
-

t
h
e
n
c
e

S l
o
4
3
'
2
4
"

W
,

a
l
o
r
i
g

s
a
i
d

P
O
R
T

O
F

B
R
E
M
E
R

T
O
NN
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

3
2
.
0
0

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o

t
h
e

T
R
U
E

P
O
I
N
T

O
F

B
E
G
I
N
N
I
N
G
.

P
o
r
t

M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t

A
g
r
e
e
m
e
n
t

2
-
0
8
0
0
1
6

L
e
a
s
e

N
u
m
b
e
r
s

2
-
0
A
2
3
4
,

2
2
-
0
A
2
3
5

a
n
d

L
e
a
s
e

N
u
m
b
e
r

2
-
0
A
9
8
9
1

a
s

a
m
e
n
d
e
d

2
0
1
0m

H
a
r
b
o
r

A
r
e
a

a
n
d

S
h
o
r
e

a
n
d

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y

S U
R
V
E
Y
O
R
'
S

C
E
R
T
I
F
I
C
A
T
E

A
U
D
I
T
O
R
'
S

C
E
R
T
I
F
I
C
A
T
E

f
r
o
n
d
n
g

T
h
i
s

m
a
p

c
o
r
r
e
c
t
l
y

r
e
p
r
e
s
e
n
t
s

a s
u
r
v
e
y

m
a
d
e

b
y m
e

o
r

u
r
i
d
e
r

m
y

d
i
r
e
c
t
i
o
n

i
n F
i
l
e
d

f
o
r

r
e
c
o
r
d

t
h
i
s

O d
a

o
f

C
4
1
C
,
h

2
0 a
t

(
1 n

p
o
r
t
i
o
n

o
f

B
l
o
c
k
s

1
1
,

1
2

a
n
d

i
s

n
d

o
r
t
i

R
.

c
o
n
f
o
r
m
a
n
c
e

w
i
t
h

t
h
e

r
e
q
u
i
r
e
m
e
n
t
s

o
f

t
h
e

S
U
R
V
E
Y

R
E
C
O
R
D
I
N
G

A
C
T

a
t

t
h
e

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

6 T
o
w
n
s
h
i
p

S
A
N

R
a
n
g
e
l

E
a
s
t

W
.
M
.

a
t

t
h
e

r
e
q
u
e
s
t

a p o
n

4

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
.

U N b d T t

o
f

w
y . r
e
q
u
e

o
f

P
o
r
t

o
f
B
r
e
m
e
r
t
o
n

o
f

L
y
l
e

R
.

M
u
l
l
e
r

E
-

u
m

e
r
e

r
a
c

B
y
:

@
,
0

)

S
h
o
r
e

a
n
d

T
i
d

d
s

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
yW
a
r
d

C
.

M
u
l
l
e
r

a
n
d

A
s
s
o
c
i
a
t
e
s
-
L
i
c
e
n
s
e
d

L
a
n
d

S
u
r
v
e
y
o
r
s

C
o
u
n
t
y

A
u
d
i
t
o
r

p
o
r
t
i
o
n

o
f

G
o
v
e
r
n
m
e
n
t

L
o
t
s

3 a
n
d

4

L
v
e
l

2
7
7

S
i
d
n
e
y

A
v
e
n
u
e

S
U
R
V
E
Y

N
U
M
B
E
R

S
W
-
N
E

6
-
4
-
0
1
-
1
-
0
'
i
(
)
(
p
S
E
-
N
E

6
-
4
-
0
1

1
-
O
c
o
A

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

2
6
-
T
o
w
n
s
h
i
p

4 N
o
r
t
h
-
R
a
n
g
e

1 E
a
s
t

W
.
M
.P
o
r
t

O
r
c
h
a
r
d
,

W
a

9
8
3
6
6

P
h
o
n
e

(
3
6
0
)
8
7
6
-
3
4
4
3

L
a
t
i
t
u
d
e

N 4
7
0
3
2
'
2
8
.
0
8
"

L
o
n
g
i
t
u
d
e

W 7
2
2
o
3
8
'
O
9
.
4
7
,
,

A
U
D
I
T
O
R
'
S

F
I
L
E

N
U
M
B
E
R

8
0
0
0
3
0
1
0
1
3
5

B
o
o
k

7
5 P
a
g
e

F
i
e
l
d
b
o
k

N
u
m
b
e
r

4
0
5

a
n
d

"
X
"

S
h
e
e
t

1 o
f 1
2

S
h
e
e
t
s

J
O
b

5
2
7

2
-

1



P
M
A

2
2
-
0
8
0
0
1
6

P
M
A

2
2
-
0
8
0
0
1
6

P
a
r
c
e
l

1 P
a
r
c
e
l

2

T
h
a
t

p
o
r
t
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

h
a
r
b
o
r

a
r
e
a

f
r
o
n
t
i
n
g

B
l
o
c
k
s

1
1
,

1
2
,
1
3
,

O
r
c
h
a
r
d

S
t
r
e
e
t
,

F
r
e
d
r
i
c
k

S
t
r
e
e
t

a
n
d

S
i
d
n
e
y

S
t
r
e
e
t

a
l
l

i
n

t
h
e

S
i
d
n
e
y

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

T
h
a
t

p
o
r
t
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

h
a
r
b
o
r

a
r
e
a

f
r
o
n
t
i
n
g

S
i
d
n
e
y

S
t
r
e
e
t

a
n
d

B
l
o
c
k

1
3
,

a
l
l

i
n

t
h
e

S
i
d
n
e
y

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

f
r
o
n
t
i
n
g

S
i
d
n
e
y

S
t
r
e
e
t

a
n
d

B
l
o
c
k

1
3

o
f

f
r
o
n
t
i
n
g

B
l
o
c
k
s

1
1
,

1
2
,

1
3

o
f

t
h
e

P
l
a
t

o
f

S
.
M
.

S
t
e
v
e
n
s

T
o
w
n

P
l
a
t

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y
,

a
s

r
e
c
o
r
d
e
d

i
n

V
o
l
u
m
e

1
, p
a
g
e

1 of

p
l
a
t
s

a
n
d

B
l
o
c
k

1
3

i
n

t
h
e

t
h
e

P
l
a
t

o
f

F
i
r
s
t

A
d
d
i
t
i
o
n

t
o

S
i
d
n
e
y

a
s

r
e
c
o
r
d
e
d

i
n

V
o
l
u
m
e

1
, p
a
g
e

1
0

o
f

p
l
a
t
s
,

r
e
c
o
r
d
s

o
f

K
i
t
s
a
p

C
o
u
n
t
y
,

W
a
s
h
i
n
g
t
o
n

a
n
d

b
e
i
n
g

a p
o
r
t
i
o
n

S
h
o
r
e

a
n
d

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y

a
s

s
h
o
w
n

o
n

t
h
a
t

c
e
r
t
a
i
n

m
a
p

d
a
t
e
d

M
a
y

3
0
,

1
8
9
2
,

f
r
o
n
t
i
n
g

B
l
o
c
k

1
3
,

P
l
a
t

o
f

F
i
r
s
t

A
d
d
i
t
i
o
n

t
o

S
i
d
n
e
y

a
s

o
f

G
o
v
e
r
n
m
e
n
t

L
o
t

4
,

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

2
6
,

t
o
w
n
s
h
i
p

2
4

N
o
r
t
h
,

R
a
n
g
e

1 E
a
s
t

W
.
M
.

m
o
r
e

p
a
r
t
i
c
u
l
a
r
l
y

d
e
s
c
r
i
b
e
d

a
s

f
o
l
l
o
w
s
:

r
e
c
o
r
d

i
n

V
o
l
u
m
e

1
, p
a
g
e

1
0

o
f

p
l
a
t
s
,

r
e
c
o
r
d
s

o
f

K
i
t
s
a
p

C
o
u
n
t
y
,

W
a
s
h
i
n
g
t
o
n

a
n
d

b
e
i
n
g

a po
r
t
i
o
n

o
f

G
o
v
e
r
n
m
e
n
t

L
o
t
s

3 a
n
d

4
,

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

2
6
,T
o
w
n
s
h
i
p

2
4

N
o
r
t
h
,

R
a
n
g
e

1 E
a
s
t

W
.
M
.
,

m
o
r
e

p
a
r
t
i
c
u
l
a
r

d
e
s
c
r
i
b
e
d

a
s

f
o
l
l
o
w
s
:

.
C
o
m
m
e
n
c
i
n
g

a
t

t
h
a
t

c
e
r
t
a
i
n

m
o
n
u
m
e
n
t

a
s

d
e
s
c
r
i
b
e
d

i
n

R
e
c
o
r
d

o
f

S
u
r
v
e
y

r
e
c
o
r
d
e
d

u
n
d
e
r

A
u
d
i
t
o
r
'
s

F
i
l
e

N
u
m
b
e
r

3
0
9
0
2
5
7

a
n
d

f
i
l
e
d

i
n

V
o
l
u
m
e

4
9
,

p
a
g
e

1
3
9

o
f s
u
r
v
e
y
s
,

r
e
c
o
r
d
s

o
f

K
i
t
s
a
p

C
o
u
n
t
y
,

W
a
s
h
i
n
g
t
o
n

b
e
i
n
g

d
e
s
i
g
n
a
t
e
d

a
s

t
h
e

m
e
a
n
d
e
r

c
o
r
n
e
r

c
o
m
m
o
n

t
o

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

2
5

C
o
m
m
e
n
c
i
n
g

a
t

t
h
a
t

c
e
r
t
a
i
n

m
o
n
u
m
e
n
t

a
s

d
e
s
c
r
i
b
e
d

i
n

R
e
c
o
r
d

o
f

S
u
r
v
e
y

r
e
c
o
r
d
e
d

u
n
d
e
r

A
u
d
i
t
o
r
'
s

F
i
l
e

N
u
m
b
e
r

3
0
9
0
2
5
7

a
n
d

f
i
l
e
d

i
n

a
n
d

2
6
,

T
o
w
n
s
h
i
p

2
4

N
o
r
t
h
,

R
a
n
g
e

1 E
a
s
t

W
.
M
.
,

f
r
o
m

w
h
i
c
h

t
h
e

E
a
s
t

o
n
e

q
u
a
r
t
e
r

o
f

s
a
i
d

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

2
6

b
e
a
r
s

S 1
*
3
1
'
O
9
"

W 5
8
9
.
2
1

f
e
e
t
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

V
o
l
u
m
e

4
9
,

p
a
g
e

1
3
9

o
f s
u
r
v
e
y
s
,

r
e
c
o
r
d
s

o
f K
i
t
s
a
p

C
o
u
n
t
y
,

W
a
s
h
i
n
g
t
o
n

b
e
i
n
g

d
e
s
i
g
n
a
t
e
d

a
s

t
h
e

m
e
a
n
d
e
r

c
o
r
n
e
r

c
o
m
m
o
n

t
o

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

2
5

N l
o
3
1
'
O
9
"

E
,

a
l
o
n
g

t
h
e

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

E
a
s
t

L
i
n
e

o
f

G
o
v
e
r
n
m
e
n
t

L
o
t

4 o
f

s
a
i
d

s
e
c
t
i
o
n
,

9
1
2
.
4
8

f
e
e
t

t
o

i
t
s

i
n
t
e
r
s
e
c
t
i
o
n

w
i
t
h

t
h
ea
n
d

2
6
,

T
o
w
n
s
h
i
p

2
4

N
o
r
t
h
,

R
a
n
g
e

1 E
a
s
t

W
.
M
.
,

f
r
o
m

w
h
i
c
h

t
h
e

E
a
s
t

o
n
e

q
u
a
r
t
e
r

o
f

s
a
i
d

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

2
6

b
e
a
r
s

S l
o
3
1
'
O
9
"

W 5
8
9
.
2
1

f
e
e
t
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e

f
r
o
n
t
i
n
g

t
h
e

S
h
o
r
e

a
n
d

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

S
o
u
t
h
w
e
s
t
e
r
l
y

a
n
d

N
o
r
t
h
w
e
s
t
e
r
l
y

a
l
o
n
g

s
a
i
d

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e

o
nN 1
0
3
1
'
0
9
"

E
,

a
l
o
n
g

t
h
e

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

E
a
s
t

L
i
n
e

o
f

G
o
v
e
r
n
m
e
n
t

L
o
t

4 o
f

s
a
i
d

s
e
c
t
i
o
n
,

9
1
2
.
4
8

f
e
e
t

t
o

i
t
s

i
n
t
e
r
s
e
c
t
i
o
n

w
i
t
h

t
h
e

t
h
e

f
o
l
l
o
w
i
n
g

c
o
u
r
s
e
s
,

S 4
7
0
0
8
'
5
1
"

W 1
5
6
3
.
4
4

f
e
e
t

a
n
d

N 8
4
o
3
6
'
O
9
"

W 1
4
8
.
3
6

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o

t
h
e

i
n
t
e
r
s
e
c
t
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

E
a
s
t
e
r
l
y

m
a
r
g
i
n

o
f

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e

f
r
o
n
t
i
n
g

t
h
e

S
h
o
r
e

a
n
d

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

S
o
u
t
h
w
e
s
t
e
r
l
y

a
n
d

N
o
r
t
h
w
e
s
t
e
r
l
y

a
l
o
n
g

s
a
i
d

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e

o
n

S
i
d
n
e
y

S
t
r
e
e
t

a
s

s
h
o
w
n

o
n

t
h
e

s
a
i
d

P
l
a
t

o
f

F
i
r
s
t

A
d
d
i
t
i
o
n

t
o

S
i
d
n
e
y

a
n
d

t
h
e

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e

a
s

s
h
o
w
n

o
n

t
h
e

M
a
p

o
f

S
h
o
r
e

a
n
dt
h
e

f
o
l
l
o
w
i
n
g

c
o
u
r
s
e
s
,

S 4
7
0
0
8
'
5
1
"

W 1
5
6
3
.
4
4

f
e
e
t

a
n
d

N 8
4
o
3
6
'
O
9
"

W 1
4
8
.
3
6

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o

t
h
e

i
n
t
e
r
s
e
c
t
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

E
a
s
t
e
r
l
y

m
a
r
g
i
n

o
f

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y
,

K
i
t
s
a
p

C
o
u
n
t
y
,

W
a
s
h
i
n
g
t
o
n
,

d
a
t
e
d

M
a
y

3
0
,

1
8
9
2
,

s
a
i
d

p
o
i
n
t

b
e
i
n
g

t
h
e

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

o
f L
o
t

1
,

B
l
o
c
k

1
3

o
f

s
a
i
d

S
i
d
n
e
y

A
v
e
n
u
e

a
s

s
h
o
w
n

o
n

s
a
i
d

P
l
a
t

o
f

F
i
r
s
t

A
d
d
i
t
i
o
n

t
o

S
i
d
n
e
y

a
n
d

t
h
e

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e

a
s

s
h
o
w
n

o
n

t
h
e

M
a
p

o
f

S
h
o
r
e

a
n
d

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

P
l
a
t

o
f

F
i
r
s
t

A
d
d
i
t
i
o
n

t
o

S
i
d
n
e
y
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

N 1
0
4
3
'
2
4
"

E
,

a
l
o
n
g

t
h
e

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

W
e
s
t

l
i
n
e

o
f

L
o
t

1
,

B
l
o
c
k

1
3

o
f

o
f

s
a
i
d

P
l
a
t

o
f

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y
,

K
i
t
s
a
p

C
o
u
n
t
y
,

W
a
s
h
i
n
g
t
o
n
,

d
a
t
e
d

M
a
y

2
0
,

1
8
9
2
,

s
a
i
d

p
o
i
n
t

b
e
i
n
g

t
h
e

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

W
e
s
t

l
i
n
e

o
f L
o
t

1
,

B
l
o
c
k

1
3

o
f

F
i
r
s
t

A
d
d
i
t
i
o
n

t
o

S
i
d
n
e
y
,

2
0
0
.
0
0

f
e
e
t

a
n
d

t
h
e

T
R
U
E

P
O
I
N
T

O
F

B
E
G
I
N
N
I
N
G

o
f

s
a
i
d

P
a
r
c
e
l

2
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

N 8
4
*
3
6
'
O
9
"

W
,

p
a
r
a
l
l
e
l

w
i
t
h

t
h
e

s
a
i
d

s
a
i
d

P
l
a
t

o
f

F
i
r
s
t

A
d
d
i
t
i
o
n

t
o

S
i
d
n
e
y
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

N 1
0
4
3
'
2
4
"

E
,

a
l
o
n
g

t
h
e

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

o
f

s
a
i
d

W
e
s
t

l
i
n
e

o
f

L
o
t

1
,

B
l
o
c
k

1
3

o
f

s
a
i
d

P
l
a
t

o
f

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e
,

3
3
.
0
7

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o

i
t
s

i
n
t
e
r
s
e
c
t
i
o
n

w
i
t
h

t
h
e

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

c
e
n
t
e
r
l
i
n
e

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y

S
t
r
e
e
t

a
n
d

s
h
o
w
n

o
nF
i
r
s
t

A
d
d
i
t
i
o
n

t
o

S
i
d
n
e
y
,

3
7
.
2
7

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o

i
t
s

i
n
t
e
r
s
e
c
t
i
o
n

w
i
t
h

t
h
e

M
e
a
n

H
i
g
h

W
a
t
e
r

L
i
n
e

o
f

S
i
n
c
l
a
i
r

I
n
l
e
t
,

a
s

b
a
s
e
d

u
p
o
n

U
.
S
.
C
.

s
a
i
d

P
l
a
t

o
f

F
i
r
s
t

A
d
d
i
t
i
o
n

t
o

S
i
d
n
e
y
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

N l
o
4
3
'
2
4
"

E
,

a
l
o
n
g

t
h
e

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

s
a
i
d

c
e
n
t
e
r
l
i
n
e

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y

S
t
r
e
e
t
,

7
5
4
.
6
9

f
e
e
t

a
n
d

G
.
S
.

T
i
d
a
l

B
e
n
c
h

M
a
r
k

S
t
a
m
p
e
d

N
u
m
b
e
r

9 S
U
B

2 R
E
S
E
T

a
n
d

t
h
e

T
R
U
E

P
O
I
N
T

O
F

B
E
G
I
N
N
I
N
G

o
f

s
a
i
d

P
a
r
c
e
l

1
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

N l
o
4
3
'
2
4
"

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o

t
h
e

R
e
-
E
s
t
a
b
l
i
s
h
e
d

O
u
t
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e
,

a
s

a
p
p
r
o
v
e
d

b
y

t
h
e

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e

C
o
m
m
i
s
s
i
o
n

p
e
r

R
e
s
o
l
u
t
i
o
n

N
u
m
b
e
r

1
7
5
,

d
a
t
e
d

E
,

a
l
o
n
g

t
h
e

s
a
i
d

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n
,

1
6
2
.
7
3

f
e
e
t
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

N 8
4
o
3
6
'
O
9
"

W
,

p
a
r
a
l
l
e
l

w
i
t
h

t
h
e

s
a
i
d

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e

3
3
.
0
7

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o

S
e
p
t
e
m
b
e
r

1
1
,

1
9
7
3
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

N 6
3
o
4
8
'
5
3
"

E
,

a
l
o
n
g

s
a
i
d

R
e
-
E
s
t
a
b
l
i
s
h
e
d

O
u
t
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e
,

2
3
7
.
6
4

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o

p
o
i
n
t

2
1
0
.
0
0

f
e
e
t

E
a
s
t

i
t
s

i
n
t
e
r
s
e
c
t
i
o
n

w
i
t
h

t
h
e

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

c
e
n
t
e
r
l
i
n
e

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y

S
t
r
e
e
t

a
s

s
h
o
w
n

o
n

s
a
i
d

P
l
a
t

o
f

F
i
r
s
t

A
d
d
i
t
i
o
n

t
o

S
i
d
n
e
y
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

N o
f a
t

r
i
g
h
t

a
n
g
l
e

t
o

t
h
e

s
a
i
d

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

c
e
n
t
e
r
l
i
n
e

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y

S
t
r
e
e
t

a
n
d

s
h
o
w
n

o
n

s
a
i
d

P
l
a
t

o
f

F
i
r
s
t

A
d
d
i
t
i
o
n

t
o

S
i
d
n
e
y
;

l
o
4
3
'
2
4
"

E
,

a
l
o
n
g

t
h
e

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

o
f

s
a
i
d

c
e
n
t
e
r
l
i
n
e

7
5
4
.
6
9

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o

t
h
e

R
e
-
E
s
t
a
b
l
i
s
h
e
d

O
u
t
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e
,

a
s

a
p
p
r
o
v
e
d

t
h
e
n
c
e

S 1
0
4
3
'
2
4
"

E
,

p
a
r
a
l
l
e
l

w
i
t
h

a
n
d

2
1
0
.
0
0

f
e
e
t

E
a
s
t

o
f a
t

r
i
g
h
t

a
n
g
l
e

t
o

t
h
e

s
a
i
d

c
e
n
t
e
r
l
i
n
e

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y

S
t
r
e
e
t

8
1
4
.
4
0

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o a

b
y

t
h
e

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e

C
o
m
m
i
s
s
i
o
n

p
e
r

R
e
s
o
l
u
t
i
o
n

N
u
m
b
e
r

1
7
5
,

d
a
t
e
d

S
e
p
t
e
m
b
e
r

1
1
,

1
9
7
3
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

S
o
u
t
h
w
e
s
t
e
r
l
y

a
l
o
n
g

t
h
e

s
a
i
d

p
o
i
n
t

w
h
i
c
h

b
e
a
r
s

N l
o
4
3
'
2
4
"

E
,

p
a
r
a
l
l
e
l

w
i
t
h

t
h
e

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

W
e
s
t

l
i
n
e

o
f

L
o
t

1
,

B
l
o
c
k

1
3

o
f

s
a
i
d

P
l
a
t

o
f

F
i
r
s
t

A
d
d
i
t
i
o
n

t
oR
e
-
E
s
t
a
b
l
i
s
h
e
d

O
u
t
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e

o
n

t
h
e

f
o
l
l
o
w
i
n
g

c
o
u
r
s
e
s
,

S 6
3
0
4
8
'
5
3
"

W 4
3
.
6
4

f
e
e
t
,

S 8
8
0
0
7
'
4
9
"

W 6
4
5
.
8
5

f
e
e
t

a
n
d

S 4
6
.
3
7
'
5
1
"

W 1
6
5
.
1
9

S
i
d
n
e
y
,

2
6
5
.
0
0

f
e
e
t

a
n
d

S 8
4
0
3
6
'
O
9
"

E
,

p
a
r
a
l
l
e
l

w
i
t
h

t
h
e

s
a
i
d

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e
,

1
7
7
.
3
7

f
e
e
t

f
r
o
m

t
h
e

i
n
t
e
r
s
e
c
t
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

s
a
i
d

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

f
e
e
t
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

l
e
a
v
i
n
g

s
a
i
d

R
e
-
E
s
t
a
b
l
i
s
h
e
d

O
u
t
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e

r
u
n

S l
o
4
1
'
4
8
"

W
,

p
a
r
a
l
l
e
l

w
i
t
h

t
h
e

c
e
n
t
e
r
l
i
n
e

o
f

O
r
c
h
a
r
d

S
t
r
e
e
t

i
n

s
a
i
d

P
l
a
t

o
f

L
i
n
e

a
n
d

t
h
e

W
e
s
t

l
i
n
e

o
f

L
o
t

1
,

B
l
o
c
k

1
3

o
f

s
a
i
d

P
l
a
t

o
f

F
i
r
s
t

A
d
d
i
t
i
o
n

t
o

S
i
d
n
e
y

e
x
t
e
n
d
e
d
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

N 8
4
.
3
6
'
O
9
"

W
,

p
a
r
a
l
l
e
l

w
i
t
h

t
h
e

s
a
i
d

S
.
M
.

S
t
e
v
e
n
s

T
o
w
n

P
l
a
t

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y
,

5
2
1
.
8
2

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o a p
o
i
n
t

w
h
i
c
h

b
e
a
r
s

N 3
1
.
4
8
'
1
2
"

W
,

p
a
r
a
l
l
e
l

w
i
t
h

t
h
e

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

l
i
n
e

o
f

L
o
t

3
,

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

l
i
n
e

1
7
7
.
3
7

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o

i
t
s

i
n
t
e
r
s
e
c
t
i
o
n

w
i
t
h

t
h
e

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

W
e
s
t

L
i
n
e

o
f

L
o
t

1
,

B
l
o
c
k

1
3

o
f

s
a
i
d

P
l
a
t

o
f

B
l
o
c
k

1
1

o
f

s
a
i
d

P
l
a
t

o
f

S
.
M
.

S
t
e
v
e
n
s

T
o
w
n

P
l
a
t

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y
,

f
r
o
m

t
h
e

a
n
g
l
e

p
o
i
n
t

i
n

t
h
e

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e

f
r
o
n
t
i
n
g

B
l
o
c
k

1
1

o
f

s
a
i
d

P
l
a
t

o
f

F
i
r
s
t

A
d
d
i
t
i
o
n

t
o

S
i
d
n
e
y
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

S l
o
4
3
'
2
4
"

E
;

a
l
o
n
g

t
h
e

s
a
i
d

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

6
5
.
0
0

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o

t
h
e

T
R
U
E

P
O
I
N
T

O
F

S
.
M
.

S
t
e
v
e
n
s

T
o
w
n

P
l
a
t

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

S 3
1
0
4
8
'
1
2
"

E 2
0
2
.
7
8

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o

t
h
e

s
a
i
d

M
e
a
n

H
i
g
h

W
a
t
e
r

L
i
n
e

o
f

S
i
n
c
l
a
i
r

I
n
l
e
t
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

B
E
G
I
N
N
I
N
G

a
l
o
n
g

t
h
e

s
a
i
d

M
e
a
n

H
i
g
h

W
a
t
e
r

L
i
n
e

o
n

t
h
e

f
o
l
l
o
w
i
n
g

c
o
u
r
s
e
,

N 4
6
o
5
3
'
5
0
"

W 3
1
.
7
8

f
e
e
t
,

N 5
0
0
0
8
'
1
3
"

E 5
3
.
4
7

f
e
e
t
,

N 4
4
0
2
6
'
0
5
"

E 4
1
.
6
5

f
e
e
t
,

N 6
4
*
4
1
'
3
3
"

E 2
2
.
5
4

f
e
e
t
,

N 5
5
0
2
0
'
2
5
"

E 1
7
.
4
6

f
e
e
t
,

N 4
4
o
5
5
'
4
1
"

W
,

5
.
8
9

f
e
e
t

t
o

t
h
e

b
e
g
i
n
n
i
n
g

a c
u
r
v
e

t
o

t
h
e

r
i
g
h
t

f
r
o
m

w
h
i
c
h

t
h
e

r
a
d
i
u
s

p
o
i
n
t

b
e
a
r
s

N 4
5
0
0
6
'
2
9
"

E 2
0
.
0
0

f
e
e
t
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

N
o
r
t
h
w
e
s
t
e
r
l
y
,

N
o
r
t
h
e
a
s
t
e
r
l
y

a
n
d

S
o
u
t
h
e
a
s
t
e
r
l
y

a
l
o
n
g

t
h
e

a
r
e

o
f

s
a
i
d

c
u
r
v
e

7
1
.
3
4

f
e
e
t

t
o a

P
M
A

2
2
-
0
8
0
0
1
6

p
o
i
n
t

f
r
o
m

w
h
i
c
h

t
h
e

r
a
d
i
u
s

p
o
i
n
t

b
e
a
r
s

S 6
9
0
2
8
'
4
4
"

W
;
t
h
e
n
c
e

S 2
0
o
3
1
'
1
6
"

E 1
1
.
0
7

f
e
e
t
,

S 8
6
0
1
8
'
O
9
"

E 1
3
4
.
2
7

f
e
e
t
,

S 7
8
0
0
9
'
0
3
"

E 9
3
.
7
9

f
e
e
t
,

S 6
9
0
0
4
'
1
7
"

E 9
7
.
5
0

f
e
e
t
,

S 6
0
*
1
5
'
5
0
"

E 6
9
.
1
7

f
e
e
t
,

S 7
0
0
1
5
'
3
4
"

E 4
5
.
3
8

f
e
e
t
,

S 6
3
o
3
6
'
4
7
"

E 1
1
9
.
1
8

f
e
e
t

a
n
d

S 7
3
0
3
5
'
5
9
"

E 4
8
.
0
0

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

P
a
r
c
e
l

3

t
o

t
h
e

T
R
U
E

P
O
I
N
T

O
F

B
E
G
I
N
N
I
N
G
.

T
h
a
t

p
o
r
t
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

h
a
r
b
o
r

a
r
e
a

f
r
o
n
t
i
n
g

B
l
o
c
k

1
3

o
f

t
h
e

S
i
d
n
e
y

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

f
r
o
n
t
i
n
g

B
l
o
c
k

1
3

o
f

t
h
e

P
l
a
t

o
f

F
i
r
s
t

A
d
d
i
t
i
o
n

t
o

S
i
d
n
e
y

a
sr
e
c
o
r
d
e
d

i
n

V
o
l
u
m
e

1
, p
a
g
e

1
0

o
f

p
l
a
t
s
,

r
e
c
o
r
d
s

o
f

K
i
t
s
a
p

C
o
u
n
t
y
,

W
a
s
h
i
n
g
t
o
n

a
n
d

b
e
i
n
g

a po
r
t
i
o
n

o
f

G
o
v
e
r
n
m
e
n
t

L
o
t

4
,

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

2
6
,t
o
w
n
s
h
i
p

2
4

N
o
r
t
h
,

R
a
n
g
e

1 E
a
s
t

W
.
M
.

m
o
r
e

p
a
r
t
i
c
u
l
a
r
l
y

d
e
s
c
r
i
b
e
d

a
s

f
o
l
l
o
w
s
:C
o
m
m
e
n
c
i
n
g

a
t

t
h
a
t

c
e
r
t
a
i
n

m
o
n
u
m
e
n
t

a
s

d
e
s
c
r
i
b
e
d

i
n

R
e
c
o
r
d

o
f

S
u
r
v
e
y

r
e
c
o
r
d
e
d

u
n
d
e
r

A
u
d
i
t
o
r
'
s

F
i
l
e

N
u
m
b
e
r

3
0
9
0
2
5
7

a
n
d

f
i
l
e
d

i
n

V
o
l
u
m
e

4
9
,

p
a
g
e

1
3
9

o
f s
u
r
v
e
y
s
,

r
e
c
o
r
d
s

o
f

K
i
t
s
a
p

C
o
u
n
t
y
,

W
a
s
h
i
n
g
t
o
n

b
e
i
n
g

d
e
s
i
g
n
a
t
e
d

a
s

t
h
e

m
e
a
n
d
e
r

c
o
r
n
e
r

c
o
m
m
o
n

t
o

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

2
5

A
r
e
a

T e R
e
f
e
r
e
n
c
e

S u
a
r
e

F
o
o
t

a
n
d

2
6
,

T
o
w
n
s
h
i
p

2
4

N
o
r
t
h
,

R
a
n
g
e

1 E
a
s
t

W
.
M
.
,

f
r
o
m

w
h
i
c
h

t
h
e

E
a
s
t

o
n
e

q
u
a
r
t
e
r

o
f

s
a
i
d

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

2
6

b
e
a
r
s

S 1
*
3
1
'
O
9
"

W 5
8
9
.
2
1

f
e
e
t
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

y
p

q a
g
e

N 1
0
3
1
'
0
9
"

E
,

a
l
o
n
g

t
h
e

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

E
a
s
t

L
i
n
e

o
f

G
o
v
e
r
n
m
e
n
t

L
o
t

4 o
f

s
a
i
d

s
e
c
t
i
o
n
,

9
1
2
.
4
8

f
e
e
t

t
o

i
t
s

i
n
t
e
r
s
e
c
t
i
o
n

w
i
t
h

t
h
eL
e
a
s
e

2
2
-
0
A
2
2
3
5

"
A
"

N
o
n
-
W
a
t
e
r

D
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t

l
e
a
s
e

N
o
.

2
2
-
0
A
2
2
3
5

(
p
e
r

P
M
A

2
2
-
0
8
0
0
7
6
)

3
7
7
8
.
4
s
q
.

f
t
.

* I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e

f
r
o
n
t
i
n
g

t
h
e

S
h
o
r
e

a
n
d

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

S
o
u
t
h
w
e
s
t
e
r
l
y

a
n
d

N
o
r
t
h
w
e
s
t
e
r
l
y

a
l
o
n
g

s
a
i
d

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
eL
e
a
s
e

2
2
-
O
A
2
2
3
5

"
B
"

P
u
b
l
i
c

U
s
e

A
r
e
a

L
e
a
s
e

N
o
.

2
2
-
0
A
2
2
3
5

(
p
e
r

P
M
A

2
2
-
0
8
0
0
7

6
)

3
3
0
7
.
3

s
q
.

f
t
.

1 o
n

t
h
e

f
o
l
l
o
w
i
n
g

c
o
u
r
s
e
s
,

S 4
7
0
0
8
'
5
1
"

W 1
4
1
1
.
9
0

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o

t
h
e

N
o
r
t
h
e
a
s
t

c
o
r
n
e
r

o
f

L
o
t

1
0
,

B
l
o
c
k

1
3

o
f

t
h
e

S
i
d
n
e
y

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

a
ss
h
o
w
n

o
n

t
h
e

M
a
p

o
f

S
h
o
r
e

a
n
d

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y
,

K
i
t
s
a
p

C
o
u
n
t
y
,

W
a
s
h
i
n
g
t
o
n
,

d
a
t
e
d

M
a
y

3
0
,

1
8
9
2
,

s
a
i
d

p
o
i
n
t

b
e
i
n
g

t
h
e

i
n
t
e
r
s
e
c
t
i
o
n

L
e
a
s
e

2
2
-
0
A
2
2
3
5

"
C
"

N
o
n
-
W
a
t
e
r

D
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t

L
e
a
s
e

N
o
.

2
2
-
O
A
2
2
3
5

(
p
e
r

P
M
A

2
2
-
0
8
0
0
7
6
)

3
9
4
2
.
3

s
q
.

f
t
.

* o
f

t
h
e

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

l
i
n
e

c
o
m
m
o
n

t
o

L
o
t
s

1
0

a
n
d

1
1
,

B
l
o
c
k

1
3

o
f

s
a
i
d

P
l
a
t

o
f

F
i
r
s
t

A
d
d
i
t
i
o
n

t
o

S
i
d
n
e
y

a
n
d

t
h
e

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
e
a
s
e

2
2
-
0
A
2
2
3
5

"
D
"

P
u
b
l
i
c

U
s
e

A
r
e
a

L
e
a
s
e

N
o
.

2
2
-
0
A
2
2
3
5

(
p
e
r

P
M
A

2
2
-
0
8
0
0
7

6
)

5
5
6
0
.
2

s
q
.

f
t
.

+ L
i
n
e

a
s

s
h
o
w
n

o
n

s
a
i
d

M
a
p

o
f

S
h
o
r
e

a
n
d

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

N 8
8
0
1
6
'
3
6
"

W
, a
t

r
i
g
h
t

a
n
g
l
e

t
o

t
h
e

s
a
i
d

E
a
s
t

l
i
n
e

o
f

L
o
t

1
0

o
f

t
h
eL
e
a
s
e

2
2
-
O
A
2
2
3
5

"
E
"

N
o
n
-
W
a
t
e
r

D
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t

L
e
a
s
e

N
o
.

2
2
-
0
A
2
2
3
5

(
p
e
r

P
M
A

2
2
-
0
8
0
0
1
6
)

7
0
,
0
6
3
.
4

s
q
.

f
t
.

+

P
l
a
t

o
f

F
i
r
s
t

A
d
d
i
t
i
o
n

t
o

S
i
d
n
e
y
,

1
7
5
.
0
0

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o

i
t
s

i
n
t
e
r
s
e
c
t
i
o
n

w
i
t
h

t
h
e

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

o
f

t
h
e

L
o
t

l
i
n
e

c
o
m
m
o
n

t
o

L
o
t
s

3

a
n
d

4 o
f

s
a
i
d

B
l
o
c
k

1
3

o
f

t
h
e

S
i
d
n
e
y

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

S l
o
4
3
'
2
4
"

W
,

a
l
o
n
g

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

e
x
t
e
n
s
i
o
n

o
f

s
a
i
d

l
o
t

l
i
n
e

c
o
m
m
o
n

t
o

L
o
t
s

3 a
n
d

4
, a

d
i
s
t
a
n
c
e

o
f

5
2
.
0
5

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

t
o a po
i
n
t

w
h
i
c
h

b
e
a
r
s

N
o
r
t
h
e
r
l
y

a
l
o
n
g

t
h
e

s
a
i
d

l
o
t

l
i
n
e

c
o
m
m
o
n

t
o

s
a
i
d

L
o
t
s

3 a
n
d

4 o
f

B
l
o
c
k

1
3

o
f

t
h
eL
e
a
s
e

2
2
-
0
A
2
2
3
4

"
A
"

N
o
n
-
W
a
t
e
r

D
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t

L
e
a
s
e

N
o
.

2
2
-
0
A
2
2
3
4

(
p
e
r

P
M
A

2
2
-
0
8
0
0
7
6
)

2
0
6
9
.
7

s
q
.

f
t
.

+ S
i
d
n
e
y

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d

5
0
.
0
0

f
e
e
t

d
i
s
t
a
n
c
e

f
r
o
m

t
h
e

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

N 8
4
.
3
6
'
O
9
"

W
,

p
a
r
a
l
l
e
l

w
i
t
h

a
n
d

4
9
.
4
9

a
t

r
i
g
h
t

a
n
g
l
e

t
o

t
h
e

s
a
i
d

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e
,

7
0
.
1
4

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o a p
o
i
n
t

1
1
.
0
0

f
e
e
t

E
a
s
t

o
f a
t

r
i
g
h
t

a
n
g
l
e

t
o

t
h
e

W
e
s
t

l
i
n
e

o
f

L
o
t

1
,

B
l
o
c
k

1
3

o
f

s
a
i
d

S
i
d
n
e
y

L
e
a
s
e

2
2
-
0
A
2
2
3
4

"
B
"

P
u
b
l
i
c

U
s
e

A
r
e
a

L
e
a
s
e

N
o
.

2
2
-
0
A
2
2
3
4

(
p
e
r

P
M
A

2
2
-
0
8
0
0
7

6
)

7
5
4
7
.
0

s
q
.

f
t
.

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

S 1
0
4
3
'
2
4
"

W
,

p
a
r
a
l
l
e
l

w
i
t
h

t
h
e

W
e
s
t

l
i
n
e

o
f

s
a
i
d

L
o
t

1
, a d
i
s
t
a
n
c
e

o
f

1
4
.
8
9

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o

i
t
s

i
n
t
e
r
s
e
c
t
i
o
n

w
i
t
h

t
h
eL
e
a
s
e

2
2
-
O
A
2
2
3
4

"
C
"

N
o
n
-
W
a
t
e
r

D
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t

L
e
a
s
e

N
o
.

2
2
-
O
A
2
2
3
4

(
p
e
r

P
M
A

2
2
-
0
8
0
0
7
6
)

2
7
0
8
.
8

s
q
.

f
t
.

+ M
e
a
n

H
i
g
h

W
a
t
e
r

L
i
n
e

o
f

S
i
n
c
l
a
i
r

I
n
l
e
t
,

a
s

b
a
s
e
d

u
p
o
n

U
.
S
.
C
.

a
n
d

G
.
S
.

T
i
d
a
l

B
e
n
c
h

M
a
r
k

S
t
a
m
p
e
d

N
u
m
b
e
r

9 S
U
B

2 R
E
S
E
T
;
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

E
a
s
t
e
r
l
y

a
l
o
n
g

t
h
e

s
a
i
d

M
e
a
n

H
i
g
h

W
a
t
e
r

L
i
n
e

o
n

t
h
e

f
o
l
l
o
w
i
n
g

c
o
u
r
s
e
s
,

S 7
5
.
3
0
'
4
6
"

E 2
7
.
3
4

f
e
e
t
,

N 8
8
.
1
1
'
O
9
"

E 6
7
.
5
8

f
e
e
t
,

S 8
3
.
4
9
'
0
1
"

E

3
0
.
1
8

f
e
e
t

a
n
d

S 8
8
0
2
5
'
0
5
"

E 5
3
.
2
6

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o

i
t
s

i
n
t
e
r
s
e
c
t
i
o
n

w
i
t
h

t
h
e

s
a
i
d

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e
;

t
h
e
n
c
e

N 4
7
*
0
8
'
5
1
"

E
,

a
l
o
n
g

t
h
eL
e
a
s
e

2
2
-
0
A
9
8
9
7

"
A
"

N
o
n
-
W
a
t
e
r

D
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t

A
m
e
n
d
e
d

L
e
a
s
e

N
o
.

2
2
-
0
A
9
8
9
7

(
T
r
a
c
t

"
B
"
)

2
5
7
0
.
7

s
q
.

f
t
.

+ s
a
i
d

I
n
n
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e

9
4
.
8
0

f
e
e
t

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

t
o

t
h
e

T
R
U
E

P
O
I
N
T

O
F

B
E
G
I
N
N
I
N
G
.

L
e
a
s
e

2
2
-
O
A
9
8
9
7

"
B
"

P
u
b
l
i
c

U
s
e

A
r
e
a

A
m
e
n
d
e
d

L
e
a
s
e

N
o
.

2
2
-
O
A
9
8
9
7

(
T
r
a
c
t

"
B
"
)

1
0
7
9
.
7
s
q
.

f
t
.

&

L
e
a
s
e

2
2
-
0
A
9
8
9
7

"
C
"

N
o
n
-
W
a
t
e
r

D
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t

A
m
e
n
d
e
d

L
e
a
s
e

N
o
.

2
2
-
0
A
9
8
9
7

(
T
r
a
c
t

"
B
"
)

7
6
,
0
4
8
.
9

s
q
.

f
t
.

+

L
e
a
s
e

2
2
-
0
A
9
8
9
7

"
D
"

N
o
n
-
W
a
t
e
r

D
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t

A
m
e
n
d
e
d

L
e
a
s
e

N
o
.

2
2
-
0
A
9
8
9
7

(
T
r
a
c
t

"
A
"
)

3
0
5
0
.
9

s
q
.

f
t
.

+

L
e
a
s
e

2
2
-
0
A
9
8
9
7

"
E
"

P
u
b
l
i
c

U
s
e

A
r
e
a

A
m
e
n
d
e
d

L
e
a
s
e

N
o
.

2
2
-
O
A
9
8
9
7

(
T
r
a
c
t

"
A
"
)

7
5
7
3
.
2

s
q
.

f
t
.

+

L
e
a
s
e

2
2
-
0
A
9
8
9
7

"
F
"

N
o
n
-
W
a
t
e
r

D
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t

A
m
e
n
d
e
d

L
e
a
s
e

N
o
.

2
2
-
0
A
9
8
9
7

(
T
r
a
c
t

"
A
"
)

6
6
6
7
.
4

s
q
.

f
t
.

+

P
M
A

2
2
-
0
8
0
0
7
6

P
a
r
c
e
l

T 6
7
9
,
6
2
2
.
0

s
q
.

f
t
.

-
t
-P
M
A

2
2
-
0
8
0
0
7
6

P
a
r
c
e
l

2 7
6
0
,
0
7
5
.
4

s
q
.
f
t
,

+

P
M
A

2
2
-
0
8
0
0
7
6

P
a
r
c
e
l

3 T 0
,
5
0
3
.
0

s
q
.

f
t
.

+

A
n
E
P
O
%
2

n

O
N

P
o
r
t

M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t

A
g
r
e
e
m
e
n
t

2
-
0
8
0
0
1
6

L
e
a
s
e

N
u
m
b
e
r
s

2
-
0
A
2
3
4
,

2
-
0
A
2
2
8
5

a
n
d

L
e
a
s
e

N
u
m
b
e
r

2
-
0
A
9
8
9
1

a
s

a
m
e
n
d
e
d

2
0
1
0m

H
a
r
b
o
r

A
r
e
a

a
n
d

S
h
o
r
e

a
n
d

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y

A
U
D
I
T
O
R
'
S

C
E
R
T
I
F
I
C
A
T
E

/
-
t
i
n
e

i
s

p
o
r
t
i
o
n

o
f
B
l
o
c
k
s

1
1
,

1
2

a
n
d

1
3F
i
l
e
d

f
o
r

r
e
c
o
r
d

t
h
i
s

_
Q
A
_

_
d
a
y

o
f Q
.

2
0
9
9

a
t : a
n
d

p
o
r
t
i
o
n

.
.
-

-
-
-
-
-

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

6 T
o
w
n
s
h
i
p

4
N R
a
n
g
e

l E
a
s
t

W
.
M
.

a
t

t
h
e

r
e
q
u
e
s
t

. o

U
n
-
N
u
m
b
e
r
e
d

T
r
a
c
t

W
a
r
d

C
.

M
u
l
l
i
e
r

& A
s
s
o
c
i
a
t
e
s

o
f

L
y
l
e

R
.

M
u
l
l
e
r

L
i
c
e
n
s
e
d

L
a
n
d

S
u
r
v
e
y
o
r
s

o
f

t
h
e* La

n
d

D
e
v
e
l
o
p
m
e
n
t

P
l
a
n
n
i
n
g

S
h
o
r
e

a
n
d

T
i
d
e

l
a
n
d
s

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y*
c
o
n
s
t
r
u
c
t
i
o
n

s
u
r
y
.
y
i
n
g

o

G
a
s
I

C
o
u
n
t
y

A
u
d
i
t
o
r

p
o
r
t
i
o
n

o
f

G
o
v
e
r
n
m
e
n
t

L
o
t
s

3 a
n
d
.
&

O
v
e
r

5
0 y
e
a
r
s

o
f

S
e
r
v
i
c
e

t
o

K
i
t
s
a
p

a
n
d

O
l
y
m
p
i
c

P
e
n
i
n
s
u
l
a

9 * *

2
1
7
8
i
d
n
e
y
A
v
e
n
u
e

(
3
6
0
)
8
7
6
-
3
4
4
3

L L
A
N

S
U
R
V
E
Y

N
U
M
B
E
R

S
W
-
N
E

6
-
2
4
-
0
1
-
1
-
0
t
o
(
p
S
E
-
N
E

6
-
2
4
-
0
1
-
1
-

S
e
c
i
t
o
n

6
-
T
o
w
n
s
h
z
p

2 N
o
r
t
h
-
R
a
n
g
e

1 E
a
s
t

W
.
M
.P
o
r
t

O
r
c
h
a
r
d
,

W
A

9
8
3
6
6

(
3
6
0
)

3
7
7
-
5
9
5
1

,
*
J
S
"
@
.
"
"

' .
"
"
'
"
d
A
s

a
g M
e
n

A
U
D
I
T
O
R
'
S

F
I
L
E

N
U
M
B
E
R

1
)
1
1
7
)
T
C
)
\
f
)
(
T
A

B
o
o
k

P
a
g
e
S

F
i
l
e
d
b
o
o
k

4
0
5

a
n
d

"
X
"

S
h
e
e
t

2 o
(
1
2

s
h
e
e
t
s

J
O
b

5
2
7

2
-

1



B
e
a
r
i
n
g
s

b
a
s
e
d

u
p
o
n

W
a
s
h
i
n
g
t
o
n

C
o
o
r
d
i
n
a
t
e

S s
t
e
m

N
o
r
t
h

Z
o
n
e

N
A
D

8
3
/
9
1

a
s

d
e
r
i
v
e
d

f
r
o
m

G
l
o
b
a

P
o
s
i
t
i
o
n
i
n
g

S
y
s
t
e
m

(
G
P
S
)

t
i
e
s

t
o

H
i
g
h

A
c
c
u
r
a
c
y

C
u
r
v
e

D
a
t
a

( 10

/

R
e
f
e
r
e
n
c
e

N
e
t
w
o
r
k

(
H
A
R
N
)

C
o
n
t
r
o
l

S
t
a
t
i
o
n
s
.

R
e
f
e
r

t
o

A
=

3
5
*
2
3
'
4
1
"

3
=

2
0
4
*
2
2
*
2
5
"

A
=

2
7
*
2
5
'
2
5
"

A
=

1
7
*
4
1
'
5
0
"

c
o
n
t
r
o
l

s
c
h
e
m
e

a
s

s
h
o
w
n

o
n

s
u
r
v
e
y

r
e
c
o
r
d
e
d

u
n
d
e
r

V
i
c
i
n
i
t
y

M
a

R
=
4
9
.
6
4

R
=
2
0
.
0
0

R
=
4
9
.
6
4

R
=
2
M
.
5
0

A
u
d
i
t
o
r
'
s

F
i
l
e

N
u
m
b
e
r

3
0
9
0
2
5
7
a
n
d

f
i
l
e
d

i
n
B
o
o
k

4
9
,L
=
3
0
.
6
7

L
=
7
1
.
3
4

L
=

2
3
.
7
6

L
=
8
2
.
3
4

p
a
g
e

1
3
9

o
f s
u
r
v
e
y
s
.

N
o

S
c
a
l
e

R
e
-
E
s
t
a
b
l
i
s
h
e
d

O
u
t
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e

3

r

p
e
r

S
t
a
t
e

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e

C
o
m
m
i
s
s
i
o
n

R
e
s
o
l
u
t
i
o
n

N
u
m
b
e
r

1
7
5

d
a
t
e
d

S
e
p
t
e
m
b
e
r

1
1
,

1
9
7
3

N 8
8
0
0
7
'
4
9
"

E 6
4
5
.
8
5

0

-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-
-
-

.
.
.
.

.
.

N 8
4
o
3
6
'
O
9
"

H
a
r
b
o
r

e
v o

P
M
A

9
2
-
0
8
0
0
1
6

[ P
a
r
c
e
l

1
]

A
r
e
a
=

6
1
9
,
6
2
2

s
q
.

f
t
.

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

A
m
e
n
d
e
d

L
e
a
s
e

N
u
m
b
e
r

2
-
0
A
2
3
5

A
r
e
a
=

6
,
0
5
2

s
q
.
J
.

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

N 8
4
*
3
6
'
O
9
"

W

4
,

'

.

3 8
4
'
3
6
'
O
9

4
,

'
9
6

N
8
3
*
0
5
'
5
l
"

W L
e
a
s
e

N
u
m
b
e
r

9
-
0
0
6
9

1
/ 2
7
.
9
2

1
4
3
9
9

I I

N 8
7
*
0
5

2 W

1 I

- 2
6

2
5

A
m
e
n
d
e
5
t

o
f
P
o
r
t

O
r
c
h
a
r
d

"
J
r

N 8
8
*
1
6
'
3
6
"

W 7
0
7

O
'
3
3
"

E 3 46
.
9
0A
q
u
a
t
i
c

L
a
n
d

L
e
a
s
e

a
s
e

N
u
m
b
e
r

2
-
0
0
9
5
@

I
f

8 1
7
5
0
0

1 1

-

N
u
m
b
e
r

9
-
A
O
3
3
6

6
3 N 8
4 3
6 9 I I

-
-
-

6
2
5
0
0
-
.
.
.
.
.

H
a
r
b
o
r

4

N 8
4
0
3
6
'
O
9
"

-
-
-

1
3
7
3
4

,
,
,
7

s

z c
o a

o

6
6
.
0
0 m
e

e
d s
e

N
u
m
b
e
r

2
-
0
A
2
3
4

O e
-
-

A
r
e
a
=

5
,
7
9
5

s
q
.
J
.

m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

&

A
m
e
n
d
e
d

L
e
a
s
e

N
u
m
b
e
r

9
-
0
A
9
8
9
1

2
6

2
5T
r
a
c
t

"
B
" .

R
o
c
w

(
m
e
t
e
r
s
)

6

o A
r
e
a
=

1
9
,
6
9
9

s
q
.

f
t m
o
r
e

o
r

l
e
s
s

N
-
6
1
7
7
9
.
3
1
8

O
t
;

O

,
,

5
9
.
9
7

3 E
-
3
6
4
6
7
7
.
8
2
4

N 8
8
*
1
6

3
6
"

o

o

o
e

P
o
r
t

M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t

A
g
r
e
e
m
e
n
t

2
-
0
8
0
0
1
6

o

L
e
a
s
e

N
u
m
b
e
r
s

2
-
0
A
2
8
4
,

2
-
0
A
S
2
3
5

a
n
d

L
e
a
s
e

N
u
m
b
e
r

2
-
0
A
9
8
9
1

2

s
t

o a
s

a
m
e
n
d
e
d

2
0
1
0o s
n

H
a
r
b
o
r

A
r
e
a

a
n
d

S
h
o
r
e

a
n
d

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y

A
U
D
I
T
O

'
S

C
E
R
T
I
F
I
C
A
T
E

f
r
o
n
t
i
n
g

a
s ,

p
a

p
o
r
t
i
o
n

o
f

B
l
o
c
k
s

1
1
,

1
2

a
n
d

1
3

R L
'

F
i
l
e
d

f
o
r

r
e
c
o
r
d

t
h
i
s

J
A
_
d
a
y

o
f

T
r
\

2
0

9 a
t

1 -
9
1

i
n n
d

t
i9
.
.
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

6 T
o
w
n
s
h
i
p

4
N R
a
n
g
e
l

E
a
s
t

W
.
M
.

a
t

t
h
e

r
e
q
u
e
s
t

a p
o
r

o
n

U
n
-
N
u
m
b
e
r
e
d

T
r
a
c
t

W
a
r
d

C
.

M
u
l
l
e
r

& A
s
s
o
c
i
a
t
e
s

.

o
f

L
y
l
e

R
.

M
u
l
l
e
r

L
i
c
e
n
s
e
d

L
a
n
d

S
u
r
v
e
y
o
r
s

o
f

t
h
e

1

"
d
D
e
r

e
a
l
o
p
m
e
n
t
S
P
l
a
n
e

a

S
h
o
r
e

a
n
d

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y* Su
b
d
i
v
i
s
i
o
n

a
n
d

P
l
a
t
t
i
n
g

b
e
i
n
g

i
n

2
6

2
5

* Co
n
s
t
r
u
c
t
i
o
n

s
u
r
v
e
y
i
n
g

C
o
u
n

A
u
d
i
t
o
r

-a
s
s

t
y p
o
r
t
s
o
n

o
f

G
o
v
e
r
n
m
e
n
t

L
o
t
s

3 a
n
d

4

O
v
e
r

5
0 y
e
a
r
s

o
f

S
e
r
v
i
c
e

t
o

K
i
t
e
a
p

a
n
d

O
l
y
m
p
i
c

P
e
n
i
n
s
u
l
a

, .

3
5

3
6

2
1
7

S
i
d
n
e
y

A
v
e
n
u
e

(
3
6
0
)
8
7
6
-
3
4
4
3

L L
A
N

S
U
R
V
E
Y

N
U
M
B
E
R

S
W
-
N
E

6
-
2
4
-
0
1
-
1
-
0
0
0
p
S
E
-
N
E

6
-
4
-
0
1
-
1
-

c
o
o
9

S
e
c
t
z
o
n

6
-
T
o
w
n
s
h
i
p

4 N
o
r
t
h
-
R
a
n
g
e

1 E
a
s
t

W
.
M
.P
o
r
t

O
r
c
h
a
r
d
,

W
A

9
8
3
6
6

(
3
6
0
)

3
7
7
-
5
9
5
1

,
o
g
y
g
,
R
t
y
,
"
,
*
M
,
^

$
1
,
,
,
.
,
,
,

,

A
U
D
I
T
O
R
'
S

F
I

L
E

N
U
M
B
E
R

Z
O
W

O
'
N
)
1
0
1
3
4

B
o
o
k

P
a
g
e

F
i
e
l
d
b
o
o
k

4
0
5

a
n
d

"
X
"

S
h
e
e
t

S o
f 1
2

s
h
e
e
t
s

J
O
b

5
2
7

2

-

1



C
/

R
e
-
E
s
t
a
,
b
l
i
s
h
e
d

O
u
t
e
r

H
a
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e

p
e
r

S
t
a
t
e

H
a
,
r
b
o
r

L
i
n
e

C
o
m
m
i
s
s
i
o
n

R
e
s
o
l
u
t
i
o
n

N
u
m
b
e
r

1
7
5

d
a
t
e
d

S
e
p
t
e
m
b
8

0
7

9
1
9
E 6
4
5
.
8
5

.
5

'
\

S
c
a
l
e

1
"
=
5
0
'

2
5

7
5

c
o

2
c
e

m
m

-

0
5

1
0
0

o
r

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
.
.
.
.
.
.
.

O
u
t
e
r

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
.
.
.
.
.
.
.

h
'
a
r
b
o
r

N
8
4
.
3
6
'
O
9
"

w

7
4
e
.
7
2

8
6
9
.
2
5

L
i
n
e

(
P
o
r
t

M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t

A
g
r
e

e
n
t

2
2
-

8
0
0
1
6
)

P
M
A

2
2
-
0
8
0
0
1
6

P
A
R
C
E
L

1
I
I
n
i
m
u
m
m
i
t

c
o

<
P
o
e

O

-
n

1
3
4
.

-
-

L
E
A
S
E

O
A

2
3
5
"
F

L
M
S
E

2
2
-
0
A
2
2
3
5
"
A
"

L
a
s
t

2
2
-
0

5
"
D

.

E
2
2

0
A
2
2
3

"
B

)

A
m
e
n
d
e
d

t
o

2
2
-
0
A

2
3

u
n
e

-

E
A
S
E

2
-

-
-
-
-
-

.
.
.
.
.
.

t
o

a
s

a
s

L
o
r

/
4
0

s
e
e
.

s
s

e
a
s

L
o
r

o
r



e
.

@
C
L

T
g
a
r
b
o
r

s
t
e
d

S
e
p
l
e
a
v
,
b
e
r

1
1
'

o
s
'
^
s
'

R
e
-
@

R
e
e
s
o
l
u
t
i
o
n

N
s
'

C
o
o
p
s
i
s
s

p
e
r

S
t
a
t
e

g
a
r
b
o
y

L
i
s
e

N
8
8
.
0
7
'
4
9
"

E

6
4
5
.
8
5

S
c
a
l
e

1
"
=
5
0
'

e
x

-
5

2
5

7
5

m
a
a

.
8

2

m
m

-

0
5
0

7
0
0

H
a
r
b
o
r

N
8
4
c
3
6
'
O
9
"

u
t r
e
a
r

8
6
9
.
2
5

L
i
n
e

o
r
t

M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t

A
g
r
e

e
n
t

2
2
-
0
8
0
0
1
6
)

2
2
-
o
s
o
o
n

e
m

z
z
-
o
s
o
o
2
s

P
A
x
c
a

1
P
A
R
C
H

2

C
C

r
n

2
7
0
.
0
0

0

N
C
L
A

N
8
8
<
1
6

2
5
6
.
O
O

C
o

.
.

'
-

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

s
o

L
F
A
S
E

2
2
-
0
A

2
3
5
"
E

8
t

'
-
-
-
-

9
o

8
O

g
e
s

o
r

'
N

8
4
'
3
6

0
9

-
-
-

C
o
n
c
r
e
t
e

H
o
a
l

i
t
s
a
p

T
r
a
n
s
i
t

a
W
a
s
h
i

n
M
u
n
i
c
i
p
a
l

C
o
r
p
o
r
a
t
i
o
'
n
'

s
e
a
s
e

N
u
m
b

2
-
0
0
9
6
2
9

"

c
-
,

n
o
,

'

8
'
l
e
'
3
8
"

W
o

.
2
7
s

o
o

a
g
e
s
s
o
3
0
s

t
o

-
-

.
-
-
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.

(
P
o
r
t

M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t

A
g
r
e
e
m
e
n
t

2
-
0
8
0
0
1
6
)

o
a

0
t
o

a
o
s

-
-
-
-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

7
r
o
.

.
.
.
E

c
.
.

e
m
e

a
o
o
*

s
s

'
h

n
e
r

.
1
1

Q
a
r
b

e
r
-
2
2
-
p

z
z
3
4 A
k

a



f

.
0

m
i
l
m
i
l
l
u
l
l
l
I
I
I
I
I
I
l
l

I l
u
l
u
l
l
a
n
m
M
u
n
i

c
o
m

s
h
o
r

a
n
a

i
s

w
a
s

r
s e
v

N 8
8
'
1
6
'

W 2
5
6
.
0
0

B
I
o

k 1
6E
l
l
l
l
l
l
l
l
l
l
l
M
i
l
i
l
l
l
U

I
I
I
I
I
l
l

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

- - -
-
-
-
-
-
-
.
.
.
.
.
.

\ 0 O

L
o
t

1 L
o
t

2 L
o
t

& L
o
t

4 L
o
t

5 L
o
t

6

3
6 0
9 o -

-
-
-
-
-
-

. --

C
O
O
C
r
e
t
e

F O
a
(

' K
i
t
s
a
p

T
r
a
n
s
i
t

a
.
a
W
a
s
h
i

g
b

n
2
M
a
c

t
w
2
p
a
l

C
m

'
a
t
i
o
r
l
'

s

0 0

C
O
O
C
r
e
t
e

f
l
o
a
t

N 8
8

1
6
'
3
8
"

W c , 1 q
,

P
M
A

2 0
8
0
0
1
6

.

P
A
R
C
E
L

3

R
a
p

L
E
A
S
E

2
2

0
A
9
8
9
1
"

-
-
-
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.

(
P
o
r
t

M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t

A
g
r
e
e
m
e
n
t

2
-
0
8
0
0
1
6
)

s
o

a /

N a
s

9
"

L
E
A

E 2
-
0
A
9
8

1
"
B

/

p
s

1 n
e
r .

s
o L
E
A
S
E

2
2
-
0
4
9
8
9
1
"
9

3N
8
8
"
3
3
3
9
"
W

7
5
6
.
2
4

H
a
r
b
o
r

o

-
-

e
g

.
; . o 4 .
2
4
.

L
E
A
S
E

2
2
-
0
A

8
9
1
"
E
.

B o
c
k

1

L
o
t

6

L
i
t
s
e
2
2
=

2
2
3
4

/ 7
0 L
o
t

5

-
L
E
A
S
E

-
-
8
4
2
2

4
" 6
7 L
o
t

L
o
t L
o 0 o
r

1 o / E
A
S
E

2
2
-
0
A
9
8
9
1
"
F

3

o
z
,

S e
d

o
f
S
i

n
e

"

1
1

.
5
0

L
E
A
S
E

9
1
"
C
"

o
t

1

B
L
O
C
K

3

0

l
e 0

4
1
1
1

8

L
o
t

4

3

3
3

N 8
8
'
1
6

3
8
"

"

L
o
t

2

o

L
o
t
8 T
S
t

A
d
d

t
i
o
n

t
o

S
i
d
n
e
yo 0 v
o
l
u
m
e

p
a
g
e

T
o

o
f
p
l
a
t
sL
o
t

1 P
O
R
E
T
x

M
w

n

O

P
o
r
t

M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t

A
g
r
e
e
m
e
n
t

2
-
0
8
0
0
1
6

o
a

L
e
a
,
s
e

N
u
m
b
e
r
s

2
-
0
A
2
3
4

a
n
d

L
e
a
s
e

N
u
m
b
e
r

2
2
-
0
A
9
8
9
1

a
s

a
m
e
n
d
e
d

2
0
1
0

0

L
o
r

2

A
U
D
I
T
O
R
'
S

C
E
R
T
I
F
I
C
A
T
E

H
a
r
b
o
r

A
r
e
a

a
n
d

S
h
o
r
e

a
n
d

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y

L
o
r

1
1 f
r
o
n
t
i
n
g

t
o 9 L
o
r

K
l F
i
l
e
d

f
o
r

r
e
c
o
r
d

t
h
i
s

0
1 d
a
y

o
f

A
c
a
c
k
i

2
0 a
t .

A
n p
o
r
t
i
o
n

o
f

B
l
o
c
k

1
3

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

6 T
o
w
n
s
h
i
p

9
4
N

R
a
n
g
e

1 E
a
s
t

W
.
M
.

a
t

t
h
e

r
e
q
u
e
s
t

a
n
d

p
o
r
t
i
o
n

W
a
r
d

C
.

M
u
l
l
e
r

& A
s
s
o
c
i
a
t
e
s

,
,
l

o
f

L
y
l
e

R
.

M
u
l
l
e
r

U
n
-
N
u
m
b
e
r
e
d

T
r
a
c
t

L
i
c
e
n
s
e
d

L
a
n
d

S
u
r
v
e
y
o
r
s

o
f
U
s
e

* La
n
d

D
e
v
e
l
o
p
m
e
n
t

P
l
a
n
n
i
n
g

.
.
.
.

.
q
g
q
.
v
.

R
x
h
!

\ ,
k
k
V
i
r
d
-
o
n

s
y
:

s
h
o
r
e

a
n
d

T
i
d

l
a

a
s

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y* Co
n
s
t
r
u
c
t
i
o
n

s
u
r
v
e
y
i
n
g

, C
o
u
n
t
y

A
u
d
i
t
o
r

.o
r
t
s
o
n

o
f

G
o
v
e
r
n
m
e
n
t

L
o
t

4O
v
e
r

5
0 y
e
a
r
s

o
f

S
e
r
v
i
c
e

t
o

K
i
t
s
a
p

a
n
d

O
l
y
m
p
i
c

P
e
n
i
n
s
u
l
a

)

.2
1
7

S
i
d
n
e
y

A
v
e
n
u
e

(
3
6
0
)
8
7
6
-
3
4
4
3

L
L S
U
R
V
E
Y

N
U
M
B
E
R

S
W
-
N
E

6
-
9
4
-
0
1
-
1
-
0
0
0
(
a

S
E
-
N
E

6
-
4
-
0
1
-
1
-

c
o
o
c
1

S
e
c
t
z
o
n

6
-

o
w
n
s
h
i
p

4 N
o
r
t
h
-
R
a
n
g
e

1 E
a
s
t

W
.
M
.

P
o
r
t

O
r
c
h
a
r
d
,

W
A

9
8
3
6
6

(
3
6
0
)

3
7
7
-
5
9
5
1

.
1
2
1
:
2
'
d
"
"
!
"
'
"
'
i
f
"
"
"
"
"
'
.
^
\
t
?
w
e
s
s
.
.
n
e
s
i
w

A
U
D
I
T
O
R
'
S

F
I
L
E

N
U
M
B
E
R

2
0
(
|

0
3
0
1
0

1
1
$

B
o
o
k

1
5

P
a
g
e
S

F
i
l
e
d
b
o
o
k

4
0
5

a
n
d

"
X
"

S
h
e
e
p

6 o
f 1
2

s
h
e
e
t
s

J
O
b

5
2
7

2
-

1

Z
o
4
0
%

O
t
t

"
)
5
-

6 T



N

T
o
e _ _

,
' 3

. r

a
p
p
r
o
x
i
m
a
t
e

- -

1
3
4 8 k c
a
t
i
o
h

S
c
a
l
e

1
"
=
2
0e m
o
r
e

N 8
6 1

\

.
.

- -

%
'
0
;

- < 0 7 O 2 0 4 0

8
.
5

4
4

2

o

8
F 8 2
3
" .

N / b

C
O

L
E
A
S
E

2
2
-
0
A
2
2
3
5
"
A
"

o
O
S
'
S

9
0
<

L
E
A
s

2
2
-
0
A
2
2
3
5
"
D

8
4 1 4
, ,
n s
t
g
n

8
0
0

.
.

a
c
r
e
t
e

p
a
r

; s
i
g

A
m
e
n
d
e
d

H
a
r
b
o
r
A
r
e
a

L

E
A
S
E

2
2
-
0
A

3
5
"
B

(
C
i
t
y

o
f P
o
r
t r

2
2
-

6
0

1
1
.
9
5

R
=

6
.
4
0

6 q
3 L
=

7
2
.
9
9

N 8
6
*
4
7

5 I o

A
=

T
7
6
'
7
8
'
4
8
"

I

A
=

6
9
.
3
6
'
O
9
"

' l
i
g
h
t

s
t
a
n
d
a
r
d

4
"
x
4
*

. * * R
=

4
.
9
0

2
.
4
4o L
=

5
.
9
5

N y
g
o
3
0

2 h s
t
a
n
d
a

9
2
.
6
3

M
a
r
b
o T

E
A
S
E

2
2
-
0
A
2
2
3
5
"
C
'

I 5
5
.

a
s

r
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-
-
-

_ _

.
L

1 1

5
5
.

a
s

T

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

5
5
.

a
s

N 8
4 o
3
6
'
O
9
"

(
,
yE
x
h
i
b
i
t

$
t
o
w
i
n
g

P
O
R
T

O
F

B
A
E
M
E
R
T
O
N

O
f

P
o
r
t

M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t

A
g
r
e
e
m
e
n
t
2
-
-
0
8
0
0
1
6

6
6
"

L
e
a
s
e

N
u
m
b
e
r
s

2
-
0
A
2
3
5

U
D
I
T
O
R
'
S

C
E
R
T
I
F
I
C
A
T
E

a
s

a
m
e
n
d
e
d

s
o
l
o

F
i
l
e
d

f
o
r

r
e
c
o
r
d

t
h
i
s

d
a
y

o
f a
g
g 2
0 a
t

1 5 H
a
r
b
o
r

A a f
r
o
n
t
i
n
g

s
e
c
t
i
o
n

a
s

T
o
w
n
s
h
i
p

4
N R
a
n
g
e

l E
a
s
t

W
.
M
.

a
t

t
h
e

r
e
q
u
e
s
t

B
l
o
c
k
s

1
1

a
n
d

1
2

W
a
r
d

C
.

M
u
l
l
e
r

& A
s
s
o
c
i
a
t
e
s

o
f

L
y
l
e

R
.

M
u
l
l
e
r

U
c

s
e
d

L
a
n
d

S e
y
o
r
s

S
h
o
r
e

a
n
d

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y.
o
n

a
s
e
T

A
-
M
A
N

B
y
:

i
d b 0
.
,
(

b
e
i
n
g

p
o
r
t
i
o
n

o
f

<
c
o
n
.
e
r
n
e
t
i
o
n

s
u
r
v
e
v
i
n
g

C
o
u
n
t
y

A
u
d
i
t
o
r

U G
o
v
e
r
n
m
e
n
t

L
o
t

3

4
4
-
-

S
e
M
e
e
t
o
K
i
t
e
a
p
a
n
d

O
l
6

)
p
8
i
c
P
e

s
3
u
l
a

L L
A
N

S
U
R
V
E
Y

N
U
M
B
E
R

S
W
-
N
E

6
-
2

-
0
1
-
1
-
0
0
0
(
p

S
E
-
N
E

6
-
4
-
0
1
-
1
-

c
o
o

"
"
-

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

2
6
-
T
o
w
n
s
h
i
p

2
4

N
o
r
t
h
-
R
a
n
g
e

1 E
a
s
t

W
.

M
.

P
o
r
t

O
r
c
h
a
r
d
,

W
A

9
8
3
6
6

(
3
6
0
)

3
7
7
-
5
9
5
1

W
,
4
w
A
q

A
U
D
I
T
O
R
'
S

F
I
L
E

N
U
M
B
E
R

(
0
1
1

0
3
0
1

(
)

(
3
6

B
o
o
k

P
a
g
e

F
i
l
e
d
b
o
o
k

4
0
5

a
n
d

"
X
"

S
h
e
e
t

7 o
f

1
2

s
h
e
e
t
s

a
l

O
b

5
2
7

2
-

1

a
s
e
s
o
t

o
e
S

7
5 e
s



S
c
a
l
e

1
"
=
2
0
'

5 7
5

3
0

c
o

0 T
O

2
0

4
0

T
o
e .
.
.
.
.
.

1 .
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.

a
t
?

'

- .
.
.
.

R
o
c
k

a
p
p
r
o
x
i
m
a
t
e

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
.
.

1
3
4
.

o
k c
a
t
i
o
n

-
-
-
.
.
.
.

L
E
A
S
E

2
2
-

0
A
2
2
3
5
"
"

@

L
E
A
S
E

2
2
-
0
A
2
o
o
2
5
5
5
.
7

.
.
.

o .
.
.
.
.
.
.

0
6

A
m
e
n
d
e
d

H
a
r
b
o
r
AE
A
S
E

2
2
-
0
A
p
2
3
5
"
B
"

(
C
j o
f

e
a 2
2
-
0
A

2
3

R
=

6
.
4
0

L
=

7
2
.
9
9

N 8
6
*
4

5
*

o

A
= 7 T 6*
T

B
'
4
8
"

I

4
6
'
P
O
3
6
'
O
9
"

2
.
4

l
i
g
h
t

s
t
a
n
d
a
r
d

4
"
x
4

/

E
x
h
i
b
i
t

S
h
o
w
i
n
g

'

o L = 5
.
9
5

N y
g
o
3
0

P
O
R
T

O
F

B
R
E
M
E
R
T
C

N

P
o
r
t

M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t

A
g
r
e
e
m
e
n
t

2
-
0
8
0
0
1
6

9
2
.
6
3

L
e
a
s
e

N
u
m
b
e
r
s

2
-
0
A
2
3
5

a
s

a
m
e
n
d
e
d

2
0
1
0

H
a
r
b
o
r

A
U
D
I
T
O
R
'
S

C
E
R
T
I
F
I
C
A
T
E

i
n

,
, F
i
l
e
d

f
o
r

r
e
c
o
r
d

t
h
i
s

0
\

d
a

o
f

Y
O 2
0 a
t

\ 5

H
a
r
b
o
r

A
r
e
a

f
r
o
n
t
i
n
g

Y <
t
e
>
1

,
,S
e
c
t
i
o
n

o
w
n
s
h
i
p

R
a
n
g
e

0
\

E W
.
M
.

a
t

t
h
e

r
e
q
u
e
s
t

s
o
o
C

8 H G
W

i
f

W
a
r
d

C
.

M
u
l
l
e
r

& A
s
s
o
c
i
a
t
e
s

o o
f

L
y
l
e

R
.

M
u
l
l
e
r

o
f

t
h
eL
i
c
e
n
s
e
d

L
a
n
d

S
u
r
v
e
y
o
r
s

S
h
o
r
e

a
n
d

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y

* La
n
d

D
e
v
e
l
o
p
m
e
n
t

P
l
a
n
n
i
n
g

* Bo
u
n
d
a
r
y

a
n
d

L
o
t

S
u
r
v
e
y
s

b
e
i
n
g

p
o
r
t
i
o
n

o
f

* Su
b
d
i
v
i
s
i
o
n

a
n
d

P
l
a
t
t
i
n
g

8
/
*.
e
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
s
.
,

C
o
u
n
t
y

A
u
d
i
t
o
r

G
o
v
e
r
n
m
e
n
t

L
o
t

3

O
v
e
r

5
0 y
e
a
r
s

o
f
S
e
r
v
i
c
e

t
o

K
i
t
s
a
p

a
n
d

O
l
y
m
p
i
c

P
e
n
i
n
s
u
l
a

%
,
d
i
s
,

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

2
6
-

T
o
w
n
s
h
i
p

2
4

N
o
r
t
h
-
R
a
n
g
e

1 E
a
s
t

W
.

M
.

2
1
7

S
i
d
n
e
y

A
v
e
n
u
e

(
3
6
0
)

8
7
6
-
3
4
4
3

S
U
R
V
E
Y

N
U

M B
E
R

S
W
-
N
E

6
-
4
-
0
1
-
1
-

D
C
O
(
o

-
N
E

6
-
2
4
-
0
1
-
1
-
@

P
o
r
t

O
r
c
h
a
r
d
,

W
A

9
8
3
6
6

(
3
6
0
)

3
7
7
-
5
9
5
1

T
l
'
.
"
"
.
.
.

. s
h h
a
e
d

A
U
D
I
T
O
R
'
S

F
I
L
E

N
U
M
B
E
R

2
0
0
0
3
0
1

p
t

3
6

B
o
o
k

T
i P
a
g
e

F
i
l
e
d
b
o
o
k

4
0
5

a
n
d

"
X
"

S
h
e
e
t

8 o
f 1
2

s
h
e
e
t
s

J
O
b

5
2
7

2
-

1

2
m
o
s
o
l
o
s
s

7
6
-

s
R



I
E
A
S
E

2
2
-
O
A
2
2
3
5
"
E

m
.

3
3
.

0
7

.
.
.
.
.
.
.

N 8
4 c
3
6
'
O
9

" I

7 33 S
c
a
l
e

1
"
=
2
0

-

O T 0 2
0

4
0

" 6
0

/ d
a
r
d

o - .
.

c
o
n
c
r

e
r

' -
-
.
,

l
e

r
n
e
t
e
r

e
p o

a
t s
t
a
n
d
a
r
d

-
- .

R
o
s
s

4
,
4

c
o
n
c
r
e
t

p
a

c
o
*
C

.
.

f
i
r
e

b d
r n
t

a
n
d
a
r
d l
e

O

0
4

-
-
-
.
.
.
.

6
2 O
O b
l
e-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
.
.
.

,

c
a

5 r

0
4 a
p
p
r
o
x

n
a
t
e

1 5
5
.

a
g

I

8
6
6
.

O
O

5
5
.

t Ma
n
d
a
r
d

4
. :

5
5
.

6
2

p
o

p
o
e -
-
-
-

1

E
x
h
i
b
s
t

S
h
o
w
z
n
g

P
O
R
T

O
F

B
R
E
M
E
R
T
O
N

P
o
r
t

M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t

A
g
r
e
e
m
e
n
t

2
-
0
8
0
0
1
6

L
e
a
s
e

N
u
m
b
e
r
s

2
-
0
A
2
3
.
4

a
n
d

2
-
0
A
2
3
5

-
A

a
s

a
m
e
n
d
e
d

2
0
1
0

s
n

L
E
A
S
E

2
2
-
0
A
2
2
3
4
'

(
'

H
a
r
b
o
r

A
r
e
a

a
n
d

S
h
o
r
e

a
n
d

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

f
r
o
n
t
i
n
g

P
o
r
t
i
o
n

o
f

B
l
o
c
k
s

1
2

a
n
d

1
3

o
f
t
h
e

s
t
a
n
d
a
r
d

'
o

S
h
o
r
e

a
n
d

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y

.

b
e
i
n
g

i
n A
U
D
I
T
O
R
'
S

C
E
R
T
I
F
I
C
A

p
o
r
t
s
o
n

o
f

G
o
v
e
r
n
m
e
n
t

L
o
t
s

3 a
n
d

4

L
o
t

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

6
-
T
o
w
n
s
h
i
p

2
4

N
o
r
t
h
-
R
a
n
g
e

1 E
a
s
t

W
.
M
.

w
.

F
i
l
e
d

f
o
r

r
e
c
o
r
d

t
h
i
s

A
d
a
y

o
f

i
f
y

o
n

2
0
1
6

a
t

5
9 n

.
.
.

-

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

T
o
w
n
s
h
i
p

R
a
n
g
e

(
3
)

5 W
.
M
.

a
t

t
h
e

r
e
q
u
e
s
t

W
a
r
d

C
.

M
u
l
l
e
r

& A
s
s
o
c
i
a
t
e
s

o
f

L
y
l
e

R
.

M
u
l
l
e
r

L
i
c
e
n
s
e
d

L
a
n
d

S
u
r
v
e
y
o
r
s

* La
n
d

D
e
v
e
l
o
p
m
e
n
t

P
l
a
n
n
i
n
g

* Bo
u
n
d
a
r
y

a
n
d

L
o
t

S
u
r
v
e
y
s

* Su
b
d
i
v
i
s
i
o
n

a
n
d

P
l
a
t
t
i
n
g

Q 8

.

* Co
n
s
t
r
u
c
t
i
o
n

s
u
r
v
e
y
i
n
g

. I
S
T
E

+ C
o
u
n
t
y

A
u
d
i
t
o
r

O
v
e
r

5
0 y
e
a
r
s

o
f

S
e
r
v
i
c
e

t
o

K
i
t
u
a
p

a
n
d

O
l
y
m
p
i
c

P
e
n
i
n
s
u
l
a

0
4
,

L
A2
1
7

S
i
d
n
e
y

A
v
e
n
u
e

(
3
6
0
)

8
7
6
-
3
4
4
3

S
U
R
V
E
Y

N
U
M
B
E
R

1
1

R
(
o
-

2
.
4

0
\
1

O
D
b
C
o

5 G 0
1

0
0
t
PP
o
r
t

O
r
c
h
a
r
d
,

W
A

9
8
3
6
6

(
3
6
0
)

3
7
7
-
5
9
5
1

,
*
J
S
'

"
.
R
"
"
'
d
?
'
"
"
"
"
'
^

1
"
.
,
,
.
-

A
U
D
I
T
O
R
'
S

F
I
L
E

N
U
M
B
E
R

*
;

0
1
\
0
%
t
O
f
3
6

B
o
o
k

"
D
O

P
a
g
e

F e
d
b

4
0
5
a
n
d
"
X
"

S
h
e
e
t
'
9

o
f 1
2

s
h
e
e
t
s

J
O
b

"
i
2
7
2
-
1?
o
i
t
o
S
o
l
o
t
@

T
S

-



C
o
n
c
r
e
t
e

F
l
o
a
t

K
i
t
s
a
p

T
r
a
n
s
i
t

a

W
a
s
h
i
n
g

o
n

M
u
n
i
c
i
p
a
l

C
o
r
p
o
r
a
t
i
o
n

e
a
s
e

N
u
m
b

9
2
-
0
0
2
6
2
9

i

C
o
n
c
r
e
t
e

F
l
o
a
t

S
c
a
l
e

1
"
=
2
0
'

. o
a

.

C
O o 0 7
0

2
0

4
0

N 8
8 0
1
6
'
3
6
"

W

.
.

1 7
5
.

O
O

P
M
A

2
2
-
0
8
0
0
1
6

.
.

R
i
p
-
R
a
p

(
P
o
r
t

M
a
,
n
a
,
g
e
m
e
n
t

A
g
r
e
e
m
e
n
t

2
-
0
8
0
0
1
6

6 0
9
"7
3
<
3
3

O
O

t
o

0
0 7
0 R
k-
1
4

L
E
A
S
E

2
2
-
0
A
2
2
3
4
"
A

.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.

o
c

O

a
p
p
r
o
x
i
m
a
t
e

7 8
0
9
" E

l
o
c
a

0
8
3
3
4
0 0

M
e
a
n

8
8
5
2
3

0
6
5
"

2 z
s

e N 8
8
0
3
3
'
3
9
"

W

h
e 0
2

N 8
8
0
3
3

3
9
"

W 7
5
6
.
2
4

r
e

a
l
k

1
3
7
.
3
4

H
a
r
b
o
r

l
i t t
a
n
d
a
r
d

L
E
A
S
E

2
2
-
b
A
2
2
3
4
'

(
"

L
E
A
S
E

2
2
-
0
A
2
2

4
"
C
"

L
o
t

a

L
o

o
f E
x
h
i
b
i
t

S
h
o
w
i
n
g

a e

o P
O
R
T

O
F

B
R
E
M
E
R
T
O
N

(
M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t

A
g
r
e
e
m
e
n
t

2
2
-
0
8
0
0
1
6

S n
d s

o
f

S
i

g
n
e

L
e
a
s
e

N
u
m
b
e
r
s

2
9
-
0
A
2
8
4
,

2
-
0
A
2
3
5

a
s

a
.
m
b
n
d
e
d

2
0
1
0D
I
T

R
'
S

C
E
R
'
l
l
l
F
I
C
A
T
E

m

o
r

e
c
o
r
d

t
h
i
s

A
f

o
r

c
a
g
d
r
y

2
0

a
t

H
a
r
b
o
r

A
r
e
a

f
r
o
n
t
i
n
g

.
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

6 T
o
w

s
h
i
p

4
N R
a
n
g
e

l E
a
s
t

W
.
M
.

a
t

t
h
e

r
e
q
u
e
s
t

.
-

L
o
t
s

1 t
h
r
u

8
,

B
l
o
c
k

1
3

W
a
r
d

C
.

M
u
l
l
e
r

& A
s
s
o
c
i
a
t
e

.

o
f

L
y
l
e

R
.

M
u
l
l
e
r

o
f

t
h
e"
"
D
e

e
a
n
d
t .

r
o
r
s

S
h
o
r
e

a
n
d

T
i
d
e
l
a
n
d
s

o
f

S
i
d
n
e
y

* Bo
u
n
d
a
r
y

a
n
d

L
o
t

S
u
r
v
e
y
s

b
e
i
n
g

p
o
r
t
i
o
n

o
f

* Su
b
d
i
v
i
s
i
o
n

a
n
d

P
l
a
t
t
i
n
g

* co
n
s
t
r
u
c
t
i
o
n

s
u
r
y
.
y
i
n
g

s
t
a
t
P

C
o
u
n
t
y

A
u
d
i
t
o
r

G
o
v
e
r
n
m
e
n
t

L
o
t

&

O
v
e
r

5
0 y
e
a
r
s

o
f
S
e
r
v
i
c
e

t
o

K
i
t
s
a
p

a
n
d

O
l
y
m
p
i
c

P
e
n
i
n
s
u
l
a

L L
A

S
e
c
t
i
o
n

2
6
-

T
o
w
n
s
h
i
p

2
4

N
o
r
t
h
-
R
a
n
g
e

1 E
a
s
t

W
.

M

2
1
7

S
i
d
n
e
y

A
v
e
n
u
e

(
3
6
0
)

8
7
6
-
3
4
4
3

S
U
R
V
E
Y

N
U

M
B
E
R

S
W
-
N
E

6
-
2
4
-
0
1
-
1

0
0

S
E
-
N
E

6
-
9
4
-
0
1
-
1
-

(
.
)
O
D

P
o
r
t

O
r
c
h
a
r
d
,

W
A

9
8
3
6
6

(
3
6
0
)

3
7
7
-
5
9
5
1

.
*
,
"
2
'
#
R
"
'
"
/
J
?
"
'
"
T
'
^
"

.
.
,
a
n
.
n
,
.
.
.

A
U
D
I
T
O
R
'
S

F
I
L
E

N
U
M
B
E
R

f
f
)
\
\
f
f
i
O
f

r
)
1
3
1

B
o
o
k
f
P
a
g
e

F
i
l
e
d
b
o
o
k
4
0
5
a
n
d

"
X

S
h
e
e
t

1
0

o
f 1
2

s
h
e
e
t
s

J
O
b

5
2
7
2
-
1



O
O

O
B
e
a
r
a
n
g

e
n

w
a
s

n
g

n
C
o
r
n
i
i
n
a
t
e

s
y
s
t
e
m

N
o
r
t
h

Z
o
n
e

O
;

N
A
D

8
3
/
9
2

a
s

d
e
r
i
v
e
d

f
r
o
m

G
l
o
b
a
l

P
o
s
i
t
i
o
n
i
n
g

S
y
s
t
e
m

I
G
P
S
)

t
i
e
s

t
o

H
i
g
h

A
c
c
u
r
a
c
y

R
4
f
e
r
e
n
c
e

N
e
t
w
o
r
k

(
H
A
R
N
)

C
o
n
t
r
o
l

S
t
a
t
i
o
n
s
.

R
4
F
e
r

t
w
e
n
t
r
o
l

s
c
h
e
m
e

a
s

s
h
o
w
n

o
n

s
u
r
v
e
y

r
e
c
o
n
f
e
d

u
n
d
e
r

A
u
d
i
t
o
r
'
s

F
i
l
e

N
'
2

'
E

e
r
"
t
o
n
j

2
5

n
d

f
i
l
e
d

i
n

B
o
o
k

4
9
,

p
a
g
e

1
3
9

o
f
s
u
r
v
e
y
s
.

0
0

6
0

2
4
"

x
4
"

t

p
a
r

n
.
.

r
e
d

b

o

a
k

t
o

p

o
s

.
.

e
.
.
.

-
.
.

4
s
t

2
7
0
.
9
6

c
4
3
'
2
4
"

E

O
<

N
4

"
-

.
.
.
.

8
0
.

(
2
9
.
8
9

l
i

4
"

x
4
,

,
t

p
a
r
k
i
n

i
g
n

8
.

/
/

J
o
S
o

a
4
"

E

o
a

0
.

o

(
#
4
3

2
4
"

E
0

<
T
s
"

7
2
.

.
2
5
.
9
6

3
'

'
-
-

N
1
'
4
3

"
E

2
0
7
.
5
3

4
"

x
4
"

s
t

8
5
.
1

0
p
a
r
k
,

a
s
i
g
n

O

7
4
3

"
E

i
c

1
0
3
4

'
2
4

E

c
4
3
'
2

"
E

5
0
2
.
7
6

e
x

x
4

s
9
.
3
8

-
-

-
-
-

7

p
a
'

*
a

s
t

"
-

* I

.
.
I



q
.

4
(
1
0

S
.
,
O

os
a
w
u
s
a
o

u
p

p
u
n

os
o
o
v
C
p
y

6o

,
E

7
6

0
3

3
5

7
.

37 N
T

o
4
3

2
4
"

E

0

7
6
,
9
.
7
6

.

2
5
.
9
6

N1
0
4
3
'
2
4
"

E

7
7
2
.

N1
0
4
3
'

"

E

2
0
7
.
5
3

-
-
-
-
-
-
-

4
8
7
.
7
5

N1
0
4
3
'
2

ox
a
-

s
t

a p
a
r

a
g

s
t
g
n

1
1
5
.

1

0

R
/

c
/
t
a
r

74
3
'"

E

4

d
e

r

s

,

y
/
e

r
,
t
o
t
h
e
r

7p

t
5
oo

P
ae
'

e
r

t
o

1
0
4

'
2
4'

E

N1
0
4
3
'
2
4
"

E5
0
2
.
7
6

.3
.

1

"
2
9
-
2
6

"

x
4
"

s

-

9
.
3
8

7
.
3

.
-
-
-
-
-

s
t

n
o

p
a
r
k
i

s
t
g
n

p
a
r
k
s

i
g
n

p
a

i
n
g

s
t

1
1

2

-
-
-
-
.
.
.
.

N

7
4
0
2
4
'
p

a

*

y
o
4'

4
"

co
C
b

'

.-
-
- 1T9
.
4
6

b
a
s
m

-

.
.
.

o
h
<f
e

.

eb

7
3
o
s
r
s
a
,
,

J
-

P

g
e

1
0
4

R

c

t
r
b
i
n
g

A
N1
0
4
3
'
2

.8
"o

.
0

1
3
5
.
1
7

7
t
o
r

a
r
t

.

H
e

4
,y
r

o
oW boN
T

4
3
'
2
4
"

E

o

r
T4
0
.
8
8

r
c

e
r
f
o
r
,

.
.

I

c
o
n
d
r
d
t
d

w
a
l
k

1
4
4
.
1
4

c
o

4

y
o
o
6
2

oe
P

T
i
t
l
e

-

s
i e

1
0

1
4

'

3"
E

4
7

B
e
a
r
i
n
g
s

b
a
s
e
d

u
p
o
n

W
a
s
h
i
n
g
t
o
n

C
o
r
r
d
i
n
a
t
e

S
y
s
t
e
m

N
o
r
t
h

Z
o
n
e

t
o

.

o

N
A
D

8
3
/
9
1
a
s

d
e
r
i
v
e
d

f
r
o
m

G
l
o
b
a
l

P
o
s
i
t
i
o
n
i
n
g

S
y
s
t
e
m

(
G
P
S
)

t
i
e
s

H
i
e
u
r

e
e
c
N

u
rH
A
'

e
T

r
S
t
a

'
s

N
u
m
b
e
r

3
0
9
0
2
5
7

a
n
d

f
i
l
e
d

i
n

B
o
o
k

4
9
,

p
a
g
e

1
3
9

o
f

s
u
r
v
e
y
s
.



201109290042 09/29/2011 10:00:37 AM Page 33 of 33

EXHIBIT B

PLAN OF OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE

1. DESCRIPTION OF THE PERMITTED USE

A. Existing Facilities.The Lease areaconsistsof historicallyfilledtidelands

currentlyused as parking area,publicaccess,utilities,and marina support
structures.The Lease areaincludesa rock bulkhead, thepublicaccessboardwalk,
and small portionsof two buildings.There arewater-dependent uses waterward
of thebulkhead. For rentcalcidationpurposes,the bulkhead isnonwater-

dependent landward of thehigh water mark. Only the footprintof thepublic
accessboardwalk iseligibleforno feeuse.

B. Proposed Facilities.No changes tothisbasicinfrastructureareproposed under

thisLease.

2. ADDITIONAL OBLIGATIONS

A. Upland Operations (historicallyfilledtideland). The currentoperationsand

maintenance of the parking area,vegetatedbuffers,and boardwalk structureareto
be conducted using bestprofessionaljudgment. The Port willconduct reasonable
maintenance to avoid excessiveoilstainingon surfacesand to controlgarbage or
wind-blown debris. Specificattentionistobe paid to water qualityresultingfrom

refinishingsurfaces.No contaminatesareto enterthe receivingwaters as a result
of operationsor maintenance. Stormwater runoffisto be conveyed via a

permittedmunicipal stormwater system.SpecificBest Management Practices

(BMPs) can be found inthe most recentversionof the Washington State

Department of Ecology Stormwater Management Manual for Western

Washington.

B. Major Repair and Reconstruction.

(1) Bulkhead. Any major repairstotherock bulkhead requiringa shoreline

permit and/or involvingmore than ten (10) cubic yards of materialmust be

approved by the Stateinwritingpriortoconstruction.Emergency repairs

may be conducted with verbalapproval of the State.Any reconfiguration
of thebulkhead willbe reviewed by the Stateinregardtobiologicaland

environmental impacts and must be approved inwriting.

(2) Boardwalk. Any major repairstotheboardwalk structuremust be

approved in writingby the State.The Statemay requirematerialsand

design modificationsto avoid or reduce impacts towater qualityor to

reduce shading impacts. Treatedwood may not be used inareasindirect
contactwith marine waters.

PortofBremerton Page33of33 AquaticLandsLeaseNo.22-802235
West End PortOrchard



AGENDA SUMMARY 

Agenda Item No: Action Item #2 

Subject: 
Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) with City of Port Orchard (COPO) 
for Marina Waterfront Parking 

Exhibits: COPO MOA for Parking 

Prepared By: James Weaver, Director of Marine Facilities 

Meeting Date: July 11, 2023 

Summary: 
This Memorandum of Agreement before the Commission is with the City of Port Orchard to 
provide a modification to the Port Orchard Marina waterfront parking that would be needed. 
The City has designed the Marina Pump Station project to replace the existing sewerage pump 
station (the “Project”), and the Project will temporarily and permanently impact the Port’s 
waterfront parking area adjacent to the marina office. 

In 1996, the City and Port executed a Memorandum of Understanding to set forth parking 
assignments and responsibilities for the parking area (the “1996 MOU”). This MOU focused 
on the Port’s property, including Kitsap County Parcel Nos. 4053-013-007-0103, 4028-001-
001-0007, and 4028-001-011-0005, commonly known as Lots 3 and 4, which are used for
water dependent uses and waterfront parking, as well as the City’s rights of way and
associated public parking.

Due to the configuration of the waterfront, and community events and business operations 
impacting parking in the area, in 2011, the City and the Port entered into a new Memorandum 
of Agreement (the “2011 MOA”) to supersede the 1996 MOU, setting forth terms to govern 
the City and Port’s use, management, and revenue collection for the parking areas.   Because 
the City’s Marina Pump Station project to serve the residents of Port Orchard will impact the 
parking areas covered by the 2011 MOA, the City provided notice to the Port of the proposal 
in January 2023. In response, in February 2023, the Port provided notice to the City of its 
intent to withdraw from the 2011 MOA effective June 1, 2023.  

The City and Port negotiated the terms of a Memorandum of Agreement to set forth the terms 
and conditions by which the Port will withdraw effective July 1, 2023, and to establish the 
future use, management, and operation of the waterfront parking areas.  

Fiscal Impact: 

Parking revenue from any paid parking spaces are now to be designated to the Port of 
Bremerton.   Parking enforcement is to be contracted by the Port Orchard Police Department 
for the parking areas and costs identified at $1,000 per month. 

POSTPONED



Strategic Purpose: 

This action conforms with the Port’s strategic plan in Goal 6. Develop and fund a 20-year 
asset replacement/major maintenance schedule. 

Recommendation: 
Recommendation is to approve the Memorandum of Agreement for waterfront parking with 
the City of Port Orchard 

Motion for Consideration: 
Approve the Memorandum of Agreement for waterfront parking with the City of 
Port Orchard and authorize the CEO to execute the agreement.   

POSTPONED



J:\Public_Forms\Agenda Materials\2023-07-11\Hangar 7 Stormwater Final Acceptance\2023-7-11 Final Acceptance Hangar 7 Storm Repair.docx 

AGENDA SUMMARY 

Agenda Item No: Action Item #3 

Subject: Hangar 7 Stormwater Repair Final Acceptance 

Exhibits: None 

Prepared By: Arne Bakker, COO 

Meeting Date: July 11, 2023 

Summary: 
On December 14, 2021, the Commission approved the Hangar 7 Stormwater project which was to 
re-route the stormwater drainage system and install a new underground drainage pipe at Hangar 
7 to keep the hangar from flooding. Throughout this project there were a total of 5 change orders, 
each of which had to do with excess excavation of peat, labor, soils removal, glacial till erosion 
and increased backfill, paving and required compaction testing by the City of Bremerton. 

Fiscal Impact: 
Contract Henderson Partners: $ 94,297.48 
Change Order 1-5: 195,239.56 
Total Contract Value:      $289,537.04 

Funding: 
Century West Engineering: $20,888.00 
Parametrix: 20,887.00 
Port of Bremerton’s restricted stormwater reserves: 247,762.04 
Total Value $289,537.04 

Strategic Purpose: 
This action conforms with the Port’s strategic plan in Goal 2: Operate all Port facilities efficiently 
and cost effectively with a high degree of customer service and Goal 6: Develop and fund a 20-
year major maintenance schedule. 

Recommendation Staff recommends accepting as final the contract with Henderson Partners 
for the Hangar 7 Stormwater repair in the amount of $289,537.04.  

Motion for Consideration: 
Move to accept as final the contract with Henderson Partners, LLC for the Hangar 7 
Stormwater Repair in the amount of $289,537.04. 



\\pobfile-21\Airport_Data\Public_Forms\Agenda Materials\2023-07-11\MPF Final Acceptance\2023-07-11 Final Acceptance MPF.docx 

 
AGENDA SUMMARY 

 

Agenda Item No: Action Item #4 

Subject: Final Acceptance Hangar 7 Stormwater Repair 

Exhibits: MPF Change Order History 

Prepared By: Arne Bakker, COO 

Meeting Date: July 11, 2023 

 
Summary: 
In February 2019, Port staff began the design and engineering for the replacement of the 
Airport Diner with a new Multi-Purpose Facility. The original design was to replace the 
existing diner with a new restaurant which was subsequently rejected by the FAA as the 
building was non-aeronautical use. The accepted re-design included a restaurant, pilot’s 
lounge, office space and hangar. In June 2021, the bid was awarded to Henderson Partners 
in the amount of $4,726,382.47 and construction commenced in July. Due to COVID 
constraints, supply chain issues, construction cost issues, and unforeseen design changes, 
Port staff encountered many delays and cost increases. Throughout construction there a total 
of 23 change orders on this project. On March 17, 2023, Amelia’s Hangar was issued a 
Temporary Certificate of Occupancy and opened their doors. On April 1, 2023, Old Thyme 
Aviation occupied the office space and the hangar for scenic bi-plane rides and flight 
instruction. Port staff has completed the final walkthrough and has accepted the work done 
by Henderson Partners. 

Fiscal Impact: 
2023 Capital Budget: $4,882,838.00 
Henderson Partners Bid:    4,726,382.47 
Change Orders 1-23:    369,619.60 
Total cost of construction:    $5,096,002.07 
Over Budget:  $213,164.07 
Restricted Stormwater Reserves  $11,176.00 
Capital Reserves:  $201,988.07 

Strategic Purpose: 
This action conforms with the Port’s strategic plan in Goal 1: Be a significant leader in 
promoting the local economy and job growth both on and off Port Assets 

Recommendation: 
Staff recommends accepting as final the contract with Henderson Partners for the Multi-
Purpose facility in the amount of $5,096,002.07.  

Motion for Consideration: 
Move to accept as final the contract with Henderson Partners, LLC, for the 
Multi-Purpose Facility in the amount of $5,096,002.07. 



MPF Change Order History
Change Order Authority (10%) 433,471.00$      

Item Amount Start Balance End Balance REASON
CO # 1 Relocate Water Line 3,678.75$        433,471.00$      429,792.25$      Inadequate locate of existing utitilites by NL Olson; waterline inside footings
CO # 2 Trench Drain 21,941.70$      429,792.25$      407,850.55$      Plan set did not adequately provide detail for trench drain - should be $21,941.70
CO # 3 Pony Wall 28,120.37$      407,850.55$      379,730.18$      Improved design in order to properly terminate exterior sheeting/prevent future leaks
CO #4 NUCOR Building Parts 19,051.47$      379,730.18$      360,678.71$      Airport side tower removed from bid. Materials and labor to close up opening
CO #5 Parapit Wall by Others 21,271.50$      360,678.71$      339,407.21$      Post bid NUCOR decision to not include decorative wall in bid. Contractor picked up
CO #6 Roof "Overbuild" 53,029.27$      339,407.21$      286,377.94$      NUCOR assumed design  "others" ; lack of clarity in plans/communications with NUCOR?
CO #7 Energy Recovery Ventilator 5,612.88$        286,377.94$      280,765.06$      Incomplete design of ERV system by SaZan. Subcontractor had to complete system
CO #8 Fire FDC 6,004.03$        280,765.06$      274,761.03$      Re-design of fire line per Mike Six move FDC 65 feet from bldg + increase pipe size to 6"
CO #9 Dining Room Half Walls 21,031.92$      274,761.03$      253,729.11$      Port executed option for half walls
CO #10 Interior Insulation 6,350.85$        253,729.11$      247,378.26$      Insulation not specified in restrooms/pilots lounge. Design should have required in restrooms
CO #11 Electrical Trench 22,515.95$      247,378.26$      224,862.31$      Existing power feed to bldg not at permit depth (NL Olson locates?) Add circuts for elec acft sta
CO #12  Additional Sprinkler Heads 10,037.18$      224,862.31$      214,825.13$      Mike Six directed additional 27 upright sprinklers in void space
CO #13 Extraction Curbs (Captive Air) 7,974.96$        214,825.13$      206,850.17$      Curbs ordered for flat roof, not sloped - submittal approved by Blue
CO #14  Counter Tops 25,031.92$      206,850.17$      181,818.25$      Counter tops for bar back, beverage & bar, pay station not called out in plans
CO #15 Captive Air Ducting Tie In 53,463.17$      181,818.25$      128,355.08$      Captive Air System not completely designed by SaZan - Tie in ducting design, installation
CO # 16 Electrical Wiring Hangar Door 7,427.79$        128,355.08$      120,927.29$      No Detail provided in drawings E3/0 or 4.0
CO # 17 Electrical Wiring Grinder Pump 5,123.35$        120,927.29$      115,803.94$      No Detail provided in drawings E3/0 or 4.0
CO # 18 Walk-in flooring 8,199.52$        115,803.94$      107,604.42$      as required by DOH
CO # 19 HVAC Corrections 29,371.81$      107,604.42$      78,232.61$        Correction of HVAC system for air flow - engineering miss
CO # 20 HVAC Fire Shut down 5,521.59$        78,232.61$        72,711.02$        HVAC shutdown not acceptable to Fire Final
CO # 21 - metered faucets 1,814.59$        72,711.02$        70,896.43$        Restroom faucets not to code Cityof Bremerton
CO # 22 register filters 2,752.16$        70,896.43$        68,144.27$        Replacemet of registers and filter for restaurant
CO # 23 Water heaters & Hook-up 4,292.87$        68,144.27$        63,851.40$        Added electrical boosters and power for water heaters in Pilots lounge

Total To date 369,619.60$    



J:\Public_Forms\Agenda Materials\2023-07-11\Seabeck Community Center Sponsorship\Seabeck agenda summary.docx 

AGENDA SUMMARY 

Agenda Item No: Action Item #5 

Subject: Seabeck Community Center  

Exhibits: Letter from Dr. Paul Reimer, Seabeck Community Center 

Prepared By: Jim Rothlin, CEO 

Meeting Date: July 11, 2023 

Summary: 
On July 12, 2022, Dr. Paul Reimer from the Seabeck Community Center (SCC) made a 
presentation regarding the SCC plans to add a pickleball facility to Seabeck’s Community 
Center.  The Port Commission agreed unanimously to award $50,000 in support of this 
project, as they believed in the importance to the community center and the value of 
strengthening the amenities to the community.   

The project has been completed and has been a great success, which they wish to continue 
to build on. This year, the SCC has a goal of providing additional area to its existing 
Community Center in its efforts to increase the footprint to expand the family friendly 
location.   

In a presentation made at the Port’s June 27th commission meeting and in a letter to the 
Port dated June 29, Dr. Reimer has requested support from the Port of $15,000 that would 
allow SCC to add a picnic area located adjacent to the courts providing needed space for 
families and pickleball participants to fellowship.  SCC plans on using volunteer help for 
labor and equipment, when possible, along with local contractors to complete this project 
before its annual community event in September. 

Fiscal Impact: 
Per Dr. Reimer’s letter, all materials used will be based on the most cost-effective approach 
over time to provide many years of use with the least amount of care. The funding will focus 
on completing the site development south of the pickleball courts and purchase materials 
needed to complete a picnic area. 

Final site grading for proper slope and drainage: $ 1,750 
Soil and amendments for grass & natural landscape planting area: $ 1,750 
Landscaping (grass and native plantings): $ 3,000 
Underlayment (weed barrier) for designated picnic area: $ 500 
Border delineating picnic area (contain rubber mulch or rock): $ 1,500 
Rubber mulch or rock (Area 36 ft x 36 ft x 3 in) under picnic tables: $ 1,500 
Commercial Picnic Tables 4 to 5 (8ft long and/or 46” round tables): $ 5,000 
  Total Picnic area project: $ 15,000 



 
Strategic Purpose: 
This action conforms with the Port’s strategic plan in strategic Goal #1:  

Be a significant leader in promoting the local economy and job growth both on and off Port 
assets. 

Recommendation: 
Staff recommends the funding to provide #15,000 towards the Seabeck Community Center 
picnic area project. 
 
Motion for Consideration: 
Move to approve funding of $15,000 to support the Seabeck Community Center 
picnic area project. 


	2023-07-11_Agenda_Revised
	2023-07-11_Agenda_Packet.pdf
	2023-07-11_Agenda
	2023-06-27_Minutes
	Action Item 1 - COPO DNR Sublease
	SUB-LEASE-COPO DNR PUMP STATION.pdf
	7E 06 Sublease - Exhibit C - MOU City of Port Orchard re DNR Lease Pump Station - POB FINAL 121322.pdf
	1. RECITALS
	3. PREMISES
	4. EFFECTIVE DATE
	5. TERM
	6. PERMITTED USE
	8. RESTRICTIONS ON USE; COMPLIANCE WITH LAW
	9. INSURANCE
	10. RECIPROCAL INDEMNIFICATION
	11. PRESENCE OF HAZARDOUS MATERIALS
	12. DEFAULT BY CITY OF PORT ORCHARD
	13. NOTICE
	14. ENTIRE AGREEMENT



	Action Item 2 - COPO MOA Waterfront Parking
	Action Item 3 - Hangar 7 Stormwater Final Acpt
	Action Item 4 - MPF Final Acpt
	2023-07-11 Final Acceptance MPF
	2023-07-11 MPF Change Order History commission meeting
	Sheet1

	Action Item #5





